Regulation of platelet function: molecular pathways and targets

By

Rachel Anne Rigg

A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Department of Biomedical Engineering

Of the Oregon Health & Science University

School of Medicine

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

In Biomedical Engineering

November 2017

© Rachel Rigg

All Rights Reserved

School of Medicine

Oregon Health & Science University

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

This is to certify that the PhD Dissertation of

Rachel Anne Rigg

"Regulation of platelet function: molecular pathways and targets"

has been approved

Mentor: Owen J. T. McCarty, Ph.D.

Member/Chair: Monica T. Hinds, Ph.D.

Member: András Gruber, M.D.

Member: Jason A. Taylor, M.D., Ph.D.

Member: Summer L. Gibbs, Ph.D.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF	CONTENTSi
List of Figur	·esix
List of Table	esxii
List of Abbr	eviationsxiii
Acknowledg	ementsxvii
Abstract	
Chapter 1.	Introduction to platelet signaling and activation4
1.1	Overview4
1.2	Platelet adhesion to ECM proteins4
1.2.1	Von Willebrand factor
1.2.2	Collagen
1.2.3	Laminin
1.2.4	Other ECM proteins

1.3		Platelet adhesion receptor-mediated signaling	7
	1.3.1	GPIb-IX-V	9
	1.3.2	GPVI	0
	1.3.3	CLEC-2	2
	1.3.4	FcyRIIA1	3
	1.3.5	Integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$	3
1.4		Platelet GPCR signaling1	5
	1.4.1	G _s signaling	6
	1.4.2	G _i signaling	7
	1.4.3	G _q signaling	7
	1.4.4	G _{12/13} signaling	7
	1.4.5	P2Y ₁ and P2Y ₁₂ 1	8
	1.4.6	PAR1 and PAR41	8
1.5		Molecular chaperones in platelets1	9
	1.5.1	Protein disulfide isomerases1	9
	1.5.2	Heat shock proteins	9
1.6		Platelet granule secretion	1
1.7		Platelet aggregation and spreading2	2
1.8		Coagulation	3
1.9		Inflammation2	5

1.10	Thrombosis	27
1.11	Emerging platelet therapies	28
1.11.1	Btk inhibitors	28
1.11.2	Heat shock protein modulators	29
1.11.3	PAR4 inhibitors	30
1.12	Thesis Overview	31
Chapter 2.	Materials and Methods	34
2.1	Ethical Considerations	34
2.2	Common reagents	34
2.3	Platelet and neutrophil isolation	35
2.3.1	Platelet preparation	35
2.3.2	Neutrophil preparation	35
2.4	In vitro platelet studies	36
2.4.1	Platelet spreading	36
2.4.2	Platelet aggregation	36
2.4.3	Platelet dense granule release	36
2.5	Flow cytometry	37
2.6	Flow chamber studies	37
2.7	Microscopy	37
2.7.1	General protocol	37

2.7.2	Image analysis	38
Chapter 3.	Oral administration of Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitors impairs GPVI-	
mediated pla	atelet function	39
31	Abstract	39
3.2	Introduction	40
3.3	Background	40
3.4	Materials and Methods	42
3.4.1	Reagents	42
3.4.2	In vitro platelet studies	44
3.4.3	Platelet aggregation	44
3.4.4	Platelet aggregate formation under flow	44
3.4.5	Non-human primate studies	45
3.4.6	Statistical Analysis	46
3.5	Results	47
3.5.1	Effect of Btk inhibitors on tyrosine phosphorylation in human platelets	47
3.5.2	Effect of Btk inhibitors on human platelet P-selectin membrane exposure	48
3.5.3	Effect of Btk inhibitors on human platelet spreading on fibrinogen and collagen	
	surfaces	49
3.5.4	Effect of Btk inhibitors on human platelet aggregate formation under flow	50
3.5.5	Effect of Btk inhibitors on non-human primate platelet aggregation	51

3.5.6	Effect of Btk inhibitors on bleeding times, capillary fragility, and coagulation in vivo
3.6	Discussion
Chapter 4.	Heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) regulates platelet integrin activation, granule
secretion an	d aggregation59
4.1	Abstract
4.2	Introduction
4.3	Background60
4.4	Materials and Methods
4.4.1	Reagents
4.4.2	In vitro platelet studies
4.4.3	Platelet aggregation
4.4.4	Flow cytometry
4.4.5	Platelet aggregate formation under flow
4.4.6	Hsp70 signaling and interaction studies64
4.4.7	Statistical Analysis
4.5	Results
4.5.1	Hsp70 expression and localization in platelets
4.5.2	Hsp70 inhibition reduces platelet aggregation and P-selectin exposure
4.5.3	Hsp70 inhibition blocks platelet integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation

4.5.4	Inhibition of Hsp70 dampens platelet aggregate formation under shear	70
4.5.5	Hsp70 interacts with and regulates components of the LAT signalosome	71
4.6	Discussion	74
Chapter 5.	Protease-activated receptor 4 (PAR4) activity promotes platelet granule	release
and platelet	-leukocyte interactions	78
5.1	Abstract	78
5.2	Introduction	79
5.3	Background	79
5.4	Materials and Methods	81
5.4.1	Reagents	81
5.4.2	Platelet preparation	82
5.4.3	Platelet dense granule secretion assay	83
5.4.4	Granulocyte preparation	83
5.4.5	Flow cytometry – platelets and granulocytes	83
5.4.6	Flow cytometry – whole blood	84
5.4.7	Electron microscopy	84
5.4.8	Nonhuman primate studies	85
5.4.9	Data analysis	86
5.5	Results	86
5.5.1	PAR4 activity potentiates platelet dense granule secretion	86

5.5.2	PAR4 activity promotes platelet-granulocyte interactions in a purified system91	
5.5.3	PAR4 activity promotes platelet-leukocyte interactions in whole human blood94	
5.5.4	PAR4 activity promotes platelet-leukocyte interactions in whole baboon blood96	
5.6	Discussion	
5.7	Conclusions	
Chapter 6.	Conclusions and Future Directions103	
6.1	Conclusions	
6.2	Summary103	
6.2.1	Btk inhibition impairs platelet function103	
6.2.2	Hsp70 coordinates assembly of the LAT signolosome104	
6.2.3	PAR4 activity facilitates platelet-leukocyte interactions	
6.3	Future directions	
6.3.1	BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitors and thrombosis105	
6.3.2	Effect of BCR-ABL inhibitors on tyrosine phosphorylation in platelets107	
6.3.3	Effect of BCR-ABL inhibitors on platelet P-selectin and phosphatidylserine exposure	
6.3.4	Effect of BCR-ABL inhibitors on aggregate formation under flow112	
6.3.5	Effect of BCR-ABL inhibitors on platelet-endothelial interactions	
6.3.6	Effect of BCR-ABL inhibitors on platelet-leukocyte interactions	
References		

graphical Sketch136

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Platelet adhesion, activation, and aggregation	5
Figure 1.2. Structure of von Willebrand factor (vWF).	6
Figure 1.3. Platelet signaling.	8
Figure 1.4. GPIb-IX-V receptor structure	.10
Figure 1.5. GPVI and FcR γ-chain structure	.11
Figure 1.6. GPVI signaling cascade	12
Figure 1.7. Integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ outside-in signaling.	.14
Figure 1.8. GPCR signaling in platelets	.16
Figure 1.9. Roles for Hsp70 in platelets	.21
Figure 1.10. Platelet granule release	22
Figure 1.11. Platelet spreading on fibrinogen.	.23
Figure 1.12. Blood coagulation	24
Figure 1.13. Platelets in inflammation	.27
Figure 3.1. Tyrosine kinase phosphorylation downstream of GPVI following Btk inhibition	.48

Figure 3.2. Platelet P-selectin exposure following Btk inhibition
Figure 3.3. Platelet spreading following Btk inhibition
Figure 3.4. Platelet aggregate formation under shear following Btk inhibition
Figure 3.5. Aggregation of non-human primate PRP in the short-term oral dosing study
Figure 3.6. Aggregation of non-human primate PRP in the long-term oral dosing study53
Figure 4.1. Hsp70 expression and localization in human platelets
Figure 4.2. Hsp70 inhibitors block platelet aggregation and P-selectin exposure
Figure 4.3. Inhibition of Hsp70 prevents platelet integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation and fibrinogen binding70
Figure 4.4. <i>Ex vivo</i> inhibition of Hsp70 prevents platelet aggregate formation under physiological shear
Figure 4.5. Hsp70 interacts with and regulates the organization of the LAT signalosome72
Figure 5.1. Structures of PAR4 antagonists VU0661245 and VU0652925
Figure 5.2. Inhibition of thrombin-mediated platelet activation by PAR4 antagonists VU0652925 and VU0661245
Figure 5.3. PAR4 inhibitors impair platelet dense granule release

Figure 5.4. Ultrastructural analysis of granulocyte-platelet interactions from purified isolates91
Figure 5.5. PAR4 inhibitors diminish platelet-granulocyte interactions and platelet alpha granule
release
Figure 5.6. PAR4 inhibitors diminish platelet-leukocyte interactions and platelet alpha granule
release in whole human blood
Figure 5.7. PAR4 inhibitors diminish platelet-leukocyte interactions and platelet alpha granule
release in whole baboon (Papio anubis) blood97
Figure 6.1. Ponatinib inhibits platelet tyrosine kinase activation
Figure 6.2. Ponatinib blocks P-selectin and phosphatidylserine exposure
Figure 6.3. Ponatinib inhibits platelet aggregate formation under shear

List of Tables

Table 1.1. Inflammatory mediators released by platelets. 2	26
Table 3.1. IC ₅₀ values of the ibrutinib analog BTKI-43761. 4	43
Table 3.2. Average vertical drop and percent aggregation of non-human primate PRP in the long-	
term oral dosing study5	54
Table 3.3. PT, APTT, bleeding time, and capillary resistance test results from non-human primates i	in
the long-term oral dosing study5	55

List of Abbreviations

AC	adenylyl cyclase
ADP	adenosine diphosphate
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
BAG	Bcl-2-associated athanogene
BCR-ABL	breakpoint cluster region-abelson
BSS	Bernard-Soulier syndrome
Btk	Bruton's tyrosine kinase
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CD	cluster of differentiation
CLEC-2	C-type lectin receptor-2
CLL	chronic lymphocytic leukemia
COX	cyclooxygenase
CRP	collagen-related peptide
CXCL	CXC motif ligand
DAG	1,2-diacylglycerol
DAMPs	damage-associated molecular patterns
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
ECM	extracellular matrix
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ERp57	endoplasmic reticulum resident protein 57
FACS	fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FAK	focal adhesion kinase
FcR	Fc receptor

FII	factor II (prothrombin)
FIIa	factor IIa (thrombin)
GDP	guanosine diphosphate
GEF	guanine nucleotide exchange factors
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptor
GPIb	glycoprotein Ib
GPIX	glycoprotein IX
GPV	glycoprotein V
GPVI	glycoprotein VI
Grp	glucose-regulated protein
GST	glutathione S-transferase
GTP	guanosine triphosphate
Hsc	heat shock cognate protein
Hsp	heat shock protein
ICAM-1	intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (CD54)
Ig	immunoglobulin
IGF-1	insulin-like growth factor-1
IL	interleukin
ILK	integrin-linked kinase
IP3	inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphosphate
ITAM	immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif
LAT	linker for activation of T cells
LRR	leucine-rich repeat
Mac-1	macrophage-1 antigen
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase

MCL	mantle cell lymphoma
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
NE	neutrophil elastase
NEF	nucleotide exchange factor
NETs	neutrophil extracellular traps
PAMPs	pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PAR	protease-activated receptor
PBMCs	peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
PDI	protein disulfide isomerase
PDMS	polydimethylsiloxane
PECAM	platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule (CD31)
PF4	platelet factor 4
PGI ₂	prostacyclin
PI3K	phospoinositide 3-kinase
PIP ₂	phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate
РКА	protein kinase A
РКС	protein kinase C
PLC	phospholipase C
PMNs	polymorphonuclear leukocytes
PolyP	polyphosphate
PPACK	D-phenylalanyl-prolyl-arginyl chloromethyl ketone
PRD	proline-rich domain
PRP	platelet-rich plasma
PS	phosphatydylserine

PSGL-1	P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1
RAGE	receptor for advanced glycation endproducts
RIAM	Rap1-GTP-interacting adapter molecule (RIAM)
SFKs	Src family kinases
SH2	Src homology 2
SH3	Src homology 3
SLP-76	SH2-containing leukocyte protein of 76 kDa
TF	tissue factor
TGF β	transforming growth factor beta
TLR	toll-like receptor
TRAP-6	thrombin receptor-activating peptide-6
TxA_2	thromboxane A ₂
VCAM-1	vascular cell adhesion protein 1
vWF	von Willebrand factor
XLA	X-linked agammaglobulinemia

Acknowledgements

To my mentor and PhD advisor, Dr. Owen J. T. McCarty, I cannot possibly express enough gratitude. From the beginning, Owen saw the scientific potential in me and nurtured that potential. He encouraged me and motivated me, using analogies about landing on the beach in Normandy, as needed. He always had a knack for pushing me when I needed motivation and stepping back when I needed space. Owen wrangled my writing into a more scientific style, particularly in regards to writing the most detailed results sections ever. Most importantly, I will always be grateful to Owen for showing me how to be an international traveler and opening my horizons through the Whitaker Fellowship. I look forward to our continued meetings around the world and to devising ever greater plans for the success of the McCarty lab.

My dissertation advisory committee (DAC) has offered continual support and helpful prodding that has been critical to my success. Dr. Monica Hinds, as my DAC committee chair and the BME Department student advisor, has been instrumental in keeping me on track with every step of the process and offering continual career advice, writing and presentation feedback, and encouragement. Dr. András Gruber has been a constant source of inspiration and critical feedback, offering a unique clinical perspective and providing many mind-bending scientific discussions. Dr. Jason Taylor has been incredibly supportive, while also offering important clinical insights. Dr. Summer Gibbs has been gracious to serve as my final committee member and provided a unique perspective and career advice as well. Thank you all.

Working with collaborators has been a wonderful experience. To my Vanderbilt collaborators, Drs. Heidi Hamm and Matt Duvernay, I am grateful for their scientific insights into PAR4 antagonists and their helpful feedback. To the Stockholm group, Drs. Thomas Renné, Lynn Butler, Linda Labberton, Katrin Nickel, Jenny Björkqvist, Ellinor Kenne, Antonio Di Gennaro, Anne Jämsä, Nasrin Bavand-Chobot, Clément Naudin, Zara Pons Vila, Mikel Allend, Leonardo Gottlob, Philip Dusart, and Rasmus Gustafsson, I am grateful for the time everyone spent mentoring and instructing me; it was truly a pleasure to learn science the Swedish-international way.

To the McCarty lab, many thanks are not enough. Dr. Joe Aslan has taught me the importance of doing everything while making it look easy and has provided immeasurable help with manuscripts and figures. Dr. Laura Healy has led the way and been a constant source of scientific insights on neutrophils and other important topics. Dr. Annachiara Mitrugno has deepened my understanding of platelets and inspired me to be a better scientist. Jevgenia Zilberman-Rudenko has been a constant scientific inspiration as well as being incredibly helpful with assay development and feedback. Anh Ngo is an overall science superstar and has provided detailed feedback and support in every aspect of the lab. To all the phlebotomists in our group who have drawn blood for my experiments, many thanks. To all the McCarty lab members and associated group members, past and present, including Jiaqing Pang, Anne Rocheleau, Toshiaki Shirai, Daniel Sallee, Stephanie Reitsma, Kate Garland, Asako Itakura, Kevin Phillips, Sandra Baker-Groberg, Garth Tormoen, Michelle Berny, Deirdre Anderson, Matt Hagen, Patrick Gurney, Jennifer Johnson, Jeremy Glynn, Maddie Midgett, Graham Rykiel, Amy Bittel, Norah Verbout, Christina Lorentz, Erik Tucker, and Marschelle Carris, it has been a joy to work with such outstanding colleagues. To the fantastic interns I have worked with, Tiffany Chu, Marisa Lian Dahl Theirheimer, Marie Nowak, Cassandra Loren, Ishan Patel, Liam Wong, and to all the other McCarty lab interns, the countless hours spent circling platelets and performing experiments are some of the most important time in the lab, thank you.

None of this would be possible without the tireless support of family and friends. I am thankful to my mom for being unbelievably supportive, patient, and loving through the adventure of the past four

years, even in my decision to move many time zones away to Sweden. My dad has been a source of fascinating conversations, while also being kind and supportive throughout. My friends have been a source of laughter and love, reminding me to always stay grounded. My partner Reid Beels deserves a PhD of his own for helping me solve every technical problem ever, enthusiastically discussing science and experimental design, and being a constant source of encouragement. Thank you all.

Abstract

Regulation of platelet function: molecular pathways and targets

Rachel A. Rigg

Department of Biomedical Engineering

School of Medicine

Oregon Health & Science University

November 2017

Thesis Advisor: Owen J. T. McCarty, Ph.D.

Platelets are the first defenders of vascular integrity, responding to vascular injury in a regulated sequence of adhesion, activation, and aggregation that enables formation of a hemostatic plug. Signaling pathways within the platelet are tightly regulated to orchestrate platelet response to injury while dampening platelet activity in quiescent conditions. Dysregulation of platelet function, however, may play a central role in thrombosis and inflammatory disease. The present research defines signaling pathways that activate platelets, with an emphasis on receptors and effectors that are potential targets for novel platelet therapeutics.

In our first study, we examine the role of the tyrosine kinase Btk in platelet function, demonstrating that Btk antagonists similar to the leukemia drug ibrutinib have broad inhibitory effects on platelet

function. Btk inhibitors impaired phosphorylation of Btk but also the tyrosine kinase Lyn and targets downstream of glycoprotein (GP)VI receptor activation, demonstrating off-target effects of the inhibitors. Functional studies demonstrated Btk inhibition dampens platelet activation, spreading, and aggregation. A short-term oral dosing study showed that Btk inhibitors abrogated platelet aggregation with no effect on plasma clotting times or bleeding times. Overall, this study demonstrates Btk inhibitors analogous to imatinib impair platelet function. This is a timely study in light of reports of bleeding side effects seen in patients taking imatinib, and these results provide rationale for the development of second-generation Btk inhibitors, which is now underway.

Next, we demonstrate a novel role for the molecular chaperone heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) in coordinating assembly of signaling complexes required for platelet function. While other molecular chaperones are known to coordinate platelet integrin activation required for aggregation, it was not previously known whether Hsp70 also played a role in orchestrating platelet activation. This study showed that targeted inhibition of Hsp70 impaired platelet signaling downstream of GPVI receptor activation. Biochemical investigations determined that Hsp70 associates with specific proteins in the LAT signalosome and that inhibition of Hsp70 impaired these associations, preventing platelet activation in coordinating assembly of a signaling complex required for platelet activation, which is of interest for the development of Hsp70 antagonists for cancer and other diseases.

Finally, we describe a role for the platelet protease-activated receptor 4 (PAR4) in promoting platelet granule release and platelet-leukocyte interactions initiated by the blood proteases thrombin, cathepsin G, or plasmin. The platelet PAR4 receptor is an emerging target in thrombosis, with PAR4 antagonists being tested in clinical studies, but less is known about the role of platelet PAR4 in inflammation. Therefore, we performed functional studies to interrogate the role of PAR4 activity in

2

platelet dense granule release and platelet-leukocyte interactions. PAR4 inhibitors impaired platelet dense granule release by the blood proteases thrombin, cathepsin G, and plasmin and also impaired platelet-leukocyte interactions in a purified system or in whole blood. These results suggest that PAR4 may be a useful target for diseases involving inflammation in which platelet-leukocyte interactions are present.

Overall, these studies define new roles for signaling molecules and receptors in platelet function and provide insights into the development of antiplatelet therapies for thrombosis and inflammatory disease. Future studies will investigate how pharmacological inhibition of platelet function impacts receptor-mediated interactions between platelets and leukocytes and platelets and endothelial cells, to better define and predict the hematological outcomes of clinical treatments.

Chapter 1. Introduction to platelet signaling and activation

1.1 Overview

The circulatory system experiences micro-tears, cuts, and traumatic injuries on a recurring basis. These injuries require a fast, internal response to restore blood flow and prevent further damage. Platelets are the smallest cellular elements of circulating blood and play a fundamental role in the process of stopping blood loss, known as hemostasis [1, 2]. Platelets are anuclear, discoid fragments of bone marrow megakaryocytes that circulate at 150,000-450,000 per microliter of blood, with a lifespan of 7-10 days. Platelets patrol the vessel wall or endothelium, which under normal conditions secretes compounds such as prostacyclin (PGI_2) and nitric oxide to inhibit platelet activation. Upon vessel injury, platelets rapidly respond by tethering to exposed extracellular matrix proteins, releasing chemical messengers, changing shape, and recruiting additional platelets and blood cells to the site of injury.[3] While platelets are responding, the blood coagulation cascade begins in parallel, involving sequential activation of blood coagulation proteins that circulate in inactive or zymogen form. The cascade culminates in the generation of thrombin, a protease that further activates platelets and ultimately facilitates the conversion of fibrinogen into fibrin strands to bind the platelet aggregate into a tightly-packed hemostatic plug. In the following sections, we will explore fundamental aspects of platelet function in hemostasis and inflammation, examine the role of platelets in disease, and finish with an overview of this thesis.

1.2 Platelet adhesion to ECM proteins

In the occurrence of a vascular injury, a tear through the vessel wall exposes the extracellular matrix (ECM), the connective tissue surrounding the inner blood vessel layer or endothelium. Exposure of

ECM proteins to the flowing blood quickly recruits platelets to the site of injury, where platelets bind ECM proteins via specialized receptors (Figure 1.1).[4]



Figure 1.1. Platelet adhesion, activation, and aggregation. Opon injury to the endothelium, platelets bind exposed von Willebrand factor (vWF) via GPIb-V-IX receptors and collagen via GPVI receptors and $\alpha_2\beta_1$ integrins. Platelets become activated and release soluble agonists such as ADP, which feeds back to activate platelet G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs). Integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ becomes activated and binds fibrinogen, facilitating platelet-platelet aggregation. Figure adapted from Nieswandt *et al.*, *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 2008 Mar;28(3):403-12. Reprinted with permission.

1.2.1 Von Willebrand factor

One of the first and most fundamental platelet-ECM interactions is with von Willebrand factor (vWF).[5] Von Willebrand factor is a large, multimeric glycoprotein present in the ECM, in endothelial cell granules called Weibel-Palade bodies, in platelet α -granules, and in the circulation. Each mature vWF monomer is 2050 residues in length and contain numerous domains, as shown in Figure 1.2.[6] Binding sites are found on domain D' for FVIII, A1 for platelet glycoprotein Ib α and collagen type IV, A2 (cleavage site) for the degradative enzyme ADAMTS-13, A3 for collagen types I and III, and C1 for activated platelet integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$.[7]



Figure 1.2. Structure of von Willebrand factor (vWF). vWF monomers assemble into dimers intertwined between the A3-D4 domains and the C-terminal CK (cysteine knot) domain, as observed via eletron microscopy. Figure adapted from Denis *et al.*, *J Thromb Haemost*, 2012 Dec;10(12):2428-37. Reprinted with permission.

Following vessel damage, vWF is exposed from damaged endothelial cells and the ECM, upon which it unfolds, binds exposed ECM collagen, and polymerizes into larger vWF multimers in a shear-dependent manner.[8] Both vWF strings and vWF-collagen interactions form a platform for platelets to tether and roll. Platelets bind vWF via the platelet receptor glycoprotein (GP)Iba, a part of the GPIb-IX-V complex, which is constitutively active to enable fast platelet binding. Importantly, platelet adhesion to vWF allows platelets to bind other ECM proteins and arrest at the site of injury. Deficiencies in vWF production or function (quantitative or qualitative defects, respectively) result in the common, autosomal dominant bleeding disorder von Willebrand disease (vWD), a heterogeneous disease of varying bleeding severity.[9]

1.2.2 Collagen

Collagen is a triple helical protein with at least 28 subtypes classified by their structural form, with the highly networked type IV being the predominant form exposed in superficial injuries and the fibrillar types I and III present in deeper layers of the ECM being exposed in more serious injuries.[5] Exposed collagen binds the vWF domains A1 (collagen type IV) and A3 (collagen types I and III), forming a platform for platelets to bind. Platelet binding to collagen occurs via the platelet GPVI receptor binding glycine-proline-hydroxyproline (GPO) sequences on collagen.[10] Platelet integrin $\alpha_2\beta_1$ facilitates additional firm adhesion to collagen, acting as a secondary reinforcement of the platelet-collagen interaction and enhancing signaling through GPVI.[11]

1.2.3 Laminin

Laminin is a heterotrimeric glycoprotein of α , β , and γ chains that is found in the ECM. Laminins of type $\alpha 4$ and $\alpha 5$ (specifically, $\alpha 4\beta 1\gamma 1$, $\alpha 5\beta 1\gamma 1$, and $\alpha 5\beta 2\gamma 1$) have been shown to bind platelet integrin $\alpha_6\beta_1$.[12] This laminin-integrin $\alpha_6\beta_1$ interaction is a prerequisite for subsequent binding of laminin to GPVI. Laminin then activates GPVI signaling pathways similar to those of collagen.[13]

1.2.4 Other ECM proteins

Other platelet integrins facilitate binding to numerous ECM proteins. Specifically, integrin $\alpha_5\beta_1$ binds fibronectin and fibrillin, and integrin $\alpha_v\beta_3$ binds ECM proteins containing an arginine-glycineasparagine (RGD) motif, which includes fibrinogen, fibronectin, fibrillin, osteopontin, vitronectin, nidogens, thrombospondin, and vWF.[5, 14] While integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ also binds fibrinogen, this does not occur until after binding by vWF and collagen facilitates intracellular signaling to activate the integrin. Overall, interactions between ECM proteins and platelet integrins facilitate additional platelet adhesion to the site of injury before further platelet signaling can occur.

1.3 Platelet adhesion receptor-mediated signaling

Platelet adhesion at the site of injury activates platelet receptors to initiate intracellular signaling cascades (Figure 1.3).[15] This includes the vWF receptor GPIb-IX-V, collagen receptor GPVI, podoplanin receptor CLEC-2, and fibrinogen receptor integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$. Several of these receptors also associate with Fc receptors (FcRs), immune cell receptors that bind the unchanging (Fc) region of

immunoglobulins (Igs) and other ligands and propagate signaling through an immunoreceptor, tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM). Together, these adhesion receptors activate signaling cascades involving protein kinases, phospholipases, and adaptor proteins that lead to platelet activation.



Figure 1.3. Platelet signaling. Platelet signaling occurs following binding of vWF to GPIb-IX-V, collagen to GPVI/FcR γ , podoplanin to CLEC-2, and fibrinogen to integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$. Platelet signaling involves protein tyrosine kinases, adapter proteins, and phospholipases to result in platelet granule secretion, thromboxane (TxA₂) synthesis, and activation of integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$. Figure adapted from Estevez B. and Du X., *Physiology (Bethesda)*, 2017 Mar;32(2):162-177. Permission is not required by the publisher for this type of use.

1.3.1 GPIb-IX-V

GPIb-IX-V is a leucine-rich glycoprotein complex that is exclusive to platelets and megakaryocytes, comprised of a total of 9 units: one outer GPIX unit, two GPIb β units, one GPIb α , one central GPV, followed by another GPIb α , two GPIb β units, and a GPIX (Figure 1.4).[16] Each unit is a transmembrane protein containing a leucine-rich repeat (LRR) domain, ectodomain, transmembrane helix, and short cytoplasmic tail.[17] The GPIb α LRR domain binds to ligands, primarily vWF but also other coagulation factors, P-selectin, integrins, and bacteria. Ligand binding initiates associations between the cytoplasmic tail and the cytoskeletal protein filamin A, the scaffolding protein 14-3-3 ς , the messenger protein calmodulin, and phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3-kinase), initiating downstream signaling leading to platelet activation.[18] FcR γ -chain also associates with the GPIb α cytoplasmic tail and transmits signals similar to those of the GPVI FcR γ -chains, though more weakly.[19] Mutations in the structure of GPIb α , GPIb β , and/or GPIX result in a rare autosomal recessive bleeding disorder called Bernard-Soulier syndrome (BSS), resulting in macrothrombocytopenia or abnormally large platelets combined with low platelet count.[20]



Figure 1.4. GPIb-IX-V receptor structure. Ribbon diagram showing the GPIb-IX-V receptor complex at 90° rotated angles (A and B), comprising one subunit of GPIX, two GPIb β dimers, one GPIb α , and a central GPV. Another GPIb α , GPIb β dimer, and GPIX are clustered on the opposite side of GPV (not shown), for a total of nine subunits. Figure adapted from Mo *et al.*, *J Thromb Haemost*. 2012 Sep;10(9):1875-86. Reprinted with permission.

1.3.2 GPVI

Closely related to the Fc α receptor found on leukocytes, the platelet GPVI receptor is 339 amino acids long with two extracellular immunoglobulin (Ig) domains that bind collagen or laminin, followed by a mucin-like stalk, a transmembrane domain, and a cytosolic tail (Figure 1.5).[21, 22] Each GPVI monomer associates with a homodimer of FcR γ -chains via a salt bridge with an arginine (R) in the membrane and additional covalent interactions with the first 6 juxtamembrane amino acids in the cytosolic tail. The cytosolic tail contains a proline-rich domain (PRD) that binds the Src homology 3 (SH3) domain of Src-family kinases Lyn and Fyn, which remain constitutively bound to enable fast activation.[10] The FcR γ -chains each contain an ITAM with two YxxL (tyrosine ___ leucine) sequences required for signal transduction.



Figure 1.5. GPVI and FcR γ **-chain structure.** The GPVI receptor contains two extracellular Ig domains for ligand binding followed by a mucin-like stalk containing o-glycosylation sites. GPVI is coupled to a dimer of FcR γ -chains (not shown) through a salt bridge at an arginine residue in the membrane as well as additional interactions with the juxtamembrane and basic regions of the GPVI tail. The proline-rich region on the tail contains binding sites for the SH3 domains of Fyn and Lyn, which phosphorylate the FcR γ -chain ITAMs to initiate downstream signaling. Figure adapted from Watson *et al.*, *J Thromb Haemost*, 2005 Aug;3(8):1752-62. Reprinted with permission.

Collagen binding to GPVI induces cross-linking of multiple GPVI receptors, which brings Lyn and Fyn into closer association with the FcR γ -chains, where they can phosphorylate the ITAM tyrosines (Figure 1.6).[19] Once phosphorylated, the ITAMs allow docking of the tyrosine kinase Syk. This results in assembly of a signaling complex (signalosome) containing PI3-kinase, the Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factors (RhoGEFs) Vav1/2/3, Tec and Btk kinases, SH2-containing leukocyte protein of 76 kDa (SLP-76), phospholipase C γ 2 (PLC γ 2), and others. PLC γ 2 is an important effector protein that hydrolyzes phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) in the platelet membrane into the second messengers inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphosphate (IP3) and 1,2-diacylglycerol (DAG).[23] IP3 facilitates release of calcium stores, and DAG activates protein kinase C (PKC), while calcium and DAG together activate the GTPase Rap1.[24] PKC facilitates platelet granule release, while Rap1 promotes "inside-out" activation of integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ to an open conformation that allows fibrinogen binding and platelet-platelet adhesion.



Figure 1.6. GPVI signaling cascade. Following ligand binding and GPVI receptor crosslinking, the associated FcR γ -chain dimers are phosphorylated by Fyn/Lin kinases, leading to phosphorylation of Syk, which generates the LAT signolosome, resulting in activation of PLC γ 2 and hydrolysis of PIP2. Figure adapted from Watson *et al.*, *J Thromb Haemost*, 2005 Aug;3(8):1752-62. Reprinted with permission.

1.3.3 *CLEC-2*

Platelets also highly express C-type lectin receptor-2 (CLEC-2), which activates platelets upon binding the glycoprotein podoplanin expressed on lymphatic endothelial cells and subendothelial pericytes.[25] CLEC-2 expresses a single YxxL motif known as a hemi-ITAM in its cytoplasmic domain and is able to dimerize upon ligand binding to initiate a signaling cascade similar to that of GVPI.[26] However, unlike GPVI, the CLEC-2 ITAM is phosphorylated by both Src and Syk kinases, and CLEC-2 is more dependent on ADP and TxA₂ signaling and cytoskeletal rearrangements, which occur later in platelet activation. This suggests CLEC-2 is less critical to hemostasis than GPVI, although CLEC-2 has recently been found to contribute to lymphatics management and thrombus stability.[27]

1.3.4 FcyRIIA

Fc γ RIIA (CD32) is a type of Fc γ receptor expressed on platelets and macrophages and only present in higher primates. Fc γ RIIA contains two extracellular Ig domains and an intracellular ITAM with two YxxL sequences separated by 12 amino acids. Fc γ RIIA binds IgG-bearing immune complexes and IgG-opsonized pathogens and thus is involved in immune responses to pathogens but also autoimmune complications such as heparin-induced thrombocytopenia.[28] Similar to GPVI/FcR γ chain activation, ligand binding to Fc γ RIIA causes receptor crosslinking, bringing the associated Srcfamily kinase Lyn into close proximity to phosphorylate neighboring Fc γ RIIA ITAM tyrosines, which then provide a docking site for Syk. Activated Syk phosphorylates targets such as PI3-kinase and LAT, leading to PLC γ 2 activation.[29] Fc γ RIIA can also amplify the activation of nearby receptors, including integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$, GPIb-IX-V, and G-protein coupled receptors, likely through the action of SFKs or Syk.[28, 30]

1.3.5 Integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$

Integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ is specific to platelets and highly expressed at over 80,000 copies per platelet.[31] Integrins are transmembrane α/β heterodimers that are classified by the type of β subunit, with platelets expressing three β_1 members ($\alpha_2\beta_1$, $\alpha_5\beta_1$, and $\alpha_6\beta_1$) and two β_3 members ($\alpha_v\beta_3$ and $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$). All mediate adhesion to ECM proteins, but $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ alone plays a critical role in platelet aggregation, such that abnormalities in $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ result in a rare autosomal recessive bleeding disorder called Glanzmann's thrombasthenia.[32] Each subunit of $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ consists of a long extracellular region, a transmembrane helix, and a short cytoplasmic tail. Resting integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ maintains a bent extracellular conformation that minimizes ligand binding. "Inside-out" signaling from platelet receptors such as GPVI activates the GTPase Rap1, which recruits the cytoskeletal proteins talin and kindlin to bind the β_3 cytosolic tail and initiate integrin conformational change. Once the integrins shift to an extended form, ligands such as circulating fibrinogen can bind at the interface between the N-terminal β -propeller and β_A domains of α_{IIb} and β_3 , respectively.[33] This initiates receptor clustering and "outside-in" signaling near the cytosolic tails of α_{IIb} and β_3 . Receptor clustering initiates activation of Src, which recruits Syk to the integrin β_3 tail, leading to assembly of a signalosome similar to that of GPVI but without the involvement of LAT (Figure 1.7). In addition, $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ clustering activates signaling through the Gprotein G₁₃ and calcium- and integrin-binding protein 1 (CIB1), the latter of which activates focal adhesion kinase (FAK) to phosphorylate the actin-binding protein α -actinin, causing actin filament cross-linking that leads to platelet spreading.[34]



Figure 1.7. Integrin $a_{IIb}\beta_3$ **outside-in signaling.** Binding of fibrinogen to $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ initiates signaling through Src and Syk, leading to signalosome assembly that results in calcium release, granule secretion, and cytoskeletal remodeling. Figure adapted from Watson, *et al.*, *J Thromb Haemost*, 2005 Aug;3(8):1752-62. Reprinted with permission.

1.4 Platelet GPCR signaling

Many of the soluble agonists released by platelets bind specific G-protein coupled receptors on neighboring platelets, including ADP to P2Y₁₂ and P2Y₁ receptors, serotonin to 5-HT_{2A} receptors, epinephrine to α_{2A} adrenergic receptors, TxA₂ to TP receptors, and PGE₂ to EP receptors, initiating a wave of G-protein signaling and activation.[35] Subsequently, the trimeric G-protein $\alpha\beta\gamma$ complex becomes activated through exchange of GDP for GTP, and this G α -GTP subunit disassociates from the G $\beta\gamma$ subunit to activate downstream targets.[36] The G $\beta\gamma$ subunit regulates the inactive, GDPbound state but can also activate phosphoinositide 3-kinases (PI3Ks) involved in platelet activation and spreading.[37] The G α subunit takes different forms, which in platelets include G_q, G_{12/13}, G_i, and G_s. Through G-protein signaling events, GPCR activation facilitates platelet granule release and spreading (Figure 1.8). We will begin with a description of signaling pathways for each G α subtype before discussing GPCRs of particular clinical interest, P2Y₁₂ and PAR1/4.


Figure 1.8. GPCR signaling in platelets. Agonists activate GPCRs, causing release and activation of their associated $G\beta\gamma$ subunit and $G\alpha$ subunits G_s , G_q , $G_{12/13}$, or G_i , which activate downstream targets to cause granule secretion, TxA₂ synthesis, and integrin activation. Figure adapted from Du, *et al.*, *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 2010 Dec;30(12):2341-9. Reprinted with permission.

1.4.1 G_s signaling

 G_s is coupled to the IP receptor, which binds prostacyclin (PGI₂) released by endothelial cells to inhibit platelet activation. G_s activates the enzyme adenylyl cyclase, which catalyzes synthesis of cyclic AMP (cAMP) through the removal of a pyrophosphate unit from ATP. cAMP activates protein kinase A (PKA), which phosphorylates multiple inhibitory proteins and decreases intracellular calcium levels, preventing platelet granule secretion.[38]

1.4.2 G_i signaling

 G_i is coupled to the P2Y₁₂ and PAR1 receptors. In opposition to G_s , G_i inhibits adenylyl cyclase activity, thus preventing synthesis of cyclic AMP and allowing platelet activation to occur. G_i also activates Lyn, which activates PI3K γ in coordination with the G-protein $\beta\gamma$ subunit.[39] PI3K γ activates the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway to cause granule secretion and also activates Rap1b to cause inside-out activation of integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$.[37]

1.4.3 G_q signaling

 G_q is coupled to PAR1/4, P2Y₁₂, TP, and 5-HT_{2A} receptors. Upon activation, G_q causes activation of the phospholipase C isoform PLC β , which, similar to the role of PLC γ in tyrosine kinase signaling pathways, causes generation of IP3 and DAG, leading to release of calcium stores and granule secretion.[40]

1.4.4 $G_{12/13}$ signaling

 G_{12} and G_{13} are coupled to PAR1/4 and TP receptors but also integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$.[41] Activated (GTP-loaded) G_{12} or G_{13} enables the associated Rho guanine-nucleotide exchange factor (RhoGEF) family member p115RhoGEF to transfer a GTP to the Rho GTPase RhoA, which activates it.[42] RhoA activates downstream effectors to promote platelet shape change and granule secretion.

1.4.5 *P2Y*₁ and *P2Y*₁₂

The P2Y receptors are GPCRs that bind purine and pyrimidine nucleotides, with platelets expressing two types, P2Y₁ and P2Y₁₂. These bind adenosine diphosphate (ADP) released from platelet dense granules. P2Y₁ is coupled to G_q , while P2Y₁₂ is coupled to G_i . P2Y₁ is widely distributed on other cells and tissues, while P2Y₁₂ expression is mostly limited to platelets, vascular smooth muscle cells, and brain microglial cells, making P2Y₁₂ a better target for antiplatelet drugs.[43] As a result, several classes of P2Y₁₂ inhibitors have been developed, including thienopyridines such as clopidogrel and ATP analogs such as ticagrelor.[44]

1.4.6 PAR1 and PAR4

Human and non-human primate platelets express protease-activated receptors 1 and 4 (PAR1/4), GPCRs that are activated through N-terminal cleavage by proteases such as thrombin, cathepsin G, plasmin, and trypsin. Cleavage of the N-terminal domain generates a tethered ligand that binds the receptor and initiates signaling through G_q, G_{12/13}, and G_i. Studies of calcium flux have shown that PAR1 activation initiates a short, transient calcium signal, while PAR4 activation causes a more prolonged signal, suggesting PAR4 plays a distinct role to support the later phases of platelet aggregation.[45] Deficiencies in PAR1 or PAR4 are not known, but mutations in PAR4 have recently been discovered that are associated with several-fold increases in platelet aggregation; these polymorphisms are more prevalent in Black Americans, sub-Saharan Africans, and Papua New Guineans.[46] Antagonists against PAR4 are currently in development and have shown promising results in animal studies.[47]

1.5 Molecular chaperones in platelets

While a number of more classical signaling proteins, including specific kinases, phospholipases, and small GTPases are widely studied in platelets, other biological mediators of platelet physiology may play critical roles in platelet function, such as the numerous protein chaperones that are abundantly expressed in platelets. A number of steps in platelet activation require protein quality control that may be regulated by chaperones, including intracellular signaling and the cytoskeletal remodeling events that generate filopodia and lamellipodia to enable platelet attachment and spreading.[48]

Sections 1.5 and 1.11.2 are adapted from a book chapter accepted for publication in

Heat Shock Protein 70 in Biology and Medicine, Springer Publishing, 2017.

1.5.1 Protein disulfide isomerases

Some chaperone proteins, particularly the disulfide isomerases such as PDI and ERp57, are emerging as important regulators of platelet action. These oxidoreductase chaperones regulate disulfide rearrangements to facilitate surface integrin conformational changes required for platelet-platelet interactions in thrombus formation. Members of the PDI family, including PDI, ERp5, ERp57, and Ero1 α bind integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ and are required for $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation.[49-52] These oxidoreductase chaperones physically interact with $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ on the platelet surface to facilitate conformational changes required for activation.[49-51, 53-56]

1.5.2 Heat shock proteins

The heat shock protein family comprises molecular chaperones ranging in size from 10 to over 100 kDa. Several heat shock protein family members and associated proteins have been identified in

platelets, including family members of Hsp27, Hsp60, Hsp70, and Hsp90.[57-63] Quantitative proteomics analyses of human and mouse platelets have reported that the heat shock cognate 71 protein (HSP7C, HSPA8) is one of the most abundant proteins in platelets (abundance ranking #89 in human; #26 in mouse).[64, 65] Recent *in vitro* studies demonstrate that extracellular Hsp72 can modulate platelet function to support platelet aggregation.[66] Heat shock proteins in platelets have also been reported to be covalently modified by protein phosphorylation, suggesting involvement in signaling.[62, 67-69] Interestingly, Hsp70, like oxidoreductases, can be secreted from platelets, potentially playing roles in integrin conformational change and subsequent platelet activation. Studies in other cellular systems demonstrate that Hsp70 family members associate with PDI, Erp57, or integrins to fulfill chaperone activities and promote integrin activation. [55, 70, 71] Work in other biological systems demonstrates a role for Hsp70 in assembly of protein complexes near the intracellular membrane. [72, 73] Intriguingly, a recent study by Durrant *et al.* finds that Hsp90- α associates with the PI3K signalosome, which lies downstream of and proximal to the LAT signalosome in the regulation of platelet granule secretion and integrin activation.[74] Hsp70 has also recently been found to associate with the CLEC-14a receptor to promote angiogenesis, hinting at potential roles for Hsp70 in modulating CLEC-2 receptor activities in platelets, proximal to tyrosine kinase and PLC signaling.[75]

In addition to targeting platelet receptors such as integrins, some studies suggest extracellular chaperones mediate the organization and assembly of platelet receptor ligands such as fibrinogen/fibrin, collagen and other extracellular matrix components.[76] For example, interactions between Grp75 and the fibrinogen binding extracellular protein fibulin-1C are hypothesized to have roles in incorporating fibrin into blood clots.[77, 78] Activated platelets also express surface Hsp47, a chaperone that associates with collagen, and this interaction is required for platelet activation by collagen.[79] Overall, roles for extracellular chaperone activities in physiological processes such as

platelet activation are multifaceted and only just beginning to be explored.[80-82] A scheme of proposed Hsp70 activities in platelets is shown in Figure 1.9.



Figure 1.9. Roles for Hsp70 in platelets. Platelet Hsp70 facilitates trafficking of the P2X1 receptor to the membrane and assembly of the LAT signolosome leading to integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation. Hsp70 may also be secreted from platelets to coordinate integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ conformational change on the platelet surface.

1.6 Platelet granule secretion

Platelet activation causes release of internal stores from alpha and dense granules and lysosomes, which release a host of contents to attract and activate neighboring platelets (Figure 1.10).[83] Platelet dense (δ -)granules release small molecules and charged ions such as adenosine di- and triphosphate (ADP and ATP), epinephrine, serotonin, Ca²⁺, and polyphosphate. Platelet alpha (α -)granules release numerous proteins, including the coagulation proteins fibronectin, factor V, and vWF, the inflammatory chemokines platelet factor 4 (PF4 or CXCL4) and CXCL7, prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) and the growth factors IGF-1 and TGF β .[84] Additionally, the membrane of alpha granules contains the cell adhesion molecule P-selectin, which becomes translocated to the platelet surface upon granule release and binds P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1) on circulating leukocytes or endothelial cells. Platelet activation also initiates conversion of arachidonic acid from the platelet membrane into the prostaglandins thromboxane (TxA₂) and, in lesser amounts, prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) by cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes, and these prostaglandins diffuse through the platelet membrane to activate neighboring platelets. Finally, platelet lysosomes or λ -granules release degradative proteases and glycosidases involved in clot retraction and wound healing.



Figure 1.10. Platelet granule release. Activated platelets release granule contents from alpha (α -), dense (δ -), and lysosomal (λ -)granules. Figure adapted from Yeaman M.R., *Nat Rev Microbiol*. 2014 Jun;12(6):426-37. Reprinted with permission.

1.7 Platelet aggregation and spreading

During platelet activation, intracellular signaling culminates in Rap1-GTP-interacting adapter molecule (RIAM) interacting with cytoskeletal proteins at the cytoplasmic tail of integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ to cause integrin activation. This "inside out" activation enables $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ to bind circulating fibrinogen and other ECM proteins that act as a bridge for platelet-platelet aggregates. Meanwhile, signaling cascades downstream of receptor activation converge on activation of PI3-kinase (PI3K) and Rho GTPase family members RhoA, Cdc42, and Rac1.[42] This leads to platelet spreading via actin polymerization and remodeling, forming protrusions of filopodia and sheet-like lamellipodia (Figure 1.11) as well as longer membrane tethers that form under high shear conditions to enable platelet adhesion and aggregation.[85] At the same time, some platelets form large, balloon-like shapes known as procoagulant platelets, which create a "cap and balloon" morphology in which the densely packed caps create a platform for reactions involved in blood coagulation.[86]



Figure 1.11. Platelet spreading. Differential interference contrast (DIC) microscopy of platelets spreading on surfaces of coagulation factor XI (FXI) or fibrinogen (FG) over a time course. Platelets initially form long, spindly filopodia and then sheet-like lamellipodia. Figure adapted from White-Adams, *et al., Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 2009 Oct;29(10):1602-7. Reprinted with permission.

1.8 Coagulation

While platelets perform their activation sequence, the process of blood coagulation occurs in parallel to support hemostatic plug formation; this can be divided into initiation, amplification, and propagation phases (Figure 1.12).[87] In the initiation phase of coagulation, exposed tissue factor (TF) on subendothelial cells such as smooth muscle cells, pericytes, and fibroblasts binds and activates blood coagulation factor (F)VII to FVIIa, and this surface-bound TF/FVIIa complex captures and activates FIX to FIXa and FX to FXa.[88] On neighboring TF-expressing cells, the newly generated FXa associates with its cofactor FVa. Next, in the amplification phase, traces of circulating thrombin facilitate conversion of FV to FVa, FVIII to FVIIIa, and FIX to FIXa. Finally,

in the propagation phase, activated platelets express surface phosphatydylserine (PS) through a membrane flipping mechanism, which provides a surface for the assembly and activation of these blood coagulation factors.[89] On this PS surface, FIXa associates with its cofactor FVIIIa to form the tenase complex, which activates FX to FXa. Also on PS-expressing platelets, FVa and FXIa form the prothrombinase complex, which activates prothrombin (FII) to thrombin (FIIa). Thrombin further activates platelets by enzymatically cleaving the platelet protease activated receptors (PARs), PAR1 and PAR4, leading to additional platelet PS exposure. In the final step, thrombin cleaves fibrinogen into fibrin and activates FXIII to FXIIIa, which crosslinks the fibrin strands into a meshwork, binding together the hemostatic plug.



Figure 1.12. Blood coagulation. Coagulation factors assemble following injury to a blood vessel, progressing through phases of initiation, amplification, and propagation, from left to right. Figure adapted from Bevers E.M. and Williamson P.L., *Physiol Rev*, 2016 Apr;96(2):605-45. Permission is not required by the publisher for this type of use.

1.9 Inflammation

In addition to preserving hemostasis, platelets can promote inflammation, which is a multifaceted response of the innate immune system, also known as the non-specific immune system, to defend against microbial infection or damage.[90] Inflammation involves recruitment of leukocytes, which are white blood cells such as neutrophils, monocytes, and macrophages, and generation of symptoms such as pain, redness, and swelling. Platelets contribute to the inflammatory response through α -granule release of chemoattractants such as platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) and platelet factor 4 (PF4 or CXCL4), which recruit leukocytes.[83] Platelets also synthesize the vasoconstrictor thromboxane A₂ (TxA₂) and the proinflammatory cytokines interleukin (IL)-1 α and IL-1 β , which upregulate expression of endothelial adhesion molecules ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 and promote neutrophil migration. A list of inflammatory mediators released by platelets is shown in Table 1.1.[90]

Molecule	Family	Location	
IL-1β	Cytokine	Synthesized	
Thromboxane A2	Eicosanoid	Synthesized	
PF4/CXCL4	Chemokine	α- granules	
β-thromboglobulin (CXCL7/ NAP-2)	Chemokine	α- granules	
RANTES (CCL5)	Chemokine	α- granules	
CD40L	Cytokine	α- granules	
PDGF	Growth factor	α- granules	
TGF-β	Growth factor	α- granules	
TNF-α	Cytokine	α- granules	
IL-1α	Cytokine	α- granules	
GRO-α (CXCL1)	Cytokine	α- granules	
ENA-78 (CXCL5)	Cytokine	α- granules	
SDF-1 (CXCL12)	Cytokine	α- granules	
MIP-1a (CCL3)	Chemokine	α- granules	
MCP-3 (CCL7)	Chemokine	α- granules	
NAP-2 (CXCL7)	Chemokine	α- granules	
TARC (CCL17)	Chemokine	α- granules	
Interleukin-8 (CXCL8)	Chemokine	α- granules	
Polyphosphates	Phosphates	Dense granules	
ATP	Nucleotide	Dense granules	
Serotonin	Monoamine	Dense granules	
Glutamate	Amino Acid	Dense granules	

 Table 1.1. Inflammatory mediators released by platelets.

In addition, platelets bind to inflamed endothelial cells through platelet $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$, GPVI, P-selectin, GPIba, and CD40L via a number of endothelial adhesive molecules, leading to platelet activation and amplifying inflammation (Figure 1.13).[91] Similarly, platelets bind to leukocytes through platelet P-selectin, GPIba, and CD40L binding to leukocyte PSGL-1, Mac-1 (integrin $\alpha_M\beta_2$), and CD40, respectively.[92] The effects of platelet-leukocyte interactions can be bi-directional, with both prothrombotic and proinflammatory results, from platelet activation and generation of fibrin to neutrophil cytokine release and formation microbicidal structures called neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs).



Figure 1.13. Platelets in inflammation. Platelets interact with endothelial cells and leukocytes in inflammation. Figure adapted from Mònica Arman, Holly Payne, Tatyana Ponomaryov and Alexander Brill (2015). Role of Platelets in Inflammation, The Non-Thrombotic Role of Platelets in Health and Disease, Dr. Steve W. Kerrigan (Ed.), InTech, DOI: 10.5772/60536. Available from: https://www.intechopen.com/books/the-non-thrombotic-role-of-platelets-in-health-and-disease/role-of-platelets-in-inflammation. This is an open-access book under CC BY 3.0 license.

1.10 Thrombosis

While platelets play a central role in maintaining a healthy vascular system, they can also become aberrantly activated and contribute to disease states. Thrombosis is the development of a blood clot that impedes blood flow, and it is the underlying cause of ischemic heart disease and stroke, causing one in four deaths worldwide.[93] Thrombosis can be a primary outcome or a secondary outcome in diseases such as cancer, cardiovascular disease, and inflammatory disease. Factors predisposing to thrombosis include stasis of blood flow, endothelial injury, and hypercoagulability, known as

Virchow's triad.[94] Platelets play a key role in the development atherothrombosis by aggregating at the site of atherosclerotic plaque rupture and releasing growth factors, proinflammatory cytokines, and ligands for leukocyte binding.[95] As a result, a number of antiplatelet therapies have been developed to target platelets in atherothrombosis, such as the COX inhibitor aspirin, the P2Y₁₂ inhibitors clopidogrel and ticagrelor, the integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ inhibitor ebtifibatide, and the PAR1 inhibitor vorapaxar.[96] However, all current antiplatelet therapies increase bleeding risk, prompting the need for continuing studies of platelet function to find better drug targets.

1.11 Emerging platelet therapies

In this section, we will detail three emerging strategies for targeting platelets to improve disease outcomes while decreasing bleeding risk, Btk inhibitors, Hsp70 modulators, and PAR4 inhibitors.

1.11.1 Btk inhibitors

The protein kinase Btk is involved in signal complex formation following activation of GPIb-IX-V, GPVI, CLEC-2, or FcyRIIa receptors on platelets, but it also plays important roles in signal transduction in B cells through the B cell antigen receptor (BCR). Drugs that inhibit Btk have become an important therapy in B cell malignancies, with the first-in-class Btk inhibitor ibrutinib being used for treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), mantle cell lymphoma (MCL), and Waldenström's macroglobulinemia.[97-99] However, studies have shown that ibrutinib also targets other signaling molecules associated with Btk such as Tec kinase; in mice, deletion of both Tec and Btk confers defects in platelet signaling and aggregation.[100] A subset of patients taking ibrutinib develop bleeding side effects, necessitating the development of more selective Btk inhibitors such as acalabrutinib, which has shown great promise in a clinical trial for CLL.[101, 102] On the other hand, the antiplatelet effects seen with Btk inhibitors suggest they may be useful treatments for

thrombotic diseases, providing a new application for this already validated class of drugs. In sum, Btk inhibitors are important therapies against B cell malignancies with emerging potential as antithrombotic drugs as well.

1.11.2 Heat shock protein modulators

Meanwhile, heat shock proteins in platelets may also be targets in diseases of thrombosis and inflammation. Studies suggest Hsp70 may also be protective in cerebrovascular atherosclerosis; levels of circulating Hsp70 are lower in atherosclerosis patients than controls.[103] Allende *et al.* has reported that Hsp70 expression is highly downregulated in atrial fibrillation and stroke patients and that mice lacking Hsp70 develop thromboses more readily.[104, 105] Pharmacological Hsp70 induction in mice delays thrombus formation without altering aggregation or increasing bleeding.[105, 106] Intracellular Hsp70 also plays a cardioprotective role in complex with integrinlinked kinase (ILK) in cardiomyocytes.[107] In platelets, ILK promotes integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation,[108] yet a link between ILK and Hsp70 has not yet been investigated. Hsp70 family member Grp78 also plays an atheroprotective role by binding and inactivating tissue factor on the platelet surface.[58] Overall, these studies demonstrate numerous antithrombotic and pro-angiogenic effects of pharmacological Hsp70 induction.

Hsp70 family members in platelets may also be a target for inflammatory diseases.[109] High levels of circulating Hsp70 are a biomarker for cellular injury, oxidative stress, or inflammation in many disease contexts.[110-113] Hsp70 binds misfolded peptide segments during cellular stress, and these Hsp70-peptide complexes bind CD40 receptors on immune cells, facilitating peptide uptake and immune priming.[114] Extracellular Hsp70 is also associated with the onset and progression of inflammation in diabetes, while intracellular Hsp70 activity is protective.[115-117] Extracellular

29

Hsp70 has also been shown to bind the receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE) in cancer cells, activating inflammatory signaling pathways and cytokine secretion.[118] Circulating Hsp70 may have similar roles in stimulating CD40, RAGE and other immune receptors on platelets to prime thromboinflammatory disease states. Platelets are known to express receptors for heat shock protein Grp94 that neutralize Grp94 upon platelet activation and markedly diminish the immune response by dendritic cells, demonstrating an anti-inflammatory effect of Grp94 via platelets.[119] Platelets also express toll-like receptors (TLRs) upon activation, but whether platelets express Hsp70 receptors and whether pharmacological inhibitors of extracellular Hsp70 would help dampen inflammation remains an intriguing question.[120, 121] Meanwhile, administration of recombinant Hsp70 has been proposed to help treatment of sepsis by counteracting inflammatory responses.[122] Pharmacological Hsp90 inhibition may also have anti-inflammatory properties via Hsp70, as the Hsp90 inhibitor 17-DMAG improves outcomes of rats in sepsis by induction of Hsp70.[123] Overall, a better understanding of the interplay of platelets with Hsp70 and its co-chaperones will inform therapeutic strategies to modulate Hsp70 in thrombotic and inflammatory diseases.[124]

1.11.3 PAR4 inhibitors

While inhibitors of the ADP receptor P2Y₁₂ are currently in use for thrombotic diseases despite continued bleeding risks, an emerging alternative is to target the thrombin receptors PAR1 and PAR4. Vorapaxar was the first selective PAR1 antagonist developed, with the goal of reducing thrombotic cardiovascular events without bleeding. However, clinical trials demonstrated that patients on vorapaxar exhibited bleeding side effects, including more serious bleeding such as intracranial hemorrhaging.[125] As a result, attention has shifted to the PAR4 receptor as a potential target, given both *in vitro* studies and animal models showing PAR4 contributes to thrombosis, inflammation, and pain.[126, 127] Trials of a novel PAR4 antagonist in nonhuman primates suggest a reduction in thrombosis without bleeding side effects, prompting a clinical trial in humans for recurrent stroke.[47, 128] Given the expression of PAR4 on monocytes and the activity of blood proteases such as neutrophil cathepsin G in cleaving PAR4, PAR4 inhibitors may also have applications in inflammatory diseases. Thus, PAR4 inhibitors are a fertile area of research as potential novel treatments for thrombotic and inflammatory diseases.

1.12 Thesis Overview

In this thesis, we examine specific molecular targets in platelets and their downstream impacts on platelet signaling and functional outcomes such as platelet aggregation, spreading, and platelet-leukocyte interactions. The following studies investigate the effect of Btk inhibitors on platelet function, the role of Hsp70 in tyrosine kinase-mediated platelet signaling, and the role of PAR4 activity in platelet granule release and platelet-leukocyte interactions.

In Chapter 3, we characterize the functional effects of Btk inhibitors on platelets, utilizing compounds that are analogues of ibrutinib, a treatment for B cell malignancies such as chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and mantle cell lymphoma (MCL). Given the prevalence of bleeding side effects in patients taking ibrutinib, we investigated the effect of Btk inhibition on platelet function. Btk inhibitors impaired phosphorylation of Btk, Lyn, and other targets downstream of GPVI activation, resulting in diminished platelet spreading on fibrinogen, P-selectin exposure, and aggregate formation under shear flow. In addition, short-term *in vivo* oral dosing studies demonstrated that Btk inhibition demolished platelet aggregation but did not impact plasma clotting times or bleeding times during the short time frame of the study. This study demonstrates that Btk inhibitors analogous to ibrutinib significantly impair platelet function and have off-target effects on

signaling downstream of GPVI. Ultimately, these results have provided rationale for the development of more specific Btk inhibitors such as acalabrutinib.

Next, Chapter 4 details studies of the role of heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) in coordinating platelet signaling and activation. Using well-characterized, small-molecule inhibitors of Hsp70 activity, we demonstrate that inhibition of Hsp70 impairs platelet secretion, spreading, and aggregation downstream of GPVI activation as well as whole blood aggregate formation under shear. Furthermore, biochemical studies show that Hsp70 is required for assembly of the LAT signalosome, a critical intermediate step between GPVI activation and functional outcomes such as integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation and granule secretion. These results identify a previously undiscovered function of heat shock protein 70 in platelet signaling and point to potential antiplatelet effects of Hsp inhibitors in development for cancer and other diseases.

Studies in Chapter 5 investigate the role of the platelet PAR4 receptor in promoting platelet dense granule release and platelet-leukocyte interactions. Platelet PAR4 is an emerging drug target for thrombotic diseases, yet the role of PAR4 activity in functional outcomes such as platelet dense granule release and platelet-leukocyte interactions remains unknown. We utilized PAR4 antagonists derived from BMS-986120, a PAR4 antagonist tested in recent human and non-human primate studies. PAR4 inhibition impaired platelet dense granule secretion by the blood proteases thrombin, cathepsin G, or plasmin and impaired platelet-leukocyte interactions in either a purified system or whole blood. These results demonstrate that PAR4 plays important roles in facilitating dense granule release and platelet-leukocyte interactions, suggesting PAR4 is a target not only in thrombotic disease but also in diseases of inflammation in which platelet-leukocyte interactions drive pathogenesis.

32

Finally, Chapter 6 presents conclusions from these studies and proposes future work to extend these results beyond platelet function to interactions between platelets, leukocytes, and endothelial cells. The overall goal of the presented work is to elucidate novel mechanisms of platelet activation while examining clinically relevant targets for the treatment of diseases of thrombosis and inflammation.

Chapter 2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Ethical Considerations

For all studies utilizing human blood, consent was obtained from healthy volunteers in accordance with an Oregon Health & Science University (OHSU) IRB-approved protocol. For all studies with baboons (*Papio anubis*), the animals were housed and cared for at the OHSU Oregon National Primate Research Center (ONPRC), a Category I facility, and all experiments were approved by the OHSU West Campus Animal Care and Use Committee according to the *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals* by the Committee on Care and Use of Laboratory Animals of the Institute of Laboratory Animal Resources, National Research Council (ISBN 0-309-05377-3, 1996). The Laboratory Animal Care and Use Program at the ONPRC is fully accredited by the American Association for Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care and has an approved assurance (no. A3304-01) for the care and use of animals from the Office for Protection from Research Risks at the National Institutes of Health.

2.2 Common reagents

Collagen was from Chrono-Log (Havertown, PA). Collagen-related peptide (CRP) was from R. Farndale (Cambridge University, UK). Hanks' Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) was from Corning cellgro (Manassas, VA, USA). Polymorphprep was from Axis-Shield (Oslo, Norway). PGI₂ was from Cayman Chemical (Ann Arbor, MI, USA). TRAP-6 (SFLLRN-NH₂) was obtained from Tocris (Bristol, UK). PPACK (D-Phe-Pro-Arg-chloromethylketone) was from Santa Cruz (Dallas, TX, USA). PAR4 activating peptide (AYPGKF-NH₂) was from Abgent (San Diego, CA, USA). Human fibrinogen was from Enzyme Research (South Bend, IN). Human α-thrombin and human plasmin

34

were from Haematologic Technologies (Essex Junction, VT, USA). Bovine thrombin, fatty-acid free bovine serum albumin (BSA), and all other reagents were from Sigma, unless specified otherwise.

2.3 Platelet and neutrophil isolation

2.3.1 *Platelet preparation*

Venous blood was obtained from healthy volunteers in accordance with an Oregon Health & Science University (OHSU) IRB-approved protocol. For washed platelet preparation, blood was drawn into 3.8% trisodium citrate 9:1 (v:v), and acid-citrate dextrose (ACD) was added at 1:10 (v:v). Platelet-rich plasma (PRP) was isolated by centrifugation at 200 *g* for 20 minutes, and platelets were separated from PRP at 1000 *g* for 10 minutes in the presence of prostacyclin (0.1 μ g/ml). Platelets were resuspended in modified HEPES/Tyrode buffer (129 mM NaCl, 0.34 mM Na₂HPO₄, 2.9 mM KCl, 12 mM NaHCO₃, 20 mM HEPES, 1 mM MgCl₂, pH 7.3, supplemented with 5 mM glucose), washed by centrifugation at 1000 *g* for 10 minutes, and resuspended again in modified HEPES/Tyrode buffer to the specified platelet count.

2.3.2 Granulocyte preparation

Human granulocytes were isolated as previously described,[129] with minor modifications. Venous blood was drawn in accordance with an OHSU IRB-approved protocol at 7:1 (v:v) into citrate phosphate dextrose (CPD). Blood was layered onto an equal volume of Polymorphprep and centrifuged at 500 g for 45 min, and the middle layer containing granulocytes was removed and washed in Hanks' Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) at 400 g for 10 minutes at 19 °C. The pellet was resuspended in cold sterile H₂O for 30 seconds to lyse remaining red blood cells, followed by dilution in 10× PIPES buffer (250 mM PIPES, 1.1 mM CaCl₂, 50 mM KCl, pH 7.4) and HBSS

35

buffer and centrifugation at 400 g for 10 minutes at 19 °C. The granulocyte pellet was resuspended in HBSS buffer to the specified cell count.

2.4 *In vitro* platelet studies

2.4.1 *Platelet spreading*

Glass coverslips were coated with proteins of interest, surface blocked with denatured bovine serum albumin (BSA), and incubated with washed platelets at 37 °C to allow platelets to adhere. Platelets were fixed, permeabilized, and stained with fluorescent antibodies of interest. Glass coverslips were mounted with Fluoromount G and stored at 4 °C before imaging and analysis by DIC and immunofluorescence microscopy.

2.4.2 *Platelet aggregation*

As previously described, [130] aggregation studies were performed using 300 µl of platelets pretreated with inhibitors. Platelet aggregation was initiated by addition of 3 µl of agonist and followed by continuous stirring at 1200 rpm at 37 °C in a PAP-4 aggregometer. Aggregation was recorded as increase in light transmission, which was quantified as the vertical change from baseline, normalized to vehicle control.

2.4.3 *Platelet dense granule release*

Platelet dense granule secretion was measured as luminescence in an ATP-luciferin-luciferase reaction, as previously described.[182] Washed platelets were incubated in a white, flat bottom Corning 96-well plate with inhibitor or vehicle for 15 minutes at 37 °C with orbital shaking. Agonists

were added and incubated for 10 minutes. Finally, Chronolume detection agent was added and luminescence measured on an Infinite M200 spectrophotometer (TECAN, Switzerland).

2.5 Flow cytometry

Samples were pretreated with inhibitors before stimulation with agonists for 20 minutes in the presence of fluorescently-conjugated surface markers. Samples were diluted in buffer and analyzed by flow cytometry on a BD FACSCanto II or BD LSR II (Beckton Dickinson). The cell population of interest was identified by logarithmic forward and side scatter along with surface marker expression, if applicable. Expression of surface markers was recorded as the geometric mean fluorescence or as percent of cells above a specified fluorescence threshold.

2.6 Flow chamber studies

Glass capillary tubes were coated with proteins of interest and surface blocked with denatured BSA. Sodium citrate-anticoagulated whole blood was pre-treated with inhibitors as indicated and perfused through capillary tubes at 37 °C to form platelet aggregates, as previously described.[131] Aggregates were fixed, imaged using DIC microscopy, and analyzed as described below.

2.7 Microscopy

2.7.1 General protocol

Imaging was performed on a Zeiss Axiovert fluorescence microscope (Axio Imager; Carl Zeiss, Gittingen, Germany) using Köhler-illuminated Nomarski DIC optics with Zeiss EC Plan-Neofluar 40× or 63× magnification oil immersion lenses. Images were captured on a Zeiss Axiocam MRm camera using Slidebook 5.0 software (Intelligent Imaging Innovations, Inc.).

2.7.2 Image analysis

The surface area of platelets or platelet aggregates was computed by manually outlining and quantifying platelet aggregates in ImageJ software, as previously described.[131]

Chapter 3. Oral administration of Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitors impairs GPVImediated platelet function

Rachel A. Rigg, Joseph E. Aslan, Laura D. Healy, Michael Wallisch, Cassandra P. Loren, Jiaqing Pang, Monica T. Hinds, András Gruber, and Owen J. T. McCarty

3.1 Abstract

The Tec family kinase Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase (Btk) plays an important signaling role downstream of immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs) in hematopoietic cells. Mutations in Btk are involved in impaired B-cell maturation in X-linked agammaglobulinemia (XLA), and Btk has been investigated for its role in platelet activation via activation of the effector protein PLC $\gamma 2$ downstream of the platelet membrane glycoprotein VI (GPVI). Because of its role in hematopoietic cell signaling, Btk has become a target in the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and mantle cell lymphoma (MCL), with the covalent Btk inhibitor ibrutinib recently receiving FDA approval for these conditions. Antihemostatic events have been reported in some patients taking ibrutinib, though the mechanism of these events remains unknown. In this study, we sought to determine the effects of Btk inhibition on platelet function in a series of *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of platelet activation, spreading, and aggregation. Our results show that inhibition of Btk with either an ibrutinib analog or a novel Btk inhibitor, BTKI-43607, decreased human platelet activation, phosphorylation of Btk, P-selectin exposure, spreading on fibrinogen, and aggregation under shear flow conditions. Short-term in vivo studies showed that Btk inhibitors caused abrogation of platelet aggregation but without measurable effect on bleeding or plasma clotting times. Taken together, our results suggest that inhibition of Btk significantly decreased GPVI-mediated platelet activation,

spreading, and aggregation *in vitro* and *in vivo*; however, prolonged bleeding was not observed in a model of bleeding.

This work was originally published by the American Physiological Society, *American Journal of Physiology: Cell Physiology*. 2016; 310(5):C373-80. Permission is not required by the publisher for this type of use.

3.2 Introduction

Studies in this chapter were designed to determine the functional effects of Btk inhibition on platelets, given the emergence of mild bleeding symptoms in patients taking the Btk inhibitor ibrutinib. Here we show that Btk inhibition impairs GPVI-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation of multiple targets, platelet spreading, activation, and aggregation *in vitro* and that oral dosing with Btk inhibitors impairs platelet aggregation *in vivo*. This provides a clear rationale for the bleeding symptoms seen in the clinic and an impetus for the development of more specific Btk inhibitors in the future.

3.3 Background

Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase (Btk) is a member of the Tec family of non-receptor tyrosine kinases that is involved in signaling downstream of immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM)coupled receptors in hematopoietic cells, including B cells, monocytes, neutrophils, natural killer cells, and platelets.[132-134] Btk was identified in 1993 as the cause of X-linked agammaglobulinemia (XLA), an immunodeficiency disease in which mutations in Btk are associated with a lack of B-cell maturation and a resulting low level (<2%) of circulating B cells.[132] Patients with XLA show impaired platelet aggregation in response to both collagen and collagen-related peptide (CRP), a membrane glycoprotein VI (GPVI) agonist, along with decreased activation of the downstream effector protein phospholipase $\gamma 2$ (PLC $\gamma 2$), suggesting an important role for Btk in signaling in platelets.[21, 135]

Blood platelets are rapidly recruited to exposed extracellular matrix proteins such as collagen at sites of vascular injury. Initial platelet recruitment to the injury site occurs after circulating von Willebrand factor (vWF) undergoes a conformational change upon binding exposed collagen, followed by platelet receptor GPIb binding to vWF and platelet integrin $\alpha_2\beta_1$ binding to collagen.[10] Additional platelet adhesion to collagen and subsequent platelet activation is mediated by the platelet receptor GPVI, which is non-covalently associated with a disulfide-linked homodimer of Fc receptor (FcR) γ chains, each of which contains an ITAM unit.[21] Upon binding exposed collagen, GPVI forms crosslinks that enable the GPVI-bound Src kinases Fyn and Lyn to phosphorylate two tyrosines on the FcRy ITAMs.[136] The tyrosine kinase Syk then binds the phosphorylated ITAMs, where it undergoes phosphorylation by the Src kinases and autophosphorylation.[21] Activation of Syk initiates assembly and activation of a signalosome including the transmembrane adapter protein LAT, the cytosolic adapter proteins SLP-76 and Gads, and the Tec kinases Btk and Tec in complex with the effector protein PLC γ 2.[21] From this signaling complex, Btk is phosphorylated by Syk and Lyn and autophosphorylated and proceeds to phosphorylate PLC γ 2, which hydrolyzes phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP_2) into the second messengers inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol (DAG), causing platelet activation through release of intracellular Ca²⁺ stores, activation of protein kinase C (PKC), synthesis of thromboxane A₂ (TXA₂), and subsequent platelet granule secretion.[21, 24]

41

Several other pathways of platelet activation converge on PLC $\gamma 2$ and thus may require Btk for activation. Outside-in signaling of the fibrinogen receptor $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ upon binding fibrinogen leads to activation of the G α protein G13, which initiates c-Src activation of Syk, which activates PI 3-kinase and Btk to phosphorylate PLC $\gamma 2$.[24] Binding of agonists such as thrombin and TXA₂ to GPCRs that activate G13 also initiates this signaling pathway.[24] Additionally, shear-dependent binding of the platelet membrane complex GPIb-IX-V to vWF recruits Lyn to activate PI 3-kinase, again leading to Btk and PLC $\gamma 2$ activation.[137] Several of these pathways are interdependent and self-amplifying to promote platelet aggregation and formation of a stable thrombus.

Supporting its role in B-cell receptor signaling, Btk has been found to be elevated in B cell malignancies such as chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and mantle cell lymphoma (MCL), and after several successful clinical trials, the covalent Btk inhibitor ibrutinib was recently approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration for treatment of CLL and MCL.[97, 98, 138-142] A mild bleeding diathesis has been reported in up to 50% of patients taking ibrutinib, with grade 3 or higher bleeding events occurring in up to 6% of these patients.[97, 98, 141] Several recent studies suggest these antihemostatic events may be due to the inhibitory effect of ibrutinib on platelet function.[143, 144] In order to further define the role of Btk inhibition on platelet function, this study investigated the effect of irreversible Btk inhibition using two ibrutinib analogs on platelet activation, spreading, and aggregation.

3.4 Materials and Methods

3.4.1 Reagents

Collagen was from Chrono-Log (Havertown, PA). Collagen-related peptide (CRP) was from R. Farndale (Cambridge University, UK). Human fibrinogen was from Enzyme Research (South Bend, IN). FITC-conjugated Annexin V was from Life Technologies, and CD62E-FITC antibody was from Acris Antibodies. Antibodies for Western blotting experiments were from Santa Cruz (pLyn), Cell Signaling (pBtk and pSyk), and Millipore (4G10). Bovine thrombin, fatty-acid free BSA, and all other reagents were from Sigma or previously described sources.[130, 145]

The irreversible Btk inhibitors, BTKI-43607 and BTKI-43761, were provided by Pharmacyclics (Sunnyvale, CA), dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide at 10 mM, and stored at -20 °C until use. BTKI-43607 and BTKI-43761 are analogs of ibrutinib, and form a covalent bond with a cysteine residue on Btk. The molecular specificity of BTKI-43607 and BTKI-43761 interaction with Btk was evaluated using the Kinase Profiler (Millipore). The IC50 and selectivity of BTKI-43761 are reported in Table 3.1.

	BTKI-43761				
Kinase	IC ₅₀ (nM)	Selectivity for Btk			
Btk	0.39	1.0			
ErbB4/HER4	0.64	1.6			
Blk	0.94	2.4			
Bmx/Etk	1.10	2.8			
Fgr	2.86	7.3			
Txk	2.87	7.4			
Lck	3.49	9.0			
Yes/YES1	3.94	10			
Tec	5.49	14			
Csk	6.17	16			
EGFR	7.80	20			
Brk	10.1	26			
Itk	11.7	30			
Hck	17.0	44			
ErbB2/HER2	21.6	55			
JAK3	21.9	56			

	Ta	ble	3.1	. IC ₅₀	values	of	the	ibrutinib	analog	BTKI	-43761.
--	----	-----	-----	--------------------	--------	----	-----	-----------	--------	------	---------

3.4.2 In vitro platelet studies

To prepare washed human platelets, venous blood was drawn from healthy volunteers by venipuncture into sodium citrate in accordance with an Oregon Health & Science University IRB-approved protocol. The blood was centrifuged at $200 \times g$ for 20 minutes to obtain platelet-rich plasma (PRP). Platelets were isolated from PRP via centrifugation at $1000 \times g$ for 10 minutes in the presence of prostacyclin (0.1 µg/ml). The platelets were then resuspended in modified HEPES/Tyrode buffer and washed once via centrifugation at $1000 \times g$ for 10 minutes. Washed platelets were resuspended in modified HEPES/Tyrode buffer to the desired concentration. Static adhesion assays, Western blots, and flow cytometry experiments were performed as previously described.[130, 145]

3.4.3 *Platelet aggregation*

Platelet aggregation studies were performed using 300 μ l of platelets (2 × 10⁸/ml) treated with inhibitors for 10 minutes. Platelet aggregation was triggered by CRP (3 μ g/ml) or thrombin (0.1 U/ml) and monitored under continuous stirring at 1200 rpm at 37°C by measuring changes in light transmission using a PAP-4 aggregometer, as previously described.[130]

3.4.4 Platelet aggregate formation under flow

Sodium citrate-anticoagulated blood was treated with inhibitors as indicated and perfused at 2200 s⁻¹ at 37°C through glass capillary tubes coated with collagen (100 μ g/ml) and surface blocked with denatured BSA to form platelet aggregates, as previously described.[131] Imaging of aggregate formation was performed using Köhler-illuminated Nomarski DIC optics with a Zeiss 400 × 0.75 NE

EC Plan Neofluar lens on a Zeiss Axiocam MRm camera and Slidebook 5.0 software (Intelligent Imaging Innovations, Inc.). Aggregate formation was computed by manually outlining and quantifying platelet aggregates, as previously described.[131]

3.4.5 Non-human primate studies

Non-human primate, male baboons (Papio anubis) were cared for and housed at the Oregon National Primate Research Center (ONPRC) at Oregon Health & Science University. All the experiments described here were reviewed and approved (approval numbers IS00002496 and IS00002092) by the Oregon Health & Science University West Campus Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee according to the "Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals" prepared by the Committee on Care & Use of Laboratory Animals of the Institute of Laboratory Animal Resources, National Research Council (International Standard Book, Number 0-309-05377-3, 1996). The ONPRC is a Category I facility. The Laboratory Animal Care and Use Program at the ONPRC is fully accredited by the American Association for Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care (AAALAC) and has an approved Assurance (#A3304-01) for the care and use of animals on file with the Office for Protection from Research Risks at the National Institutes of Health (NIH).

In order to determine the effect of Btk inhibitors on platelet function *in vivo*, BTKI-43607 and BTKI-43761 were orally administered to individual non-human primates (n = 2) for 3 days at a dose of 10 mg/kg per day, followed by a 5 day rest period. This dose was selected to test the maximal response and potential bleeding risk of these new ibrutinib analogues within the dose range of 1.25-12.5 mg/kg/day used in clinical studies of ibrutinib.[146] At regular intervals, blood was drawn into sodium citrate and platelet-rich plasma (PRP) obtained via centrifugation of whole blood at $200 \times g$ for 8 minutes. Supernatant was removed, and platelet poor plasma (PPP) was obtained by further

45

centrifugation of remaining blood at 5000 × g for 5 minutes. Platelets were counted using a Hemavet HV950 multispecies hematology system. Platelet count in PRP was further adjusted to 2×10^8 /ml with PPP. Platelet aggregations were performed using the agonist CRP (1 and 0.5 µg/ml) in a Chrono-Log aggregometer.

Next, a longer time-course experiment was performed in which BTKI-43607 and BTKI-43761 were orally administered daily to individual non-human primates (*n* = 2) for 10 days at 10 mg/kg per day. Blood was withdrawn at regular intervals and processed as before for platelet aggregation studies. Tests of prothrombin time (PT) and activated partial thromboplastin time (APTT) were also performed on blood samples. To test the effect of the Btk inhibitors on bleeding, a standard template skin bleeding time (BT) assessment was performed using an FDA-approved incision device (Surgicutt; International Technidyne, Edison, NJ) at baseline and within 3 hours of each treatment. Additionally, tourniquet test (capillary resistance test, CRT) studies designed to detect abnormalities in capillary walls or thrombocytopenia were performed. The bleeding side effects have been seen in patients taking ibrutinib.

3.4.6 Statistical Analysis

For flow chamber experiments, data were fitted to the quasi-binomial distribution with the identity link function. For static adhesion and flow cytometry experiments, two-way ANOVA (treatment and donor as factors) was performed, followed by post-hoc analysis with Tukey's test. For all tests, P <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical analyses were performed using R (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).

3.5 Results

3.5.1 Effect of Btk inhibitors on tyrosine phosphorylation in human platelets

Btk has been shown to play a role in the regulation of tyrosine kinase activation downstream of the ITAM-coupled receptor GPVI in human platelets.[21] As seen in Figure 3.1, Btk was rapidly phosphorylated following stimulation of purified platelets with the GPVI agonist collagen related peptide (CRP) in a concentration- and time-dependent manner (Panels A and B, respectively). We next designed experiments to validate the effects of Btk inhibition on signaling downstream of GPVI. Pretreatment of platelets with the selective Src-family kinase inhibitor PP2 abrogated Btk phosphorylation in response to 1 μ g/ml CRP (Figure 3.1C). Pretreatment of platelets with the ibrutinib analogs BTKI-43761 or BTKI-43607 also inhibited Btk phosphorylation in response to 1 μ g/ml CRP (Figure 3.1C). Interestingly, a reduction in Lyn phosphorylation was observed in the presence of BTKI-43761. The level of Syk phosphorylation was unaffected by pretreatment of platelets with 1 μ M BTKI-43607 or BTKI-43761, while Syk phosphorylation was abrogated in the presence of PP2 (data not shown).



Figure 3.1. Tyrosine kinase phosphorylation downstream of GPVI following Btk inhibition. (A) Washed human platelets $(5 \times 10^8/\text{ml})$ were stimulated with varying concentrations of CRP and subsequently lysed and blotted for Btk, phospho-Btk, and phospho-Syk. (B) Washed human platelets were stimulated with 1 µg/ml CRP for increasing amounts of time prior to being lysed and blotted for Btk and phospho-Btk. (C) Washed human platelets were treated with vehicle (DMSO, 0.1%), BTKI-43607 (5 µM), or BTKI-43761 (5 µM), and stimulated with 1 µg/ml CRP for 5 min. Platelets were subsequently lysed and blotted for phosphotyrosine moieties with 4G10 antisera as well as phospho-Btk and phospho-Lyn. The surface marker CD31 served as a loading control. Data are representative of 3-5 experiments.

3.5.2 *Effect of Btk inhibitors on human platelet P-selectin membrane exposure*

Platelet activation results in surface exposure of the transmembrane protein P-selectin, which is stored in the membrane of platelet alpha granules and is translocated to the platelet surface upon alpha granule release.[147] We next examined the effect of Btk inhibition on P-selectin exposure in response to platelet activation with the GPVI agonist CRP. As shown in Figure 3.2, pretreatment of purified platelets with 1, 3 and 10 μ M BTKI-43607 or BTKI-43761 eliminated P-selectin exposure in response to stimulation with 10 μ g/ml CRP, as determined by measuring platelet staining with an anti-P-selectin (CD62P) antibody using flow cytometry. A similar degree of inhibition was observed

in the presence of the Src kinase inhibitor, PP2. In contrast, P-selectin exposure in response to platelet activation with the G-protein-coupled agonist thrombin was unaffected by platelet treatment with 1 or 3 μ M BTKI-43607 or BTKI-43761, while a partial inhibition was observed for 10 μ M BTKI-43761.



Figure 3.2. Platelet P-selectin exposure following Btk inhibition. Platelet surface P-selectin expression analyzed by flow cytometry following treatment with vehicle (DMSO, 0.1%), BTKI-43607 or BTKI-43761 prior to stimulation with CRP (10 μ g/ml) or thrombin (1 U/ml) as indicated. * signifies *p* < 0.05 with respect to vehicle; error bars represent S.E.M.; *n* = 4.

3.5.3 Effect of Btk inhibitors on human platelet spreading on fibrinogen and collagen surfaces

We next examined the role of Btk on the ability of platelets to spread on surfaces of CRP, a GPVIagonist, fibrinogen, which supports platelet spreading via the integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$, or collagen, which supports platelet activation downstream of GPVI and adhesion and spreading via the integrins $\alpha_2\beta_1$ and $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$.[148] As seen in Figure 3.3, treatment of platelets with 10 µM BTKI-43761 inhibited platelet spreading on CRP and on fibrinogen and collagen in the presence of the ADP scavenger apyrase, while BTKI-43607 failed to significantly inhibit platelet spreading on any of the three surfaces. Platelet spreading on both CRP and collagen was inhibited by the Src kinase inhibitor PP2.



Figure 3.3. Platelet spreading following Btk inhibition. Replicate samples of washed human platelets $(2 \times 10^7/\text{ml})$ treated for 10 minutes with vehicle (DMSO, 0.1%), the Src kinase inhibitor PP2 (10 µM), or BTKI-43607 or BTKI-43761 (3 or 10 µM) were allowed to spread on immobilized collagen-related peptide (CRP, 50 µg/ml), fibrinogen (FG, 50 µg/ml) or collagen (100 µg/ml) at 37 °C in the absence or presence of the ADP scavenger apyrase (apy). After 45 min, platelets were fixed, mounted onto slides, and (A) visualized with DIC microscopy. Scale bar = 10 µm. (B-D) The surface area of spread platelets was quantified and reported as mean ± S.E.M.; n = 3; * signifies p < 0.05 with respect to vehicle.

3.5.4 Effect of Btk inhibitors on human platelet aggregate formation under flow

We next examined the role of Btk on platelet adhesion and aggregate formation on collagen under shear flow conditions. Sodium citrate-anticoagulated whole human blood was pretreated with either vehicle (DMSO), BTKI-43607 or BTKI-43761 prior to being perfused over a surface of fibrillar collagen at a shear rate of 2200 sec⁻¹ (representative shear of stenosed arteries) for 4 minutes, fixed, and visualized. The degree of surface area coverage was analyzed for at least 3 fields of view for 3

independent experiments. As seen in Figure 3.4, pretreatment of whole blood with 1 μ M BTKI-43607 or BTKI-43761 significantly reduced the degree of platelet aggregate formation on collagen under shear, as measured by the extent of surface coverage of platelet aggregates, with a reduction of 43% and 17% compared to control, respectively.



Figure 3.4. Platelet aggregate formation under shear following Btk inhibition. Whole blood was treated with vehicle (DMSO, 0.1%), BTKI-43607 (1 μ M) or BTKI-43761 (1 μ M) and perfused at 2200 s⁻¹ through glass capillary tubes coated with collagen (100 μ g/ml) and surface blocked with denatured BSA at 37 °C to form platelet aggregates. (A) Aggregates were visualized with DIC microscopy. Scale bar = 10 μ m. (B) The percent surface area covered by aggregates was computed by outlining and quantifying platelet aggregates over 3 fields of view for each condition. * signifies *p* < 0.05 with respect to vehicle; error bars represent S.E.M.; *n* = 3-4.

3.5.5 *Effect of Btk inhibitors on non-human primate platelet aggregation*

We next investigated the *in vivo* effect of Btk inhibition on non-human primate platelet aggregation. The ibrutinib analogs BTKI-43607 or BTKI-43761 were orally administered to non-human primates for 3 days at a dose of 10 mg/kg per day, followed by a 5 day rest period. Our data demonstrate that
non-human primate platelets exhibited robust aggregation in response to 1 μg/ml CRP prior to administration of BTKI-43607 and BTKI-43761 (Figure 3.5; baseline) along with platelet shape change in response to 0.5 μg/ml CRP (data not shown). A dramatic inhibition of CRP-induced aggregation was observed as early as one hour following administration of either BTKI-43607 or BTKI-43761 (Figure 3.5; Day 0). Platelet aggregation was abrogated within four hours after administration of either BTKI-43607 or BTKI-43761 (Day 0), and platelets failed to aggregate in response to CRP during the three days that the non-human primates received either BTKI-43607 or BTKI-43761 (Day 0-2). While minimal aggregation was observed following two days of rest (Day 4), platelet aggregation was nearly restored to baseline levels by Day 7.



Figure 3.5. Aggregation of non-human primate PRP in the short-term oral dosing study. PRP from non-human primates was stimulated with CRP (1 μ g/ml) and analyzed by Born aggregometry. Representative traces are shown for PRP from non-human primates (n = 2) dosed with BTKI-43607 or BTKI-43761 from the short-term study.

We next performed a time-course experiment in which BTKI-43607 was orally administered daily to the non-human primates for 10 days (10 mg/kg per day), followed by an 11-day non-dosing period, followed by administration of BTKI-43761 for 10 days (10 mg/kg per day). Our data show that prior to administration of either BTKI-43607 or BTKI-43761, a robust degree of platelet aggregation in

PRP was observed in response to 1 μ g/ml CRP (Figure 3.6 and Table 3.2; Day -3), and platelet shape change was observed in response to 0.5 μ g/ml CRP (data not shown). Platelet aggregation and shape change was eliminated in response to 1 μ g/ml or 0.5 μ g/ml CRP, respectively, during the entire time course of treatment with either BTKI-43607 or BTKI-43761 (Figure 3.6, Table 3.2, and data not shown; Day 0, 2, 4, and 9).



Figure 3.6. Aggregation of non-human primate PRP in the long-term oral dosing study. PRP from non-human primates was stimulated with CRP (1 μ g/ml) and analyzed by Born aggregometry. Traces are shown for non-human primate A and B dosed with BTKI-43607 or BTKI-43761 from the long-term study.

Table 3.2. Average vertical drop and percent aggregation of non-human primate PRP in the longterm oral dosing study. Change in optical density from aggregation traces was recorded as vertical drop to quantify the extent of the inhibition of platelet aggregation. PRP was stimulated with CRP (1 μ g/ml) from non-human primates dosed with the ibrutinib analogs BTKI-43607 or BTKI-43761 in the long-term study (*n* = 2).

Drug	Day	Vertical Drop (cm)	S.E.M.	Percent Aggregation	S.E.M.
BTKI-43607	-3	3.85	0.05	100.0	0.0
	0	-0.95	0.15	-24.6	3.6
	2	-0.15	0.15	-3.9	3.9
	4	-1.00	0.10	-26.0	2.9
	9	-1.00	0.10	-25.9	2.3
BTKI-43761	-3	3.85	0.05	100.0	0.0
	0	-1.00	0.20	-25.9	4.9
	2	-1.05	0.15	-27.3	4.3
	4	-0.85	0.05	-22.1	1.0
	9	-0.45	0.15	-11.6	3.7

3.5.6 Effect of Btk inhibitors on bleeding times, capillary fragility, and coagulation in vivo

To test the potential effect of Btk inhibitors on bleeding, a standard template skin bleeding time (BT) assessment was performed using an FDA-approved incision device (Surgicutt; International Technidyne, Edison, NJ) at baseline and within 3 hours of receiving either BTKI-43761 or BTKI-43607. Our data show that neither BTKI-43761 nor BTKI-43607 significantly increased template bleeding times during the 10-day dosing time course (Table 3.3). Moreover, tourniquet test (CRT) studies designed to detect abnormalities in capillary walls or thrombocytopenia were negative. In comparison, studies have shown that treatment of the non-human primates with 1006 µg/kg low molecular weight heparin increased template bleeding times by 1.46-fold over baseline.[100]

Non-Human Primate A										
Drug	Dosing Day	PT (s)	APTT (s)	Bleeding Time (min)	CRT					
-	-3	13.3	39.4	3	Negative					
BTKI-43607 (10 mg/kg)	0	12.6	41.3	3	Negative					
	2	12.5	38.8	3	Negative					
	4	13.0	40.7	4	Negative					
	9	13.8	38.8	3	Negative					
BTKI-43761 (10 mg/kg)	0	12.8	37.5	3	Negative					
	2	12.8	39.8	3	Negative					
	4	12.6	38.7	4	Negative					
	9	12.8	40.5	3	Negative					
Non-Human Primate B										
Drug	Dosing Day	PT (s)	APTT (s)	Bleeding Time (min)	CRT					
-	-3	13.3	38.1	3	Negative					
BTKI-43607 (10 mg/kg)	0	12.9	39.6	3	Negative					
	2	12.5	39.6	3.5	Negative					
	4	12.9	38.5	4	Negative					
	9	12.4	38.3	3	Negative					
BTKI-43761 (10 mg/kg)	0	13.2	37.9	3	Negative					
	2	12.9	40.0	3.5	Negative					
	4	13.1	38.3	3.5	Negative					
	9	13.0	38.6	3.5	Negative					

Table 3.3. PT, APTT, bleeding time, and capillary resistance test results from non-human primates in the long-term oral dosing study.

The effect of Btk inhibitors on coagulation *in vivo* was evaluated by measuring prothrombin time (PT) and activated partial thromboplastin time (APTT). Our data show that neither BTKI-43761 nor BTKI-43607 significantly increased either plasma PT or APTT during the 10-day dosing time course (Table 3.3). In comparison, studies have shown that treatment of the non-human primates with 1300 µg/kg low molecular weight heparin increased APTT by 1.9-fold over baseline.[100]

3.6 Discussion

This study examined the role of the Btk in human platelet function *in vitro* and *in vivo* and nonhuman primate platelet function *in vivo*. The data demonstrate that inhibition of Btk reduced GPVImediated platelet activation, Btk phosphorylation, spreading on fibrinogen, and aggregation under shear flow. First, we confirmed that inhibition of Btk reduced Btk phosphorylation in CRPstimulated human platelets while having no effect on Syk phosphorylation compared to the positive control PP2, confirming that Btk acts downstream of Syk in the GPVI-ITAM signaling cascade. However, BTKI-43761 was also shown to partially inhibit Lyn phosphorylation, suggesting that this ibrutinib analog may have off-target effects on Src, Syk or Tec family kinases. For instance, kinases with a cysteine in the active site, such as Tec, represent possible targets for covalent binding with ibrutinib analogs. Moreover, our kinase screen demonstrated that BTKI-43761 may partially inhibit Fgr, although recent work has shown that Fgr only plays a minor role in platelet signal transduction.[136]

Studies of platelet activation by flow cytometry showed the inhibition of Btk eliminated P-selectin exposure in CRP-stimulated human platelets, supporting the notion that Btk plays a major role in platelet α -granule secretion via the GPVI pathway. These results are supported by early findings that the platelets of Btk-deficient XLA patients inhibited aggregation by CRP or, to a lesser extent, collagen but not thrombin.[135]

To explore platelet activation on immobilized surfaces or fibrinogen or collagen, static adhesion studies were performed. Platelet lamellipodia formation was significantly reduced on CRP, fibrinogen and collagen surfaces in the presence of 10 μ M BKT-43761 and the ADP scavenger apyrase, suggesting that inhibition of Btk has an inhibitory effect on GPVI- and $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ outside-in

signaling, perhaps by inhibiting Btk activation of PLC γ 2 downstream of ITAM signaling initiated by GPVI or activated $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$, respectively.[24] Conversely, when ADP signaling was not blocked, the inhibition of platelet spreading was on fibrinogen and collagen by 10 µM BKT-43761 was reversed, suggesting that platelet activation through GPVI and integrin signaling coupled with ADP signaling via P2Y₁₂/P2Y₁ receptors was able to overcome Btk inhibition under static conditions. This highlights some redundancy within the ITAM- and GPCR-signaling pathways, which has been documented in knock-out mouse studies showing that following platelet activation by collagen, that Tec kinase could partially compensate for Btk deletion under static conditions.[100] These findings are in accord with the recent work by Bye *et al.* demonstrating that ibrutinib inhibited platelet adhesion and spreading on CRP but not collagen under static conditions.[149]

Platelet recruitment and aggregation under shear is mediated by the transient binding of VWF to platelet GPIb-IX-V, enabling the more durable adhesion of $\alpha_2\beta_1$ to collagen and subsequent activation of platelets via GPVI-mediated signaling, followed by platelet $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ -mediated aggregation. Our data show that inhibition of Btk partially reduced platelet aggregate formation on collagen under arterial rates of shear. Studies in Btk knock-out mice have similarly found a VWF- and GPIb-dependent role for Btk signaling in collagen-induced platelet activation under arterial shear,[137] supporting the findings of the current study which utilized human platelets. These results are supported by recent investigations in which the platelet-rich plasma of patients taking the Btk inhibitor ibrutinib exhibited significant reductions in collagen-mediated adhesion and aggregation under arterial shear compared to controls,[143, 144] and studies showing an additive effect of the Btk inhibitor ibrutinib and the P2Y₁₂ inhibitor, cangrelor, in thrombus formation under shear flow.[149]

Finally, a short-term study in non-human primates of the ibrutinib analogs BTKI-43607 and BTKI-43761 revealed a robust inhibition of GVPI agonist-induced aggregation for either inhibitor (10

57

mg/kg) by 4 hours after administration. The impaired aggregation began to recover two days after dosing ceased, with full recovery of aggregation after 5 dose-free days. These data demonstrated that both ibrutinib analogs exhibit strong inhibition of aggregation. A longer trial with non-human primates showed that both BTKI-43607 and BTKI-43761 consistently inhibited GVPI agonistinduced platelet aggregation during a 10-day dosing period. Tests for bleeding, capillary abnormalities, and thrombocytopenia were negative throughout the dosing period for these ibrutinib analogs, revealing no measurable impairment of hemostasis during the study. These findings are in line with findings from the ibrutinib clinical trials, which reported predominantly low-grade bleeding events in humans.[97, 98]

In conclusion, this study demonstrated that inhibition of Btk significantly decreased GPVI-mediated platelet activation, spreading, and aggregation *in vitro* and *in vivo*, which may affect hemostasis in patients. However, bleeding side-effects were not observed in a non-human primate model of template bleeding in this study.

Chapter 4. Heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) regulates platelet integrin activation, granule secretion and aggregation

Rachel A. Rigg, Laura D. Healy, Marie S. Nowak, Jérémy Mallet, Marisa L.D. Thierheimer, Jiaqing Pang, Owen J. T. McCarty, and Joseph E. Aslan

4.1 Abstract

Molecular chaperones that support protein quality control, including heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70), participate in diverse aspects of cellular and physiological function. Recent studies have reported roles for specific chaperone activities in blood platelets in maintaining hemostasis; however, the functions of Hsp70 in platelet physiology remain uninvestigated. Here we characterize roles for Hsp70 activity in platelet activation and function. In vitro biochemical, microscopy, flow cytometry and aggregometry assays of platelet function as well as *ex vivo* analyses of platelet aggregate formation in whole blood under shear were carried out under Hsp70-inhibited conditions. Inhibition of platelet Hsp70 blocked platelet aggregation and granule secretion in response to collagen-related peptide (CRP), which engages the ITAM-bearing collagen receptor GPVI/FcRy complex. Hsp70 inhibition also reduced platelet $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation downstream of GPVI, as Hsp70-inhibited platelets showed reduced PAC-1 and fibrinogen binding. Ex vivo, pharmacological inhibition of Hsp70 in whole human blood prevented the formation of platelet aggregates on collagen under shear. Biochemical studies supported a role for Hsp70 in maintaining the assembly of the LAT signalosome, which couples GPVI-initiated signaling to integrin activation, secretion and platelet function. Together, our results suggest that Hsp70 regulates platelet activation and function by supporting LAT-associated signaling events downstream of platelet GPVI engagement, suggesting a role for Hsp70 in the intracellular organization of signaling systems that mediate platelet secretion,

"inside-out" activation of platelet integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$, platelet-platelet aggregation, and ultimately hemostatic plug and thrombus formation.

> This work was originally published by the American Physiological Society, *American Journal of Physiology: Cell Physiology*. 2016; 310(7):C568-75. Permission is not required by the publisher for this type of use.

4.2 Introduction

Studies in this chapter were designed to investigate the role of heat shock protein 70 in platelet function, given emerging evidence for the importance of other chaperone systems in platelet integrin activation. Here we demonstrate for the first time that Hsp70 coordinates assembly of the LAT signalosome downstream of GPVI activation, a key intermediate step in platelet granule secretion and integrin activation. This reveals a new biological mechanism by which molecular chaperones can modulate platelet function. Furthermore, these results suggest that inhibition of Hsp70 may result in defects in platelet aggregation, of concern for the development of Hsp70 antagonists in cancer and other diseases.

4.3 Background

Heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) is an ATP-powered, 70 kDa molecular chaperone that regulates a myriad of protein quality control processes, including the folding of nascent polypeptides, the trafficking proteins across membranes, the prevention of protein aggregation and protein complex assembly and disassembly.[150-152] Hsp70 is an abundantly expressed and highly-conserved protein with 50% sequence homology between mammals and prokaryotes, highlighting the importance of

Hsp family members in protein homeostasis throughout evolution.[153] In human cells, the significance and complexity of Hsp70 function is evident in the functions of the 13 members of the human Hsp70 family, including the cytosolic, stress-inducible Hsp70 (or Hsp72) and its constitutively expressed cognate Hsc70, the ER-localized Grp78 (or BiP) and the mitochondrial form mtHsp70 (or Grp75/mortalin).[154] These Hsp70 family members regulate diverse cellular processes through an association with over 50 co-chaperones, and the arrangement of co-chaperones with Hsp70 varies across different contexts, allowing for a precise combinatorial control over the activity and specificity of Hsp70.[154, 155]

Platelets serve as the cellular guardians of vascular integrity. Upon exposure to extracellular matrix proteins such as collagen, platelets undergo a carefully orchestrated activation program, resulting in platelet shape changes, secretion, filopodia formation and ultimately platelet-platelet aggregation.[42, 145] Platelet-platelet aggregation is largely mediated by the activation of integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$, which undergoes conformational changes in response to platelet stimulation to bind soluble fibrinogen, bridging platelets to one another to form hemostatic plugs.[156] Chaperone proteins such as protein disulfide isomerase (PDI) Ero1 α , ERp57, and ERp5 have emerging roles in regulating the activities of platelets other hematopoietic cells.[49, 51, 53, 55] However, while both Hsp70 and Hsp90 family members have been identified in platelets,[57-60] specific roles for Hsp70 activity in platelet function and aggregate formation have not been addressed.

Here we investigate the role of Hsp70 in platelet function. We find that platelets express abundant Hsp70 protein and that Hsp70 localizes throughout platelets, while partially colocalizing with other chaperones such as Hsp90 and PDI. *In vitro* and *ex vivo* assays of platelet physiological function point to a role for Hsp70 upstream of "inside-out" activation of integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$, granule secretion and platelet aggregation as well as aggregate formation under shear. Analyses of the intracellular

61

signaling events of platelet activation suggest that Hsp70 has a minimal role in the activation of signaling events that mediate platelet activation, but support a role for Hsp70 in regulating the assembly of LAT signalosome to ensure a proper coordination of platelet signaling, activation and function. Together, our results support roles for Hsp70 chaperone activity in platelet function and aggregation through the regulating the organization of the molecular events of platelet activation upstream of platelet $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation and secretion.

4.4 Materials and Methods

4.4.1 Reagents

All reagents were from Sigma except as noted. VER 155008 and TRAP6 were from Tocris Bioscience, and MKT-077 was from Sigma-Aldrich. Collagen was from Chrono-Log (Havertown, PA). Collagen-related peptide (CRP) was from R. Farndale (Cambridge University, UK). Human fibrinogen was from Enzyme Research. For flow cytometry experiments, CD62E/CD62P-FITC antibody was from Acris Antibodies, PAC-1-FITC antibody was from Beckton Dickinson, Oregon Green-labeled human FG (OG488-FG) was from Invitrogen, and CD61-PE antibody was from R&D Systems. Src pTyr416 (#2101), LAT pTyr171 (#3581), LAT (#9166) and Akt pSer473 (#9271) antibodies were from Cell Signaling, Inc. Hsp70 (sc-24), Hsp90 (sc-101494) and PDI (sc-20132) antibodies were from Santa Cruz Biotechnology. Tubulin (T6199) antibody was from Sigma and 4G10 antibody was from EMD Millipore.

4.4.2 In vitro platelet studies

To prepare washed human platelets, venous blood was drawn from a rotating pool of 18 healthy volunteers by venipuncture into sodium citrate (1:9 v/v) in accordance with an Oregon Health &

Science University IRB-approved protocol, as previously described.[145] Blood was centrifuged at $200 \times g$ for 20 minutes to obtain platelet rich plasma (PRP), and platelets were isolated from PRP by centrifugation at $1000 \times g$ for 10 minutes in the presence of prostacyclin (0.1 µg/ml). Platelets were resuspended in modified HEPES/Tyrode buffer and washed once via centrifugation at $1000 \times g$ for 10 minutes. Washed platelets were resuspended in modified HEPES/Tyrode buffer to the indicated concentration.

4.4.3 *Platelet aggregation*

Aggregation studies were performed using 300 μ l platelets (2 × 10⁸/ml) pre-treated with inhibitors for 10 minutes. Platelet aggregation was initiated by CRP (1 or 3 μ g/ml) and monitored under continuous stirring at 1200 rpm at 37 °C by measuring changes in light transmission using a PAP-4 aggregometer, as previously described.[130]

4.4.4 *Flow cytometry*

Washed human platelets $(2 \times 10^7/\text{ml})$ were pretreated with inhibitors for 10 minutes before stimulation with CRP (10 µg/ml) or thrombin (1 U/ml) for 20 minutes in the presence of CD62P-FITC, PAC-1-FITC, OG488-FG, or CD61-PE. Samples were diluted in HEPES/Tyrode buffer and analyzed by flow cytometry on BD FACSCanto II (Beckton Dickinson). Platelets were gated by forward and side scatter, and activation marker expression was recorded as geometric mean fluorescence. Results were analyzed in Flowing Software.

4.4.5 *Platelet aggregate formation under flow*

Sodium citrate-anticoagulated blood was pre-treated with inhibitors or antibodies for 10 minutes and perfused at 2200 s⁻¹ and 37°C through glass capillary tubes coated with collagen (100 μ g/ml) and surface blocked with denatured BSA to form platelet aggregates, as previously described.[131] Imaging of aggregates was performed using Köhler-illuminated Nomarski DIC optics with a Zeiss 40 × 0.75 NE EC Plan Neofluar lens on a Zeiss Axiocam MRm camera and Slidebook 5.0 software (Intelligent Imaging Innovations, Inc.). Aggregate surface area was computed by manually outlining and quantifying platelet aggregates, as previously described.[131]

4.4.6 *Hsp70 signaling and interaction studies*

For Hsp70 protein association studies, Hsp70-GST and GST proteins were expressed *in vitro* from plasmid encoding GST-tagged human HSPA1A (Genecopoeia, Inc.) or pGEX, as previously described.[157] LAT immunoprecipiations and Western blotting were carried out as previously described[130]

4.4.7 Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA (date and treatment as factors), and post-hoc analysis was performed via Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) test. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant for all tests. Statistical analyses were performed using R (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).

4.5 Results

4.5.1 Hsp70 expression and localization in platelets

To investigate a role for Hsp70 in platelet physiological function, we first examined the relative expression of Hsp70 and Hsp90 proteins in human platelets. Human platelet lysates were separated by gel electrophoresis, transferred to nitrocellulose and analyzed for Hsp70 and Hsp90 expression by Western blot. As seen in Figure 4.1A, human platelets contain abundant Hsp70 protein at levels similar to MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells. Platelets also express Hsp90 protein; however, the ratio of Hsp90 to Hsp70 proteins in platelets was less than in nucleated MDA-MB-231 cells. In eukaryotic cells, Hsp proteins regulate a multitude of functions associated with the maintenance of protein quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum and cytoplasm as well as at specific intracellular membrane systems.[158] Accordingly, we next examined the intracellular localization of Hsp70 and Hsp90 proteins in human platelets adherent to a surface of fibrinogen by fluorescence microscopy. As seen in Figure 4.1B, Hsp70 localized in punctate pattern throughout the platelet cytoplasm, as revealed by co-staining of platelets for Hsp70 and actin. Co-staining of platelet Hsp70 together with Hsp90 revealed partial co-localization of these Hsp chaperone proteins in the organelle- and vesiclerich platelet granulomere while Hsp70 showed a more diffuse localization throughout the platelet cytoplasm as well as the platelet plasma membrane apart from Hsp90 (Figure 4.1C). Co-staining of Hsp70 together with protein disulfide isomerase (PDI), an endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-localized protein chaperone which is enriched in the platelet dense tubular system (DTS),[159] demonstrated minimal co-localization with Hsp70, suggesting that chaperone functions for Hsp70 and PDI are differentially compartmentalized in platelets (Figure 4.1D).

65



Figure 4.1. Hsp70 expression and localization in human platelets. (**A**) Purified human platelets (1 × 10^9 /ml) and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells were lysed directly into Laemmli sample buffer, separated by SDS-PAGE and analyzed for Hsp70 and Hsp90 protein expression by Western blot (WB). Samples were normalized to total α -tubulin content to control for protein loading. (**B**) Replicate samples of washed human platelets (2 × 10^7 /ml) were spread on a surface of fibrinogen before fixation, staining and visualization by differential interference contrast (DIC) and fluorescence microscopy for expression and colocalization of Hsp70 (green) and actin (red), (**C**) Hsp70 (green) and Hsp90 (red) and (**D**) Hsp70 (green) and PDI (red). Scale bar = 10μ m.

4.5.2 *Hsp70 inhibition reduces platelet aggregation and P-selectin exposure*

Upon stimulation with the glycoprotein (GP)VI agonist collagen-related peptide (CRP), platelet Src kinase activation promotes the assembly of the LAT signalosome at the platelet plasma membrane to support intracellular calcium signaling events as well as "inside-out" mediated conformational changes of integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ to, in turn, drive fibrinogen binding, granule secretion and platelet-platelet aggregation.[21] To test the hypothesis that Hsp70 activity has roles in the platelet activation program, we first examined the ability of platelets to aggregate in response to CRP under Hsp70-inhibited conditions. To inhibit Hsp70 activities, we took advantage of two separate pharmacological

inhibitors of Hsp70, VER-155008 and MKT-077 (referred to as VER and MKT hereafter). VER is an adenosine derivative that interacts directly with the ATP binding pocket (NBD) of Hsp, Hsc70, and Grp78 [160-162]. MKT is a rhodacyanine dye that binds mitochondrial Hsp70 (mtHsp70 or mortalin), Hsc70, and Hsp70 at an allosteric site near the ATP binding site (NBD), preventing allosteric communication between the Hsp70 NBD and SBD.[163, 164] As seen in Figure 4.2A, aggregation of washed human platelets in response to stimulation with 1 µg/ml CRP was strongly inhibited by 20 µM MKT or VER (>80% inhibition relative to control); aggregation in response to 3 µg/ml CRP was also inhibited by 20 µM MKT or VER. Conversely, aggregation in response to the thrombin receptor-activating peptide-6 (TRAP-6), which promotes platelet activation through protease activated receptor (PAR)-coupled G_q and G₁₃ pathways independent of ITAM receptor and LAT signalosome-mediated signaling, was not significantly inhibited by 20 µM MKT or VER.



Figure 4.2. Hsp70 inhibitors block platelet aggregation and P-selectin exposure. Replicate samples of washed human platelets (2×108 /ml, n = 3-5), were pretreated with the Src kinase inhibitor PP2 (20μ M), the Hsp70 inhibitors MKT-077 (20μ M) or VER-155008 (20μ M), or vehicle alone (0.1% DMSO) prior to stimulation with (A) 1 µg/ml collagen-related peptide (CRP) or (B) 3 µg/ml CRP and analysis for platelet aggregation by Born aggregometry. Changes in optical density were recorded as a vertical drop and lag times to quantify the extent of platelet aggregation. * indicates p < 0.05. (C) Replicate samples of washed human platelets (2×108 /ml, n = 3-7), were pretreated with the Src kinase inhibitor PP2 (20μ M), the Hsp70 inhibitors MKT-077 (20μ M) or VER-155008 (20μ M) or vehicle alone (0.1% DMSO) prior to stimulation with 10 µg/ml CRP or 1 U/ml thrombin and analysis for P-selectin (CD62P) surface exposure by flow cytometry. * indicates *p* < 0.05.

Platelet activation by CRP initiates the secretion of P-selectin from platelet alpha granules to support platelet aggregate growth and stability through interactions with integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ that also allow for fibrinogen binding and platelet-platelet aggregation.[165] To examine the role of Hsp70 in platelet granule secretion and P-selectin exposure by flow cytometry, washed human platelets were treated with Hsp70 inhibitors before stimulation with CRP or thrombin and labeling with antibodies against P-selectin (CD62P). As seen in Figure 4.2C, MKT or VER (20 μ M) both significantly decreased P-selectin exposure upon stimulation by CRP (55.7 \pm 1.8% and 45.1 \pm 4.2% of control, respectively) but not by thrombin (89.1 \pm 11.2% and 95.4 \pm 13.0% of control, respectively).

4.5.3 Hsp70 inhibition blocks platelet integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation

Next, to specifically examine "inside-out" integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation following Hsp70 inhibition, Hsp70-inhibited platelets were stimulated with CRP before incubation with fluorescently labeled PAC-1 antibodies that bind specifically to activated integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$. As seen in Figure 4.3A, MKT or VER (20 µM) decreased the activation of integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ upon CRP stimulation as indicated by decreased detection of PAC-1 (67.1 ± 7.8% and 7.2 ± 0.7% of control, respectively). Hsp70 inhibition and loss of $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation was associated with a reduced capacity of stimulated platelets to bind to soluble fibrinogen, as measured by flow cytometry analysis of Hsp70-inhibited platelets capacity to bind OG488-labeled fibrinogen (31.7 ± 8.7% and 27.5 ± 6.1% of control, respectively; Figure 4.3B). The reduction in fibrinogen binding following Hsp70 inhibition was not likely the result of a reduced integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ present on the surface of the platelet plasma membrane, as resting integrin β_3 (CD61) surface expression was not significantly changed by treatment with 20 µM MKT or VER (107.1 ± 7.1% and 104.5 ± 8.0% of control, respectively, *n* = 4), as determined by flow cytometry analysis.



Figure 4.3. Inhibition of Hsp70 prevents platelet integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation and fibrinogen binding. Replicate samples of washed human platelets (2 × 10⁸/ml, n = 5), were pretreated with the Src kinase inhibitor PP2 (20 µM), the Hsp70 inhibitors MKT-077 (20 µM) or VER-155008 (20 µM) or vehicle alone (0.1% DMSO) prior to stimulation with 10 µg/ml CRP and flow cytometric analysis for integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation as determined by (**A**) PAC-1 binding or (**B**) fluorescent fibrinogen binding.

4.5.4 Inhibition of Hsp70 dampens platelet aggregate formation under shear

In addition to supporting platelet aggregation in solution, GPVI signaling, integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ "inside-out" activation and fibrinogen binding serve roles in platelet aggregate growth upon surfaces of extracellular matrix proteins under conditions of physiological shear.[166] Accordingly, we next examined platelet aggregate formation on collagen under physiological shear using control and Hsp70-inhibited conditions. Whole, citrated human blood was pretreated with Hsp70 inhibitor before perfusion over a surface of collagen at an arterial shear rate of 2200 sec⁻¹ for 5 min. Adherent cells were fixed, visualized and quantified for surface area. As seen in Figure 4.4, VER (40 μ M), which is bioavailable *in vivo*,[161] reduced aggregate surface area to 42.7 ± 11.4% of control (0.1% DMSO). This *ex vivo* assay of platelet function supports a role for Hsp70 in whole blood in regulating integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ -mediated platelet aggregate formation under shear.



Figure 4.4. *Ex vivo* inhibition of Hsp70 prevents platelet aggregate formation under physiological shear. (A) Whole blood was treated with vehicle (DMSO, 0.1%) or VER-155008 (40 μ M) and perfused at 2200 s⁻¹ at 37°C through capillary tubes coated with collagen (100 μ g/ml) to form platelet aggregates. (B) The percent surface area covered by aggregates was computed by outlining and quantifying platelet aggregates. * signifies *p* < 0.05 with respect to DMSO control; error bars represent S.E.M; *n* = 3; scale bar = 10 μ m.

4.5.5 Hsp70 interacts with and regulates components of the LAT signalosome

The inhibition of integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation and platelet aggregation as well as P-selectin exposure in response to CRP but not PAR agonists under Hsp70-inhibited conditions suggested a role for Hsp70 in the intracellular signaling events that drive platelet activation downstream of GPVI engagement.[21] Accordingly, we next examined the activation of signaling pathways downstream of CRP stimulation in platelets under Hsp70-inhibited conditions. As seen in Figure 4.5A, under control conditions, stimulation of platelets with CRP promoted the activation of Src-mediated tyrosine kinase signaling events, as determined by Western blot for total phosphotyrosine proteins with 4G10 antisera as well as phosphorylated Src, phosphorylated LAT and PLC γ 2 as well as Akt phosphorylation (Figure 4.5B). As expected, the activation of kinase signaling was abolished by preincubation of platelets with the Src kinase inhibitor PP2, which blocks the earliest steps of platelet activation initiated by CRP stimulation (Figure 4.5A, B). However, despite a decrease in platelet integrin activation, aggregation and P-selectin exposure following CRP stimulation (Figure 4.2-Figure 4.3), inhibition of Hsp70 did not significantly affect CRP-stimulated protein tyrosine phosphorylation, Src kinase phosphorylation or Akt activation, while partially inhibiting PLCγ2 phosphorylation (Figure 4.5A, B).



Figure 4.5. Hsp70 interacts with and regulates the organization of the LAT signalosome. (A) Replicate samples of washed human platelets (5 \times 10⁸/ml) were pretreated with the Src kinase inhibitor PP2 (20 µM), the Hsp70 inhibitors VER-155008 (20 µM) and MKT-077 (20 µM) or vehicle alone (0.1% DMSO) for 10 min prior to stimulation with CRP (10 µg/ml, 5 min). Protein tyrosine phosphorylation was analyzed by Western blot (WB) using 4G10 antisera. Protein molecular weight markers (MW) are shown. (B) Phosphorylation of Src kinase pTyr416 (pSrc), LAT pTyr171 (pLAT), PLCγ2 pTyr759 (pPLC γ 2) and Akt pSer473 (pAkt) was also examined. α -tubulin levels serve as a control for equal protein loading. (C) Recombinant GST protein (1 µg) or Hsp70-GST protein (1 µg) pre-loaded with 10 µM ADP or 10 µM ATP was incubated with basal and CRP-stimulated platelet lysates prior to protein capture with glutathione sepharose and Western blot (WB) analysis for co-captured Vav1, PLC γ 2 and Hsp90. Coomassie staining confirmed efficient pull-down of GST and Hsp70-GST proteins. (D) Platelets $(5 \times 10^8/\text{ml})$ were pretreated with PP2 (20 μ M), VER-155008 (20 μ M), MKT-077 (20 μ M) or vehicle alone (0.1% DMSO) prior to stimulation with CRP (10 µg/ml, 5 min) and lysis into IP buffer. LAT immunoprecipitates (IP) were examined for capture of total (LAT) and phosphorylated LAT (pLAT) protein as well as coprecipitating PLCy2 and Vav1 by Western blot (WB). Representative signaling, protein capture and LAT immunoprecipitation results are representative of three experiments.

Like inhibition of Hsp70, genetic deletion of the Linker for Activation of T cells (LAT)-a

scaffolding protein that organizes functional interactions amongst key mediators of platelet activation

downstream of ITAM receptor stimulation, including SLP-76, Vav1/3 and PLC γ 2—has limited effects on tyrosine kinase activation and protein phosphorylation downstream of GPVI engagement.[167] LAT deletion also disrupts the organization of PLC γ 2 mediated signaling requisite for platelet integrin activation, aggregation and granule secretion.[168, 169] Given the diverse roles for Hsp70 in protein complex assembly in a number of intracellular signaling processes,[73] particularly at the intracellular surface of the plasma membrane,[72] we next examined the ability of ADP- and ATP-loaded Hsp70 to interact with components of the LAT signalosome from resting and activated platelets *in vitro*. As seen in Figure 4.5C, under ATP-loaded conditions, immobilized GST-Hsp70 supported the capture of LAT signalosome components including Vav1 and PLC γ 2, from CRP-stimulated platelet lysates (Figure 4.5C). As a positive control, ATP-loaded Hsp70 also supported the capture of Hsp90 from platelet lysates (Figure 4.5C).

Next, to examine roles for Hsp70 activity in LAT signalosome organization and platelet function, we immunoprecipitated endogenous LAT from resting and CRP-activated platelets under control and Hsp70-inhibited conditions and monitored the co-precipitation of LAT signalosome associated proteins (Figure 4.5D). Western blot analyses of LAT immunoprecipitates confirmed that LAT readily immunoprecipitated from platelet lysates (Figure 4.5D). In agreement with signaling studies (Figure 4.5A), stimulation of platelets with CRP prior to lysis and LAT immunoprecipitation upregulated the phosphorylation of immunocaptured LAT, which was inhibited in the presence of PP2 but not Hsp70 inhibitors VER and MKT (Figure 4.5D). Notably, PLC γ 2, which co-precipitated with LAT under resting as well as CRP-stimulated conditions, did not associate with LAT in the presence of Hsp70 inhibitors VER or MKT. Hsp70 inhibition similarly prevented the detectable interaction of LAT with Vav1, which associates with the LAT signalosome to regulate PLC γ 2 activation and platelet aggregation [170]. Together, these results suggest that in platelets, Hsp70

activity has a role in organizing and maintaining the assembly of the LAT signalosome independent of the activation of tyrosine kinases that signal the initiation and progression of the platelet activation program in response to CRP.

4.6 Discussion

Here we report a role for the molecular chaperone Hsp70 in platelet function. Physiological, biochemical and flow cytometry experiments highlighted a role for Hsp70 in platelet integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation, granule secretion and aggregation, as two distinct Hsp70 inhibitors both reduced CRPinduced PAC-1 or fluorescent fibrinogen binding as well as P-selectin surface exposure and platelet aggregation. Hsp70 inhibition also prevented platelet aggregate formation in an *ex vivo* model of blood flow under arterial shear, demonstrating an inhibitory effect under physiological shear in addition to static conditions. Together with intracellular signaling and protein complex studies of the LAT signalosome, our results suggest that following the activation of ITAM-bearing receptor systems in platelets, Hsp70 helps to organize intracellular molecular processes that orchestrate "inside-out" integrin activation as well as secretion events that drive platelet-platelet aggregation.

Previous studies have alluded to roles for Hsp70 as well as Hsp90 family members in platelet function. Phosphorylated Hsc70 associates with Hsp90 and protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) in resting platelets and dissociates from this complex upon platelet activation by collagen but not thrombin.[60] Inhibition of Hsp90 reduces the trafficking of the ATP-gated ion channel P2X1 to the platelet surface and also interferes with P2X1 calcium channel gating, reducing receptor responsiveness to ATP.[171] Grp94, the ER paralog of Hsp90, assists in folding and assembly of the platelet glycoprotein Ib-IX-V complex, the receptor for von Willebrand factor (vWF)-mediated platelet adhesion and activation.[59] In this study, we identified a role for Hsp70 in platelet activation and

74

aggregation associated with the "inside-out" activation of integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$. While inhibition of Hsp70 did not limit the localization of integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ on the platelet surface, Hsp70 inhibition abrogated platelet functional responses associated with "inside-out" integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation, notably platelet aggregation as well as granule secretion (Figure 4.2) and platelet aggregate formation under physiological shear (Figure 4.4).

Despite the inability of platelets to fully activate integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ and aggregate in response to CRP stimulation under Hsp70-inhibited conditions (Figure 4.2 and Figure 4.3), the intracellular signaling systems that support these processes appear to activate normally (Figure 4.5A), suggesting potential organizational defects in the molecular events of platelet activation when Hsp70 is inhibited. As the effects of Hsp70 inhibition phenocopy those reported for genetic deletion of LAT in platelets, [167] we examined roles for Hsp70 in the assembly and organization of LAT signalosome. Following activation of ITAM-bearing receptors such as GPVI/FcRy and CLEC-2, tyrosine phosphorylation of LAT organizes a complex of key mediators of platelet activation, most notably PLC γ 2, as well as Vav1, SLP-76, Btk/Tec, Grb2 and Gads [172] to support platelet granule secretion, integrin activation and platelet aggregation.[167, 173] We found that recombinant, ATP-loaded Hsp70 captured Vav1 and PLCy2 from CRP-stimulated platelet lysates (Figure 4.5C). Immunoprecipitation of endogenous LAT from resting and CRP-activated platelets revealed that Hsp70 inhibition blocked the association of PLC γ 2 as well as Vav1 from LAT but had no effect on LAT phosphorylation (Figure 4.5D). To date, there have been no reports of chaperone activities in the regulation of LATassociated signaling and cellular physiological function. However, Vav1, a component of the LAT signalosome, associates with and is regulated by Hsc70 in tumor cells.[174] Also, the Hsp70 cochaperone BAG-3 helps to regulate phospholipase protein signaling downstream of EGF receptor activation.[175, 176] While BAG proteins have not yet been examined for roles in platelet

physiology, proteomics studies have reported the expression of a number of BAG family members in platelets.[64]

In addition to the heat shock protein family members, oxidoreductase chaperones have emerging roles in platelet activation and thrombotic function. Protein disulfide isomerase (PDI) and two of its homologs (ERp5 and ERp57) have been found to be released from endothelial cells and platelets, with endothelial PDI being essential for thrombus formation and platelet PDI essential for thrombus growth.[53] Extracellular PDI, ERp5, ERp57, and the endoplasmic reticulum oxidoreductase Ero1a have been found to regulate the active conformation of integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$, and blocking these thiol isomerases inhibits activation of $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$.[49-52] Like the oxidoreductase chaperones PDI, ERp5, ERp57, and Ero1a, our results show a role for Hsp70 chaperone activity in integrin activation, suggesting that chaperones in addition to thiol isomerases may regulate platelet integrin conformational changes and activation. While our data support a role for intracellular Hsp70 in the regulation platelet secretion as well as integrin activation, we cannot exclude a role for extracellular Hsp70 in supporting platelet integrin activation, fibrinogen binding and thrombus formation. Indeed, while Hsp70 is primarily present intracellularly, under activating conditions Hsp70 can translocate to the cell surface and is also secreted from exosomes.[177, 178] Extracellular Hsp70 binds toll-like receptors (TLRs) and other surface receptors on neighboring macrophages, monocytes, neutrophils or dendritic cells, which initiates an inflammatory response through activation of the NFkB and MAP kinase (MAPK) pathways.[179-184] A hypothetical role for extracellular Hsp70 activity is also supported by work in other cell models showing that Hsp70 associates with integrins, [71] that the Hsp70 family member Grp78/BiP and PDI cooperate to carry out chaperone activities, [70] and that the cytosolic Hsp70 member Hsc70 associates with PDI and Erp57 in endothelial cell lipid rafts to facilitate integrin activation.[60, 70]

76

Apart from specific platelet-based functions, Hsp70 has hypothesized roles in cardiovascular health that may be linked to platelet physiology. Circulating Hsp70 has a role in vascular calcification in patients with atherosclerosis.[113] Cardioprotective roles have also been shown for circulating Hsp70, suggesting that higher levels of Hsp70 in hypertensive individuals can mitigate the development of atherosclerosis, potentially through inflammatory functions mediated by Hsp70.[185] Furthermore, intracellular Hsp70 has been shown to exert a cardioprotective effect through association with integrin-linked kinase (ILK) in cardiomyocytes.[107] While platelet ILK has a role in integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation and thrombus growth,[186] specific connections between ILK and Hsp70 in platelets have not yet been investigated. Surface Grp78 in platelets was also found to have an atheroprotective role through binding and inactivation of tissue factor.[58] The contrasting effects of circulating and intracellular Hsp70 suggest that Hsp70 plays diverse roles in circulatory cell function in a manner related to the cardiovascular and inflammatory state of the patient or experimental subject in question.

In conclusion, this study finds a role for Hsp70 activity in platelet hemostatic function associated with the regulation of integrin activation and granule secretion following stimulation of platelet ITAM receptors. Our data suggest that Hsp70 activity ensures the proper molecular organization of intracellular mediators of the platelet activation program around the LAT signalosome, including Vav1 and PLC γ 2, which support activation of integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ and granule secretion to mediate platelet aggregation and aggregate formation under shear. Given the emerging roles of molecular chaperones in the regulation of cellular signaling pathways and cellular physiology, Hsp70 associated activities represent an interesting topic of investigation for future studies of physiological and pathological processes that impact platelet activation in normal physiology and disease states.

77

Chapter 5. Protease-activated receptor 4 (PAR4) activity promotes platelet granule release and platelet-leukocyte interactions

Rachel A. Rigg, Laura D. Healy, Tiffany T. Chu, Anh T. P. Ngo, Annachiara Mitrugno, Jevgenia Zilberman-Rudenko, Joseph E. Aslan, Monica T. Hinds, Lisa Dirling Vecchiarelli, Terry K. Morgan, András Gruber, Kayla J. Temple, Craig W. Lindsley, Matthew T. Duvernay, Heidi E. Hamm, and Owen J. T. McCarty

5.1 Abstract

Human platelets express two protease-activated receptors, PAR1 (F2R) and PAR4 (F2RL3), which are activated by a number of serine proteases that are generated during pathological events and cause platelet activation. Recent interest has focused on PAR4 as a therapeutic target, given PAR4 seems to promote experimental thrombosis and procoagulant microparticle formation, without a broadly apparent role in hemostasis. However, it is not yet known whether PAR4 activity plays a role in platelet-leukocyte interactions, which are thought to contribute to both thrombosis and acute or chronic thrombo-inflammatory processes. We sought to determine whether PAR4 activity contributes to granule secretion from activated platelets and platelet-leukocyte interactions. We performed *in vitro* and *ex vivo* studies of platelet granule release and platelet-leukocyte interactions in the presence of PAR4 agonists including PAR4 activating peptide, thrombin, cathepsin G, and plasmin in combination with small-molecule PAR4 antagonists. Activation of human platelets with thrombin, cathepsin G, or plasmin potentiated platelet dense granule secretion that was specifically impaired by PAR4 inhibitors. Platelet-leukocyte interactions and platelet P-selectin exposure following stimulation with PAR4 agonists were also impaired by activated PAR4 inhibition in either a purified system or in whole blood. These results indicate PAR4-specific promotion of platelet granule release

and platelet-leukocyte aggregate formation and suggest that pharmacological control of PAR4 activity could potentially attenuate platelet granule release or platelet-leukocyte interaction-mediated pathological processes.

This work has been accepted for publication in *Platelets*, 2017.

5.2 Introduction

Studies in this chapter examine the activity of protease-activated receptor 4 (PAR4) in platelet granule release and platelet-leukocyte interactions. PAR4 is an emerging target in the treatment of thrombotic disease, with PAR4 antagonists showing efficacy in animal studies of thrombosis with minimal bleeding side effects. However, less is known about PAR4 activity in inflammation, which drives platelet-leukocyte interactions. Here we demonstrate that PAR4 inhibition impairs platelet granule release and platelet-leukocyte interactions in purified systems and in whole blood. These results show that PAR4 activity contributes to platelet functions beyond hemostasis, suggesting alternative applications for PAR4 antagonists in inflammatory disease treatment.

5.3 Background

Platelets become activated upon vessel injury or inflammation by serine proteases such as thrombin that cleave platelet protease-activated receptors (PARs) and initiate intracellular signaling pathways. Human platelets express PAR1 and PAR4, G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) that are activated by proteolytic cleavage of an N-terminal site to reveal a tethered ligand that binds the receptor itself and initiates intracellular G-protein signaling.[187] PAR1 and PAR4 activation of G proteins leads to signaling cascades causing release of calcium stores, secretion of dense granule contents, and platelet shape change, culminating in platelet activation, adhesion, and aggregation.

Structural differences between PAR1 and PAR4 result in differing outputs in platelet function. PAR1 contains a negatively-charged N-terminal sequence that binds the anion-binding exosite I of thrombin, [188] which allosterically enhances thrombin's activity and enables it to activate both PAR1 and PAR4 while tethered to PAR1. PAR4 lacks this thrombin binding sequence, and higher concentrations of thrombin are required to activate PAR4 compared to PAR1.[189] Thrombin binds PAR1 transiently, causing robust platelet activation that is carefully constrained by rapid phosphorylation, internalization and degradation of the receptor. [190] PAR4 is also internalized to terminate its activity, but this internalization occurs via a different route than that of PAR1, in a manner hypothesized to enable prolonged signaling.[191] These differences in PAR4 result in a response to thrombin that is slower but more sustained over time, with varying functional effects, including described roles in enhancing clot stability and procoagulant microparticle release that suggest a more pro-thrombotic effect of platelet PAR4 activity.[126, 192] Moreover, platelet PAR4 plays a described role in the activation of PKC substrates, which are required for platelet dense granule release.[126] Release of platelet dense granule contents, which include a variety of biologically active molecules, is a physiologically important phenomenon, [84] but it has also been implicated in the pathomechanism of certain diseases.[193, 194]

PAR1 and PAR4 are cleaved by overlapping but distinct sets of proteases, leading to diverse functional outputs. PAR1 is known to be cleaved at its canonical N-terminal site (R^{41}/S^{42}) by thrombin, factor Xa, plasmin, and MMP1/13, and it also can be cleaved at different noncanonical sites by elastase, APC, and proteinase-3.[195] Meanwhile, PAR4 is known to be cleaved only at its canonical site (R^{47}/G^{48}) by thrombin, trypsin, tissue kallikrein, plasmin, and cathepsin G.[196-199]

80

Given the unique role of neutrophil cathepsin G in cleavage of PAR4, this suggests involvement of PAR4 in facilitating interactions between platelets and leukocytes, including neutrophils, a subset of granulocytes, and monocytes, a subset of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). Platelet-leukocyte interactions increase during pathological conditions such as atherosclerosis and may detrimentally affect disease outcomes.[2, 200]

In addition to observations that the neutrophil releasate cathepsin G activates platelets via PAR4 cleavage, studies have shown that PAR4 activity promotes leukocyte recruitment in animal models of inflammation and pain.[201] Current interest is focused on PAR4 as a potential target against thrombosis, with the PAR4 inhibitor BMS-986120 showing promise in animal models of thrombosis as well as a completed phase 2 clinical trial in combination with aspirin for the prevention of recurrent stroke.[47, 128] However, investigations into the role of PAR4 activity on human platelet-leukocyte interactions are lacking. Therefore, in this study, we investigated the effect of PAR4 activity on platelet dense granule release and platelet-leukocyte interactions to interrogate the potential role of platelet PAR4 in inflammation and innate immunity.

5.4 Materials and Methods

5.4.1 Reagents

Activated PAR4 antagonists were synthesized, characterized, dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), and stored refrigerated as described previously.[202] Structure and characterization of PAR4 antagonists are described in Figure 5.1 and Figure 5.2. All other reagents were from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA), unless stated otherwise. Hanks' Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) was from Corning cellgro (Manassas, VA, USA). Polymorphprep was from Axis-Shield (Oslo, Norway). PGI₂ and the PAR1 inhibitor SCH 79797 were from Cayman Chemical (Ann Arbor, MI, USA).

Collagen-related peptide (CRP) was from R. Farndale (Cambridge University, UK). TRAP-6 (SFLLRN-NH₂) was obtained from Tocris (Bristol, UK). PPACK (D-Phe-Pro-Argchloromethylketone) and RBC Lysis Buffer were from Santa Cruz (Dallas, TX, USA). PAR4 activating peptide (AYPGKF-NH₂) was from Abgent (San Diego, CA, USA). Human α-thrombin and human plasmin were from Haematologic Technologies (Essex Junction, VT, USA). Human cathepsin G was from Innovative Research (Novi, MI, USA). For human flow cytometry studies, anti-CD66b-PE and anti-CD14-PE/Cy7 were from BD Biosciences (Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA), and anti-CD41-FITC was from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA). For nonhuman primate flow cytometry studies, anti-CD41-FITC was from Invitrogen, and anti-CD62P-PE and anti-CD45-APC were from BD Biosciences. Chronolume detection agent was from Chrono-Log Corporation (Havertown, PA, USA).

5.4.2 *Platelet preparation*

Venous blood was obtained from healthy volunteers in accordance with an Oregon Health & Science University (OHSU) IRB-approved protocol. No demographic data was collected on volunteers. For washed platelet preparation, blood was drawn into 3.8% trisodium citrate 9:1 (v:v), and acid-citrate dextrose (ACD) was added at 1:10 (v:v). Platelet-rich plasma (PRP) was isolated by centrifugation at 200 *g* for 20 minutes, and platelets were separated from PRP at 1000 *g* for 10 minutes in the presence of prostacyclin (0.1 μ g/ml). Platelets were resuspended in modified HEPES/Tyrode buffer (129 mM NaCl, 0.34 mM Na₂HPO4, 2.9 mM KCl, 12 mM NaHCO₃, 20 mM HEPES, 1 mM MgCl₂, pH 7.3, supplemented with 5 mM glucose), washed by centrifugation at 1000 *g* for 10 minutes, and resuspended again in modified HEPES/Tyrode buffer to the specified platelet count. Of note, exogenous CaCl₂ was not added to any of the assays.

5.4.3 Platelet dense granule secretion assay

Platelet dense granule secretion was measured as luminescence in an ATP-luciferin-luciferase reaction, as previously described.[203] Briefly, washed platelets $(20 \times 10^7/\text{ml}; 70 \,\mu\text{l})$ were incubated in a white, flat bottom Corning 96-well plate with 10 μ l inhibitor or vehicle (1% DMSO) for 15 minutes at 37 °C with orbital shaking. Agonists (10 μ l) were added and incubation continued for an additional 10 minutes. Finally, 10 μ l Chronolume detection agent was added and luminescence measured on an Infinite M200 spectrophotometer (TECAN, Switzerland).

5.4.4 *Granulocyte preparation*

Human granulocytes were isolated as previously described, [129] with minor modifications. Venous blood was drawn in accordance with an OHSU IRB-approved protocol at 7:1 (v:v) into citrate phosphate dextrose (CPD). Blood was layered onto an equal volume of Polymorphprep and centrifuged at 500 g for 45 min, and the middle layer containing granulocytes was removed and washed in Hanks' Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) at 400 g for 10 minutes at 19 °C. The pellet was resuspended in cold sterile H₂O for 30 seconds to lyse remaining red blood cells, followed by dilution in 10× PIPES buffer (250 mM PIPES, 1.1 mM CaCl₂, 50 mM KCl, pH 7.4) and HBSS buffer and centrifugation at 400 g for 10 minutes at 19 °C. The granulocyte pellet was resuspended in HBSS buffer to the specified cell count.

5.4.5 *Flow cytometry – platelets and granulocytes*

Isolated platelets and granulocytes from the same donor were prepared as described above and combined in equal volume to a final concentration of 2×10^6 /ml granulocytes and 20×10^7 /ml platelets (1:100) and incubated with inhibitor or vehicle (0.2% DMSO) for 15 minutes at 37 °C.

Treated cells (60 µl) were added to FACS tubes containing 20 µl antibody and agonist mixtures and incubated at room temperature 20 minutes. Antibody dilutions were 1:50 for anti-CD41, 1:80 for anti-CD62P, and 1:400 for anti-CD66b. Samples were fixed in BD Cytofix and modified HEPES/Tyrode buffer (1% PFA final) for 10 minutes before dilution to 300 µl in PBS containing 0.5% fatty acid-free bovine serum albumin (BSA). Samples were collected for 30 seconds at medium flow rate in a BD FACSCantoII and analyzed on FlowJo software v. 10.2 (Ashland, OR).

5.4.6 *Flow cytometry – whole blood*

We developed a whole blood flow cytometry assay based on several approaches.[204, 205] Venous blood from healthy volunteers under an OHSU IRB-approved protocol was drawn 9:1 (v:v) into 3.8% trisodium citrate containing PPACK (50 μ M final) and subsequently diluted 1:1 (v:v) in PBS. Blood was incubated with inhibitor or vehicle (0.2% DMSO) for 15 minutes at room temperature. Treated blood (60 μ l) was added to FACS tubes containing 20 μ l of antibody and agonist mixture and incubated 20 minutes at room temperature. Antibody dilutions were 1:80 for anti-CD41 and anti-CD62P, 1:200 for anti-CD66b, and 1:400 for anti-CD14. Samples were fixed and red blood cells lysed in a mixture of BD Cytofix (1% PFA final) and RBC Lysis Buffer (0.67× final) in PBS for 10 minutes before dilution to 300 μ l in RBC lysis buffer in PBS (1× final). Samples were collected for 60 seconds at low flow rate in a BD FACSCantoII and analyzed on FlowJo software v. 10.2 (Ashland, OR).

5.4.7 *Electron microscopy*

Isolated platelets and granulocytes from the same donor were prepared as described above and combined in equal volume to a final concentration of 2×10^6 /ml granulocytes and 20×10^7 /ml platelets (1:100) and incubated with agonist for 10 minutes at 37 °C. The sample was then

centrifuged at 2500 *g* for 15 minutes, the pellet was fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde, and sections were prepared using standard methods in the OHSU Department of Pathology Electron Microscopy Research Laboratory, similar to previous studies demonstrating neutrophil-platelet adhesion.[206]

5.4.8 Nonhuman primate studies

Male baboons (*Papio anubis*) were housed and cared for at the OHSU Oregon National Primate Research Center (ONPRC), a Category I facility. All experiments described herein were approved by the OHSU West Campus Animal Care and Use Committee according to the *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals* by the Committee on Care and Use of Laboratory Animals of the Institute of Laboratory Animal Resources, National Research Council (ISBN 0-309-05377-3, 1996). The Laboratory Animal Care and Use Program at the ONPRC is fully accredited by the American Association for Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care and has an approved assurance (no. A3304-01) for the care and use of animals from the Office for Protection from Research Risks at the National Institutes of Health.

For whole blood flow cytometry experiments in nonhuman primates, methods were similar to the human experiments, with a few modifications. Venous baboon blood was drawn 9:1 (v:v) into 3.8% trisodium citrate containing PPACK (50 μ M final) and subsequently diluted 1:1 (v:v) in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Blood was incubated with inhibitor or vehicle (0.2% DMSO) for 15 minutes at room temperature. Treated blood (60 μ l) was added to FACS tubes containing 20 μ l of antibody mixture and incubated 20 minutes at room temperature. Antibody dilutions were 1:80 for anti-CD41, 1:50 for anti-CD62P and 1:300 for anti-CD45. Samples were fixed and red blood cells lysed in a mixture of BD Cytofix (1% PFA final) and RBC Lysis Buffer (0.67× final) in PBS for 10 minutes

before dilution to 300 μ l in RBC lysis buffer in PBS (1× final). Samples were collected for 30 seconds at low flow rate in a BD LSR II and analyzed on FlowJo software v. 10.2 (Ashland, OR).

5.4.9 Data analysis

Data in bar graphs have been normalized to vehicle (with agonist) to facilitate comparison of inhibitor treatments across agonist conditions. For statistical analysis, a one-way ANOVA was employed with post-hoc analysis using the Dunnett test to compare treatments to vehicle. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Analysis was performed in GraphPad Prism software v. 6 (La Jolla, CA).

5.5 Results

5.5.1 *PAR4 activity potentiates platelet dense granule secretion*

Platelet dense granules store a number of immunomodulatory molecules such as ADP, serotonin, glutamate, and polyphosphates, and dense granule secretion has been implicated in the proinflammatory recruitment of leukocytes and vascular remodeling in the progression of atherosclerosis.[109, 193, 207] Dense granule secretion follows PAR1- and PAR4-mediated activation of protein kinase C (PKC),[208] but PAR4 has been shown to activate PKC substrates more robustly than PAR1, suggesting a greater role for PAR4 in dense granule secretion.[126] To test whether PAR4 plays a distinct role in platelet dense granule release, we performed a luminescent ATP-luciferin-luciferase assay on washed human platelets stimulated with PAR4 activating peptide (AP, AYPGKF-NH₂), α-thrombin, or two other activators of PAR4, neutrophil cathepsin G and plasmin, which are proteases involved in inflammation and fibrinolysis, respectively. For comparison, platelets were stimulated with the PAR1 activating peptide TRAP-6 or the platelet GPVI

receptor agonist CRP. In select experiments, platelets were pre-incubated with either the PAR1 inhibitor SCH 79797 (CAS # 1216720-69-2) or one of two small-molecule PAR4 antagonists, VU0652925, an analogue of BMS-986120, and VU0661245, an intermediate generated in an effort to define the minimum pharmacophore of VU0652925 (structures shown in Figure 5.1).[202]





VU0652925



Figure 5.1. Structures of PAR4 antagonists VU0661245 and VU0652925.

Characterization studies show that both PAR4 antagonists inhibit PAR4 activity by either PAR-4 AP or the PAR4 tethered ligand generated by thrombin. However, at higher thrombin concentrations (316 nM γ -thrombin), VU0652925 inhibits platelet activation more potently than VU0661245, as shown in Figure 5.2.


Figure 5.2. Inhibition of thrombin-mediated platelet activation by PAR4 antagonists VU0652925 and VU0661245. Platelets were pre-treated with increasing concentrations (shown in log scale) of VU0652925 or VU0661245 for 20 minutes before activation with 100 nM or 316 nM γ -thrombin. Platelet activation was measured as integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ inside-out activation (PAC1 expression) by flow cytometry. Data are normalized to vehicle control and displayed as means ± S.E.M.; n = 3.

In the dense granule release assay, either VU0652925 or VU0661245 blocked dense granule release by PAR4 AP, while the PAR1 inhibitor SCH 79797 had no effect (Figure 5.3A). Conversely, dense granule release by the PAR1 agonist TRAP-6 was blocked by SCH 79797 but not by either PAR4 inhibitor (Figure 5.3B). Dense granule release in response to a moderately high concentration of α thrombin (5 nM, 0.7 U/ml) was partially blocked by the PAR4 inhibitor VU062925 but not by the PAR1 inhibitor SCH 79797, while VU0652925 and SCH 79797 combined together caused full blockage of dense granule release (Figure 5.3C). When platelets were stimulated by cathepsin G, VU0652925 completely blocked dense granule secretion, while the PAR1 inhibitor SCH 79797 did not provide any inhibition either alone or in combination with either PAR4 inhibitor (Figure 5.3D). Upon stimulation with plasmin, either PAR4 inhibitor blocked dense granule release, while SCH 79797 had no effect, either alone or in combination with a PAR4 inhibitor (Figure 5.3E). This suggests these potentially inflammatory and profibrinolytic proteases, cathepsin G and plasmin, facilitate platelet dense granule release through cleavage of PAR4 but not PAR1. Finally, none of the PAR4 or PAR1 inhibitors blocked dense granule release by collagen-related peptide (CRP), suggesting no involvement in signaling downstream of the collagen receptor GPVI (Figure 5.3F).



Figure 5.3. PAR4 inhibitors impair platelet dense granule release. Washed human platelets (20 × 10⁷/ml) were pretreated with the PAR1 inhibitor SCH 79797 (3 μM), PAR4 inhibitors VU0652925 (10 μM) and VU0661245 (10 μM), Src kinase inhibitor PP2 (10 μM, only shown in CRP condition), or vehicle (0.2% DMSO), then stimulated with the agonists (A) PAR4 AP (activating peptide, 200 μM), (B) TRAP-6 (20 μM), (C) human α-thrombin (5 nM = 0.7 U/ml), (D) human cathepsin G (340 nM = 0.1 U/ml), (E) human plasmin (260 nM = 0.3 U/ml), or (F) CRP (10 μg/ml) and assessed for dense granule release by luminescent ATP assay. Basal = no agonist; *n* = 3-6 independent experiments; * designates *p* < 0.05 versus vehicle.

Platelet dense granule secretion has been linked to platelet-leukocyte interactions, which are a marker of inflammation and hypothesized to prime leukocyte-endothelial interactions underlying the progression of disease states such as atherosclerosis.[193, 200] Given our results demonstrating the role of PAR4 in facilitating dense granule release via plasmin and cathepsin G, we next investigated whether PAR4 also promotes platelet-leukocyte interactions. Isolated platelets and granulocytes from the same donor were combined, pre-incubated with inhibitors, and stimulated with agonists before analysis. Ultrastructural interactions between activated platelets and neutrophils were observed by electron microscopy (Figure 5.4).



Figure 5.4. Ultrastructural analysis of granulocyte-platelet interactions from purified isolates. Washed human platelets $(20 \times 10^7/\text{ml})$ and purified granulocytes $(2 \times 10^6/\text{ml})$ from the same donor were combined and activated with human α -thrombin (5 nM = 0.7 U/ml) before preparation for electron microscopy. Granulocytes were identified by characteristic ultrastructural features. (A-B) Platelets (arrows) are shown interacting with one granulocyte in each image. Interactions show characteristic molding of surface morphology and cohesion. Scale bar for each panel = 1 µm.

Platelet-neutrophil interactions were analyzed via flow cytometry (Figure 5.5) as expression of the platelet marker CD41 in the granulocyte gate (Figure 5.5C). Platelet-granulocyte interactions were

diminished by PAR4 inhibitors upon stimulation with PAR4 AP (AYPGKF-NH₂), while SCH 79797 had no effect. Platelet-granulocyte interactions following platelet activation with TRAP-6 were blocked by the PAR1 inhibitor SCH 79797 but not either PAR4 inhibitor. Following stimulation by 5 nM α -thrombin, platelet-granulocyte interactions were not significantly impaired by PAR4 or PAR1 inhibitors. When stimulated by cathepsin G, platelet-granulocyte interactions did not increase above the baseline level; the presence of either PAR4 or PAR1 inhibitors had no effect on plateletgranulocyte interactions in the presence of cathepsin G. Meanwhile, platelet-granulocyte interactions stimulated by plasmin were blocked by VU0652925 but not VU0661245 or SCH 79797. Finally, PAR4 or PAR1 inhibitors did not impair platelet-granulocyte interactions induced by the GPVI agonist CRP. These results were recapitulated for the activation state of platelets bound to granulocytes, as quantified by P-selectin (CD62P) surface exposure in the granulocyte gate (Figure 5.5D), except for in the cathepsin G stimulated condition, in which VU0652925 impaired activated platelet-granulocyte interactions. Finally, platelet activation via a-granule release was measured as Pselectin (CD62P) exposure in the platelet gate (Figure 5.5E). P-selectin exposure following stimulation by PAR4 AP was fully blocked by PAR4 inhibitors, while SCH 79797 had no effect. Meanwhile, upon stimulation with TRAP-6, P-selectin surface exposure was blocked by SCH 79797 but not PAR4 inhibitors. P-selectin exposure induced by human α -thrombin was slightly impaired by VU0652925 but not by SCH 79797. Stimulation of platelet P-selectin exposure by cathepsin G was blocked by VU0652925 but not VU0661245 or the PAR1 inhibitor. Meanwhile, stimulation of platelet P-selectin exposure by plasmin was fully blocked by VU0652925 and partially blocked by VU0661245, while SCH 79797 had no effect. Neither PAR4 inhibitor nor SCH 79797 impaired Pselectin exposure stimulated by the GPVI agonist CRP.



Figure 5.5. PAR4 inhibitors diminish platelet-granulocyte interactions and platelet alpha granule release. Washed human platelets $(20 \times 10^7/\text{ml})$ and purified granulocytes $(2 \times 10^6/\text{ml})$ from the same donor were combined and pretreated with the PAR1 inhibitor SCH 79797 (3 µM), PAR4 inhibitors VU0652925 (10 µM) and VU0661245 (10 µM), or vehicle (0.2% DMSO), stimulated with the agonists PAR4 AP (activating peptide, 200 µM), TRAP-6 (20 µM), human α-thrombin (5 nM = 0.7 U/ml), human cathepsin G (340 nM = 0.1 U/ml), human plasmin (260 nM = 0.3 U/ml), or CRP (10 µg/ml), and stained with markers for granulocytes (CD66b), platelets (CD41), and activated platelets (CD62P). (A) Samples were gated for platelets (CD41+) and granulocytes (CD66b+). (B) Granulocytes (CD66b+) were plotted against CD41 and a line drawn for the CD41+ region. Platelets (CD41+) are shown for comparison. Bar graphs designate (C) percent of CD41-positive granulocytes and (D) percent of activated (CD62P+) platelets per treatment. Basal = no agonist; *n* = 3 independent experiments; * = *p* < 0.05 vs. vehicle.

5.5.3 PAR4 activity promotes platelet-leukocyte interactions in whole human blood

To investigate platelet-leukocyte interactions in the context of whole blood, we developed and utilized a whole blood flow cytometry assay (Figure 5.6) using blood drawn directly into the protease inhibitor PPACK to prevent fibrin formation while allowing platelet activation and platelet-leukocyte interactions to occur. The addition of PPACK precluded the use of thrombin, cathepsin G, and plasmin as agonists; instead, the agonists PAR4 AP, TRAP-6, and CRP were utilized to validate the selectivity of the inhibitors in whole blood. Platelet-granulocyte or platelet-monocyte interactions were measured as expression of the platelet marker CD41 in the granulocyte or monocyte gate (Figure 5.6C and D, respectively). Upon stimulation with PAR4 AP (AYPGKF-NH₂), PAR4 inhibitors blocked interactions between platelets and granulocytes and platelets and monocytes, while no inhibition was seen with SCH 79797. Conversely, stimulation of platelet-granulocyte or plateletmonocyte interactions with TRAP-6 was blocked with SCH but not PAR4 inhibitors. Neither the PAR4 inhibitors nor SCH 79797 blocked platelet-granulocyte or platelet-monocyte interactions induced by the platelet GPVI agonist CRP. These results were recapitulated for the activation state of platelets bound to granulocytes or monocytes, measured as P-selectin (CD62P) surface exposure in the granulocyte or monocyte gate (Figure 5.6E and F, respectively). Lastly, platelet activation was measured as expression of P-selectin (CD62P) in the platelet gate (Figure 5.6G). For platelet Pselectin exposure, stimulation with PAR4 AP was also blocked by PAR4 inhibitors but not SCH 79797. TRAP-6-induced P-selectin exposure on platelets was blocked by SCH 79797 but not PAR4 inhibitors. CRP-stimulated P-selectin exposure on platelets was not impaired by either PAR4 inhibitor or the PAR1 inhibitor SCH 79797. These results demonstrate that both platelet-granulocyte interactions and platelet-monocyte interactions are stimulated by PAR4 activity and can be specifically blocked by PAR4 inhibition in a whole blood setting.



Figure 5.6. PAR4 inhibitors diminish platelet-leukocyte interactions and platelet alpha granule release in whole human blood. Whole human blood was pretreated with the PAR1 inhibitor SCH 79797 (3 μ M), PAR4 inhibitors VU0652925 (10 μ M) and VU0661245 (10 μ M), or vehicle (0.2% DMSO), stimulated with the agonists PAR4 AP (activating peptide, 200 μ M), TRAP-6 (20 μ M), or CRP (10 μ g/ml), and stained with markers for granulocytes (CD66b), platelets (CD41), activated platelets (CD62P), and monocytes (CD14). (A) Samples were gated for platelets (CD41+), granulocytes (CD66b+), and monocytes (CD14+). (B) Granulocytes (CD66b+) or monocytes (CD14+, not shown) were plotted by CD41 and a line drawn for CD41+; platelets (CD41+) shown for comparison. Bar graphs show (C) percent of CD41+ granulocytes, (D) percent of CD41+ monocytes, and (E) percent of activated (CD62P+) platelets. Basal = no agonist; *n* = 3 independent experiments; * = *p* < 0.05 vs. vehicle.

5.5.4 PAR4 activity promotes platelet-leukocyte interactions in whole baboon blood

Human and nonhuman primate platelets express PAR1 and PAR4, while murine platelets express PAR-3 and PAR4 and demonstrate other differences in PAR function, making non-human primates a preferred model for in vivo studies of PAR4 function for translational studies evaluating safety versus efficacy.[209, 210] In order to validate our whole blood flow cytometry approach in nonhuman primates before further studies, we performed flow cytometry analysis of whole baboon blood ex vivo (Figure 5.7). Platelet-granulocyte interactions were measured as expression of the platelet marker CD41 in the granulocyte gate (Figure 5.7C). In alignment with our results in human blood, PAR4 inhibitors blocked interactions between baboon platelets and granulocytes stimulated by PAR4 AP (AYPGKF-NH₂), while SCH 79797 had no effect. Platelet-granulocyte interactions stimulated by TRAP-6 were blocked by SCH 79797 but not PAR4 inhibitors. Neither inhibitor blocked plateletgranulocyte interactions stimulated by CRP. These results were recapitulated for the activation state of platelets bound to granulocytes, measured as platelet P-selectin (CD62P) exposure in the granulocyte gate (Figure 5.7D). Finally, platelet activation was measured as P-selectin (CD62P) exposure in the platelet gate (Figure 5.7E). For platelet P-selectin exposure, PAR4 AP stimulation was blocked by PAR4 inhibitors but not SCH 79797. TRAP-6-stimulated P-selectin exposure was blocked by SCH 79797 but not PAR4 inhibitors. Neither PAR4 inhibitor nor the PAR1 inhibitor blocked P-selectin exposure stimulated by CRP. These results demonstrate efficacy of these inhibitors and feasibility of future studies in a nonhuman primate model.



Figure 5.7. PAR4 inhibitors diminish platelet-leukocyte interactions and platelet alpha granule release in whole baboon (Papio anubis) blood. Whole baboon blood was pretreated with the PAR1 inhibitor SCH 79797 (3 μ M), PAR4 inhibitors VU0652925 (10 μ M) and VU0661245 (10 μ M), or vehicle (0.2% DMSO), then stimulated with the agonists PAR4 AP (activating peptide, 200 μ M), TRAP-6 (1 mM), or CRP (10 μ g/ml) and stained with markers for leukocytes (CD45), platelets (CD41), and activated platelets (CD62P). (A) All samples were gated for platelets by CD41+ and granulocytes by CD45+ and high side scatter (SSC, granularity). (B) Granulocytes (CD45+, high SSC) were plotted against CD41, and a line was drawn to designate the CD41+ region. Platelets (CD41+) are shown for comparison. Bar graphs designate (C) percent of CD41+ granulocytes and (D) percent of activated (CD62P+) platelets for each treatment. Basal = no agonist; n = 3-4 independent experiments; * = p < 0.05 vs. vehicle.

5.6 Discussion

Release of dense granule contents from activated platelets facilitates recruitment of leukocytes to the site of injury; this process is often dysregulated in inflammatory disease.[193, 194] Given the described role of platelet PAR4 in supporting the phosphorylation and activation of a number of PKC substrates requisite for platelet dense granule release,[126] we examined whether PAR4 plays a disproportionate role relative to PAR1 in dense granule release. Intriguingly, PAR4 inhibitors diminished dense granule release in response to α -thrombin, while the PAR1 inhibitor SCH 79797 on its own had no effect. Furthermore, upon stimulation with the inflammatory mediators cathepsin G or plasmin, PAR4 inhibitors fully blocked dense granule release, while SCH had no effect either alone or in combination with a PAR4 inhibitor. Given that cathepsin G and plasmin are proteases known to specifically cleave PAR4[197, 198] and are released during inflammation mediated by leukocytes or during fibrinolysis,[211, 212] this suggests a unique and important role for PAR4 in facilitating platelet dense granule release under inflammatory conditions.

Our results also suggest that platelet PAR4 may perform a unique role in the steps of thrombus formation. Other studies have shown that inhibition of PAR1 with a vorapaxar analog was fully rescued with 10 nM but not 2 nM thrombin, suggesting PAR4 can act without PAR1 only at thrombin levels above 2 nM,[202] which we also observed in our assay of dense granule release and our flow cytometry assay of platelet P-selectin using 5 nM thrombin. Higher concentrations of thrombin are likely present in the inner core of a thrombus,[213] supporting the physiological relevance of PAR4 in promoting thrombus formation. Furthermore, PAR4 may play a more prominent role than PAR1 in the release of platelet microparticles and preactivated factor V from platelet α -granules, both events representing a procoagulant phenotype.[126] Platelet stimulation with PAR4 AP also supports thrombin generation in plasma up to 5 minutes faster than stimulation

98

with TRAP-6.[126] These prior observations combined with our findings that PAR4 mediated dense granule release by 5 nM thrombin suggest that PAR4 plays a distinct role apart from PAR1 to promote thrombus formation.

Activated platelets express surface P-selectin, which binds to the PSGL-1 receptor on circulating leukocytes such as neutrophils and monocytes; importantly, these interactions are upregulated in cardiovascular disease, inflammation, and sepsis, suggesting platelet-leukocyte interactions may be a potential disease biomarker. [214-219] Given our observation that platelet PAR4 plays a specific role in dense granule release via neutrophil cathepsin G, we hypothesized that PAR4 activity also plays a role in platelet-leukocyte interactions. We first investigated the role of PAR4 in facilitating plateletgranulocyte interactions in a flow cytometry assay of isolated platelets and granulocytes, which are largely composed of neutrophils. Our results demonstrate that the PAR4 inhibitor VU0652925 impaired platelet α -granule release (P-selectin exposure) following stimulation with α -thrombin, cathepsin G, or plasmin, while the PAR1 inhibitor SCH 79797 had no effect. Furthermore, plateletgranulocyte interactions stimulated by plasmin were completely blocked by the PAR4 inhibitor VU0652925, suggesting a PAR4 specific effect. Surprisingly, addition of cathepsin G did not stimulate platelet-granulocyte interactions, as the basal (no agonist) condition was similar to the vehicle (with agonist) condition. This could be due to a saturation effect in part from cathepsin G released by neutrophils in the platelet-granulocyte mixture. Meanwhile, unlike the strong inhibition seen with VU0652925, the second PAR4 inhibitor VU0661245 was unable to block plateletgranulocyte interactions by plasmin and platelet activation by thrombin or cathepsin G. Our data show that the IC50 values for activation by 100 nM γ -thrombin are very different for the two PAR4 inhibitors: 229 pM for VU0652925 and 8.42 nM for VU0661245 (Figure 5.2). Thus, we believe that VU0661245 has a lower affinity for PAR4, possibly due to its smaller size (Figure 5.1), and therefore it is more easily outcompeted by the tethered ligand than VU0652925, despite being effective against PAR4 AP.

Next, we expanded our investigation to a whole blood flow cytometry assay in order to validate the potency and specificity of the PAR4 inhibitors in whole blood. In this assay, we examined platelet P-selectin along with platelet-granulocyte and platelet-monocyte interactions, the two most prevalent platelet-leukocyte interactions and potential markers of inflammation. Both PAR4 inhibitors impaired platelet P-selectin, platelet-granulocyte interactions, and platelet-monocyte interactions upon stimulation with PAR4 AP but not TRAP-6 or CRP, demonstrating validation of these PAR4 inhibitors in whole blood. This inhibition of platelet P-selectin and platelet-granulocyte interactions was recapitulated in a flow cytometry assay with whole baboon blood *ex vivo*, demonstrating feasibility for future *in vivo* studies with PAR4 inhibitors. Given the differences between VU0652925 and VU0661245 seen in our assays with purified cells, future work will focus on exploring the differential effects of these PAR4 inhibitors *in vivo*. Overall, these results demonstrate that in platelet-granulocyte preparations or in whole blood, inhibition of PAR4 impairs platelet α -granule release and platelet-leukocyte interactions. This suggests that PAR4 may be a new druggable target against platelet-leukocyte interactions to reduce inflammation, including thrombo-inflammation.

This novel finding that PAR4 activity promotes platelet-leukocyte interactions extends the role of platelet PAR4 beyond thrombosis to interactions between platelets and immune cells that are activated in inflammatory disease states. The pathological role of platelet-leukocyte interactions was highlighted years ago when clinical trials of the platelet integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ inhibitor eptifibatide was halted due to increased cardiac events; studies determined that despite inhibiting platelet aggregation, the drug also triggered platelet-neutrophil and platelet-monocyte interactions.[220, 221] More

100

recently, race-specific PAR4 polymorphisms have been identified that confer a pro-atherothrombotic phenotype, pointing to potential use of PAR4 inhibitors for targeting inflammation in specific populations. While donor demographics were not taken into account as a variable in the current study, the effect of race-related PAR4 variants on the pharmacodynamics of PAR4 inhibitors is an important area of future investigation.[222] Meanwhile, the literature supports roles for platelet PAR4 in platelet-leukocyte interactions and inflammation, though many studies have been limited by the use of murine models. Some studies have shown roles for PAR4 activity in leukocyte recruitment in animal models of inflammation and pain but do not define the role of platelet PAR4 in these conditions.[201] Others have shown that PAR4 activity by cathepsin G plays a role in the inflammatory bowel disease ulcerative colitis, and either a PAR4 inhibitor or a cathepsin G inhibitor were beneficial in a mouse model of the disease. [223, 224] In addition to cathepsin G, high levels of plasmin can also activate platelets through PAR4,[197] and elevated plasmin may be partly responsible for the cytokine storm in the deadly macrophage activation syndrome, [225] raising questions about the role of PAR4 in inflammation that involves plasmin activity. Our results show for the first time that inhibition of PAR4 but not PAR1 with small molecule antagonists impairs cathepsin G- and plasmin-induced human platelet granule release and plasmin-induced plateletgranulocyte interactions. This study provides a new rationale for the use of PAR4 activity inhibitors as therapeutic agents in disease conditions that are driven by platelet-leukocyte interactions.

5.7 Conclusions

This study points to an expanded role for the platelet receptor PAR4 in facilitating platelet granule release and platelet-leukocyte interactions. We demonstrate that PAR4 activity via PAR4 AP, thrombin, cathepsin G and plasmin can be targeted with PAR4 inhibitors to block platelet granule release and platelet-leukocyte interactions. These results suggest broader roles for platelet PAR4 than

previously presumed and open up new possibilities for PAR4 as a therapeutic target for inhibition in diseases where platelet-leukocyte interactions play a pathogenic role.

Chapter 6. Conclusions and Future Directions

6.1 Conclusions

The studies outlined in this thesis have investigated pathways of platelet activation and inhibition with the goal of improving therapeutic approaches to treat thrombotic and inflammatory diseases. Initially, clinical reports of bleeding side effects with the Btk inhibitor ibrutinib prompted our study of Btk inhibition in platelet function. We determined that this class of inhibitors targets multiple tyrosine kinases downstream of GPVI, which are required for hemostasis, providing an explanation for antihemostatic side effects and a rationale for improved Btk inhibitor development. Our second study also investigated the importance of GPVI signaling in platelet function, this time discovering a novel role for the molecular chaperone Hsp70 in LAT signolosome assembly, a potential concern for future development of Hsp70 inhibitors. Our final study examined an emerging target of antiplatelet drugs, the platelet PAR4 receptor. We found that, in addition to facilitating activation by thrombin, PAR4 activity also promotes platelet-leukocyte interactions observed in inflammatory states. This points to potential uses for PAR4 inhibitors beyond thrombotic disease, contributing to a growing field investigating the role of platelets in innate immunity. In this chapter, we summarize the results of these studies and describe future work to characterize interactions between platelets, endothelial cells, and leukocytes as an elaboration of existing studies of platelet function.

6.2 Summary

6.2.1 Btk inhibition impairs platelet function

Our initial study sought to investigate the effect of Btk inhibitors on platelet function, in light of mild bleeding effects seen in patients taking the Btk inhibitor ibrutinib. Functional assays found that Btk inhibitors analogous to ibrutinib cause impairment of platelet granule release, spreading, and aggregation under shear flow. A short-term oral dosing study of Btk inhibitors *in vivo* also demonstrated impairment of aggregation but no serious bleeding effects, in line with the mild bleeding seen in patients. Biochemical assays determined that the Btk inhibitors target not only Btk but also Lat and other downstream targets, suggesting that the side effects seen in ibrutinib patients may result from off-target effects on Src, Syk, or Tec kinases. Recently, other groups have shown that ibrutinib has off-target effects on EGFR, ITK, and Tec family kinases, confirming and extending the results of our study.[226] This study provided a rationale for the development of more specific second-generation Btk inhibitors such as acalabrutinib, which is now in clinical trials.[102]

6.2.2 Hsp70 coordinates assembly of the LAT signolosome

While Btk kinase is a target in B cell malignancies, another potential drug target is the molecular chaperone heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70), which is known to be upregulated in certain cancers and inflammatory diseases.[227] While other molecular chaperones such as PDI and ERp57 are known to promote platelet integrin activation, it is unknown whether Hsp70 also promotes specific aspects of platelet activation. Therefore, our next study sought to investigate the role of Hsp70 in platelet function. Initial imaging studies identified Hsp70 was abundantly expressed throughout platelets though not colocalized with PDI, suggesting different functions for the two chaperones. Functional studies found that Hsp70 inhibition impaired platelet aggregation by CRP, integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation, and aggregation on collagen under shear, suggesting Hsp70 is acting downstream of GPVI activation. Biochemical studies confirmed that Hsp70 inhibition diminishes phosphorylation of members of the LAT signalosome such as PLC γ 2. Furthermore, Hsp70 associated with LAT members Vav and PLC γ 2 in pull-down assays, and Hsp70 inhibition abolished this association. This suggests that Hsp70 performs chaperone activities in the assembly and coordination of the LAT signalosome

required for platelet activation via GPVI. These results define a novel mechanism for Hsp70 in facilitating platelet activation and suggest potential antihemostatic effects of Hsp70 inhibitors, warranting further studies.

6.2.3 PAR4 activity facilitates platelet-leukocyte interactions

While tyrosine kinases such as Btk are targets in B cell malignancies, with resulting off-target effects on platelet function, an alternative approach is to target platelet receptors such as the proteaseactivated receptor 4 (PAR4). Animal models have shown PAR4 antagonists prevent thrombosis without causing bleeding, while a clinical trial of a PAR4 antagonist for recurrent stroke has been recently completed.[128] However, given the potential for PAR4 activation by proteases other than thrombin such as neutrophil cathepsin G, we investigated the role of PAR4 in promoting platelet-leukocyte interactions and dense granule release by several proteases. Assays of platelet dense granule release showed that PAR4 activity promotes dense granule release through thrombin, cathepsin G, or plasmin. Furthermore, PAR4 antagonists blocked platelet-leukocyte interactions potentiated by plasmin, demonstrating a novel functional role for PAR4 activity. These results suggest PAR4 antagonists may have utility in treating diseases of inflammation as well as thrombosis.

6.3 Future directions

6.3.1 BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitors and thrombosis

In addition to ibrutinib, a number of other platelet tyrosine kinase inhibitors have been developed for the treatment of B cell malignancies, with unintended hematological side effects. One class of inhibitors targets the BCR-ABL protein, a product of the BCR-ABL oncogene formed by a reciprocal translocation between the long arms of chromosomes 9 and 22 in chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) and, less commonly, in acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and acute myelogenous leukemia (AML).[228] The BCR-ABL protein is a tyrosine kinase with elevated activity that causes increased myeloid cell proliferation and decreased apoptosis of hematopoietic stem cells or progenitor cells, defects in adherence of myeloid progenitors to marrow stroma leading to the release of immature progenitors into circulation, and disease progression resulting from genetic instability. As a result, BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitors were developed as a treatment for CML.

Sections 6.3.1-6.3.4 are adapted from work originally published by Elsevier,

Thrombosis Research. 2015 Jan;135(1):155-60.

Permission is not required by the publisher for this type of use.

Imatinib, which competitively inhibits the ATP binding site of BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase, was the first BCR-ABL inhibitor developed for the treatment of patients with CML.[228] While imatinib significantly improves patient outcomes, follow-on studies found that nearly 20% of patients on imatinib do not exhibit a complete cytogenetic response and develop resistance.[228] Nilotinib, an aminopyrimidine derivative, was rationally designed to be more selective against the BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase than imatinib, and has been shown to effectively inhibit the growth of 32 of the 33 cells lines containing imatinib-resistant mutations. However, some mutants, particularly the T315I mutation, are also resistant to these second-generation compounds.[229-231] As a result, ponatinib was developed as a third-generation pan-BCR-ABL inhibitor. Ponatinib has been shown to exhibit potent activity against native, T315I, and most other clinically relevant BCR-ABL mutants.[232] Ponatinib has also been shown to inhibit a subset of the class III/IV family of receptor tyrosine kinases.[233]

Tyrosine kinase inhibitors, including BCR-ABL inhibitors such as ponatinib, have been associated with cardiovascular complications, including bleeding diathesis and thrombosis.[234] Specifically, hemorrhaging is a common adverse event reported in patients receiving imatinib, and imatinib has been associated with abnormalities in platelet aggregation. [235, 236] Meanwhile, the secondgeneration inhibitor nilotinib has been associated with occlusive vascular diseases in up to 36% of patients.[237, 238] Ponatinib treatment is also associated with thrombotic complications such as peripheral arterial occlusive disease, myocardial infarction, and venous thromboembolism, such that the FDA temporary suspended the drug in late 2013.[239, 240] However, the pathogenic mechanisms underlying the increased risk of thrombosis associated with nilotinib and ponatinib remain illdefined. Recent studies have suggested BCR-ABL inhibitors cause endothelial inflammation in addition to platelet dysfunction.[237, 241] Overall, the prevention and treatment of prothrombotic complications requires an understanding of the effect of BCR-ABL inhibitors not only on platelet function but on interactions between platelets and endothelial cells and between platelets and leukocytes. In preliminary studies, we have defined the effects of ponatinib on key steps in platelet signaling, activation, and aggregation. In future work, we will investigate platelet-endothelial cell and platelet-leukocyte interactions to better define the prothrombotic phenotype induced by BCR-ABL inhibitor treatment.

6.3.2 Effect of BCR-ABL inhibitors on tyrosine phosphorylation in platelets

We initially hypothesized that BCR-ABL inhibitors such as ponatinib may interfere with platelet function through an inhibition of tyrosine kinase activation proximal to the engagement of platelet activating receptors, including GPVI and integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$. Accordingly, we examined the effects of ponatinib, nilotinib, and imatinib on the intracellular signaling cascades mediating platelet activation following exposure to fibrillar collagen or fibrinogen. As seen in Figure 6.1A, treatment of platelets with ponatinib partially inhibited the tyrosine kinase activation profile of platelets on surfaces of fibrinogen or fibrillar collagen as determined by Western blot analysis of platelet lysates with 4G10 antisera; imatinib and nilotinib had only minor effects on the activation of platelet tyrosine kinases. In addition to Abl, ponatinib has been shown to inhibit a number of tyrosine kinases *in vitro*, including Src family kinases (SFKs).[242] To specify a role for the inhibition of Src by ponatinib in mediating platelet inhibition, we next examined the phosphorylation state of the Src kinase activation loop (Tyr416) which serves as a marker of Src kinase activation.[243] As seen in Figure 6.1B, exposure of platelets to surfaces of fibrinogen or fibrillar collagen upregulated Src Tyr416 phosphorylation in platelets. Like PP2, ponatinib inhibited Src Tyr416 phosphorylation in response to fibrinogen or collagen (Figure 6.1B). In contrast, platelet Src Tyr416 phosphorylation was not effected by nilotinib or imatinib treatments (Figure 6.1B).





Previous work has shown that BCR-ABL inhibitors, including ponatinib, inhibit the phosphorylation of the SFK member Lyn and have inhibitory effects on the activation of Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk).[242] As both of these kinases have roles in platelet activation, we examined the effect of ponatinib, nilotinib, and imatinib on the activation state of Lyn as well as Btk in response to platelet spreading on fibrillar collagen and fibrinogen.[135, 136] Similar to the Src family kinase inhibitor, PP2, treatment of platelets with ponatinib markedly reduced the levels of Lyn Tyr507 phosphorylation in response to spreading on fibrinogen or fibrillar collagen (Figure 6.1B). Phosphorylation of Btk Tyr223, an autophosphorylation site that serves as a marker of Btk activation, was also reduced by ponatinib or PP2 treatment (Figure 6.1C).[244] Imatinib and nilotinib had only marginal inhibitory effects on Lyn and Btk phosphorylation (Figure 6.1). Similar to Btk phosphorylation, platelet SFKs also support the phosphorylation of the linker for activation of T cells protein, LAT, which serves roles in platelet PLCγ activation, calcium signaling and the later stages of platelet activation.[21] As shown in Figure 6.1C, both ponatinib and PP2 inhibited the LAT Tyr191 phosphorylation in platelets bound to surfaces of fibrinogen or fibrillar collagen. LAT phosphorylation was minimally affected by nilotinib or imatinib treatments (Figure 6.1C). Together, these studies support a role for ponatinib as an inhibitor of platelet Src family tyrosine kinase activation and signaling.

6.3.3 Effect of BCR-ABL inhibitors on platelet P-selectin and phosphatidylserine exposure

In vivo, platelet activation and aggregation is associated with the secretion of P-selectin from platelet alpha granules, which is associated with thrombus stability, as well as the externalization of phosphatidylserine (PS), which regulates blood coagulation by providing a platform for the coagulation factor assembly required for thrombin generation.[89, 165] Given the reports of thrombotic complications in ponatinib-treated patients and the ability of ponatinib to upregulate PS-exposure on apoptotic cells in culture, we next assayed the effect of ponatinib, nilotinib, and imatinib on platelet P-selectin and PS surface levels during platelet activation.[245] Replicate samples of washed human platelets were treated with BCR-ABL inhibitors prior to stimulation with CRP and/or

thrombin and staining with anti-P-selectin (CD62P) antibodies or FITC-conjugated Annexin-V prior to flow cytometry analysis. As seen in Figure 6.2A, ponatinib (1 μ M) significantly decreased platelet P-selectin exposure in response to CRP. The addition of thrombin reversed the inhibitory effect of ponatinib, indicating that the effects of ponatinib on P-selectin exposure can be bypassed through GPCR-mediated signaling. Ponatinib also significantly decreased PS exposure, as measured by Annexin V binding, in response to CRP alone as well as in response to CRP in combination with thrombin (Figure 6.2B). Treatment of platelets with nilotinib or imatinib (1 μ M) did not significantly affect P-selectin or PS exposure in response to CRP or a combination of CRP and thrombin (Figure 6.2A, B). This demonstrates that ponatinib impairs both platelet alpha granule secretion and platelet procoagulant activity.



Figure 6.2. Ponatinib blocks P-selectin and phosphatidylserine exposure. (A) Platelet surface P-selectin levels analyzed by flow cytometry following vehicle (DMSO), ponatinib (1 μ M), nilotinib (1 μ M), or imatinib (1 μ M) treatment and incubation with vehicle, CRP (10 μ g/ml), or CRP (10 μ g/ml) and thrombin (1 U/ml). (B) Phosphatidylserine levels analyzed by flow cytometry following vehicle (DMSO), ponatinib (1 μ M), nilotinib (1 μ M), or imatinib (1 μ M), or imatinib (1 μ M), or imatinib (1 μ M), reatment and incubation with vehicle, CRP (10 μ g/ml), or CRP (10 μ g/ml) and thrombin (1 U/ml). Results shown as mean fluorescence intensity (MFI). * signifies *p* < 0.05 with respect to DMSO control; *n* = 3, error bars represent S.E.M.

6.3.4 Effect of BCR-ABL inhibitors on aggregate formation under flow

We also investigated the effect of the BCR-ABL inhibitors on aggregate formation in a flow chamber model of platelet aggregate formation. Whole human blood was pretreated with BCR-ABL inhibitors prior to flow over a surface of fibrillar collagen at an initial shear rate of 2200 sec⁻¹ for 5 min, fixed, and visualized. As seen in Figure 6.3, ponatinib reduced aggregate formation under shear, as evidenced by a $52.4 \pm 11.2\%$ reduction in platelet aggregate surface area coverage in the presence of ponatinib as compared to vehicle alone (0.1% DMSO). Interestingly, imatinib also significantly decreased platelet aggregate formation on collagen under shear. These results show that ponatinib, and to a lesser extent, imatinib, impair the ability of platelets to form aggregates under shear.



Figure 6.3. Ponatinib inhibits platelet aggregate formation under shear. (A) Whole blood was treated with vehicle (DMSO, 0.1%), ponatinib (1 μ M), nilotinib (1 μ M), or imatinib (1 μ M) and perfused at 2200 s⁻¹ at 37 °C through capillary tubes coated with collagen (100 μ g/ml) to form platelet aggregates. (B) The percent surface area covered by aggregates was computed by outlining and quantifying platelet aggregates. * signifies *p* < 0.05 with respect to DMSO control; error bars represent S.E.M.; *n* = 3; scale bar = 10 μ m.

6.3.5 *Effect of BCR-ABL inhibitors on platelet-endothelial interactions*

Given our preliminary studies suggesting BCR-ABL inhibitors impair several aspects of platelet function, the prothrombotic effects observed in patients remain contradictory and require further investigation. Several studies have suggested inflammatory marker expression by endothelial cells may play a role in the prothrombotic phenotype induced by nilotinib and ponatinib treatment. Two proposed mediators are the endothelial VEGF receptor 2 (VEGFR2), which binds platelet integrin $\alpha_v\beta_3$, and lectin-like ox-LDL receptor-1 (LOX-1), which binds platelet CD36.[241] First, to determine if BCR-ABL inhibitors activate endothelial inflammation independent of platelets, cultured HUVECs will be pre-treated with imatinib, nilotinib, ponatinib, or vehicle and stained for E- selectin, P-selectin, ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and vWF release before being analyzed for fluorescence in a plate reader. Next, to determine whether BCR-ABL inhibitors induce platelet-endothelial cell binding, a platelet binding assay will be used. Washed human platelets will be stained with CD41, pre-treated with imatinib, nilotinib, ponatinib, or vehicle, and incubated on cultured HUVECs. Wells will be washed and analyzed for platelet adherence as fluorescence in a plate reader. Blocking antibodies will be used against endothelial cell receptors PSGL-1, E-selectin, P-selectin, ICAM-1, VCAM-1, integrin $\alpha_v\beta_3$, or GPIb α , as well as VEGFR2, LOX-1, and CD40 in order to determine which receptor interactions mediate platelet-endothelial cell adhesion following BCR-ABL inhibitor treatment.

Platelet interactions with the endothelium typically occur under shear flow, with important effects on tethering and adhesion compared to static conditions. To probe the effect of BCR-ABL inhibitors on platelet-endothelium interactions under flow, we will utilize an endothelialized, perfusable microvessel system that has been developed in our group.[246] Custom-molded PDMS channels will be seeded with extracellular matrix proteins and the resulting channels cultured with HUVECs under constant media flow for 24 hours to develop confluent microvessels. Whole human blood with be pretreated with imatinib, nilotinib, ponatinib, or vehicle and stained for markers of endothelial cells (VE-cadherin), platelets (CD41), leukocytes (CD45), and markers of inflammation including ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and vWF. Blood will be perfused through the microvessels at a venous shear rate for 10 minutes. Channels will be washed and visualized with fluorescence microscopy to detect platelet adhesion, vascular permeability as leakage of cells into the ECM, and endothelial expression of inflammatory markers. These studies will determine whether BCR-ABL inhibitor treatment induces inflammation from endothelial cells alone, platelet-endothelial cell interactions, or both and whether this is a flow-dependent phenomenon.

6.3.6 Effect of BCR-ABL inhibitors on platelet-leukocyte interactions

Finally, the effect of BCR-ABL inhibitor treatment on platelet-leukocyte interactions will be assayed to determine if the prothrobotic effects of the inhibitors are mediated by leukocytes interacting with platelets. Whole blood anticoagulated with sodium citrate and PPACK and diluted 1:1 in buffer will be incubated with imatinib, nilotinib, ponatinib, or vehicle for 15 minutes at room temperature. Treated blood will be added to FACS tubes containing and antibody and agonist mixture and incubated 20 minutes at room temperature. Fluorophore-conjugated antibodies will be used against CD41 (platelets), CD66b (granulocytes), and CD14 (monocytes). Agonists will include collagen-related peptide, PAR1 activating peptide, PAR4 activating peptide, thrombin, or vehicle. Samples will be analyzed by flow cytometry for platelet-leukocyte interactions. Additional blocking antibodies against leukocyte receptors PSGL-1, Mac-1, and CD40 will be used to probe which receptors mediate changes in platelet-leukocyte interactions following BCR-ABL inhibitor treatment.

Overall, these studies of BCR-ABL inhibitors on platelet-endothelial interactions and plateletleukocyte interactions will define the interactions that generate thrombotic complications following BCR-ABL inhibition. The results of these studies will inform the design of more potent and specific BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitors in the future. Furthermore, these future investigations will extend our previous studies of tyrosine kinase inhibition in platelet function to the platelet-vascular interface, providing clinically relevant insights for improving the treatment of thrombosis and inflammation.

References

- 1. Gros A, Ollivier V, Ho-Tin-Noe B. Platelets in inflammation: regulation of leukocyte activities and vascular repair. *Front Immunol.* 2014; 5: 678.
- 2. Smyth SS, McEver RP, Weyrich AS, Morrell CN, Hoffman MR, Arepally GM, French PA, Dauerman HL, Becker RC. Platelet functions beyond hemostasis. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2009; 7(11): 1759-66.
- 3. Broos K, Feys HB, De Meyer SF, Vanhoorelbeke K, Deckmyn H. Platelets at work in primary hemostasis. *Blood Rev.* 2011; 25(4): 155-67.
- 4. Varga-Szabo D, Pleines I, Nieswandt B. Cell adhesion mechanisms in platelets. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2008; 28(3): 403-12.
- 5. Bergmeier W, Hynes RO. Extracellular matrix proteins in hemostasis and thrombosis. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* 2012; 4(2).
- 6. Lenting PJ, Casari C, Christophe OD, Denis CV. von Willebrand factor: the old, the new and the unknown. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2012; 10(12): 2428-37.
- 7. Ruggeri ZM. Von Willebrand factor. *Curr Opin Hematol*. 2003; 10(2): 142-9.
- Schneider SW, Nuschele S, Wixforth A, Gorzelanny C, Alexander-Katz A, Netz RR, Schneider MF. Shear-induced unfolding triggers adhesion of von Willebrand factor fibers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A. 2007; 104(19): 7899-903.
- 9. Sadler JE, Budde U, Eikenboom JC, Favaloro EJ, Hill FG, Holmberg L, Ingerslev J, Lee CA, Lillicrap D, Mannucci PM, Mazurier C, Meyer D, Nichols WL, Nishino M, Peake IR, Rodeghiero F, Schneppenheim R, Ruggeri ZM, Srivastava A, Montgomery RR, Federici AB. Update on the pathophysiology and classification of von Willebrand disease: a report of the Subcommittee on von Willebrand Factor. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2006; 4(10): 2103-14.
- 10. Nieswandt B, Watson SP. Platelet-collagen interaction: is GPVI the central receptor? *Blood.* 2003; 102(2): 449-61.
- 11. Nieswandt B, Brakebusch C, Bergmeier W, Schulte V, Bouvard D, Mokhtari-Nejad R, Lindhout T, Heemskerk JW, Zirngibl H, Fassler R. Glycoprotein VI but not alpha2beta1 integrin is essential for platelet interaction with collagen. *Embo j.* 2001; 20(9): 2120-30.
- 12. Schaff M, Tang C, Maurer E, Bourdon C, Receveur N, Eckly A, Hechler B, Arnold C, de Arcangelis A, Nieswandt B, Denis CV, Lefebvre O, Georges-Labouesse E, Gachet C, Lanza F, Mangin PH. Integrin alpha6beta1 is the main receptor for vascular laminins and plays a role in platelet adhesion, activation, and arterial thrombosis. *Circulation*. 2013; 128(5): 541-52.

- Inoue O, Suzuki-Inoue K, McCarty OJ, Moroi M, Ruggeri ZM, Kunicki TJ, Ozaki Y, Watson SP. Laminin stimulates spreading of platelets through integrin alpha6beta1-dependent activation of GPVI. *Blood*. 2006; 107(4): 1405-12.
- 14. Bennett JS, Berger BW, Billings PC. The structure and function of platelet integrins. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2009; 7 Suppl 1: 200-5.
- 15. Estevez B, Du X. New Concepts and Mechanisms of Platelet Activation Signaling. *Physiology* (*Bethesda*). 2017; 32(2): 162-77.
- 16. Luo SZ, Li R. Specific heteromeric association of four transmembrane peptides derived from platelet glycoprotein Ib-IX complex. *J Mol Biol*. 2008; 382(2): 448-57.
- 17. Li R, Emsley J. The organizing principle of the platelet glycoprotein Ib-IX-V complex. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2013; 11(4): 605-14.
- 18. Rivera J, Lozano ML, Navarro-Nunez L, Vicente V. Platelet receptors and signaling in the dynamics of thrombus formation. *Haematologica*. 2009; 94(5): 700-11.
- 19. Senis YA, Mazharian A, Mori J. Src family kinases: at the forefront of platelet activation. *Blood*. 2014; 124(13): 2013-24.
- 20. Nurden AT. Qualitative disorders of platelets and megakaryocytes. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2005; 3(8): 1773-82.
- 21. Watson SP, Auger JM, McCarty OJ, Pearce AC. GPVI and integrin alphaIIb beta3 signaling in platelets. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2005; 3(8): 1752-62.
- 22. Clemetson JM, Polgar J, Magnenat E, Wells TN, Clemetson KJ. The platelet collagen receptor glycoprotein VI is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily closely related to FcalphaR and the natural killer receptors. *J Biol Chem.* 1999; 274(41): 29019-24.
- 23. Watson SP, Herbert JM, Pollitt AY. GPVI and CLEC-2 in hemostasis and vascular integrity. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2010; 8(7): 1456-67.
- 24. Li Z, Delaney MK, O'Brien KA, Du X. Signaling During Platelet Adhesion and Activation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2010; 30(12): 2341-9.
- 25. Navarro-Nunez L, Langan SA, Nash GB, Watson SP. The physiological and pathophysiological roles of platelet CLEC-2. *Thromb Haemost*. 2013; 109(6): 991-8.
- 26. Watson AA, Christou CM, James JR, Fenton-May AE, Moncayo GE, Mistry AR, Davis SJ, Gilbert RJ, Chakera A, O'Callaghan CA. The platelet receptor CLEC-2 is active as a dimer. *Biochemistry*. 2009; 48(46): 10988-96.

- 27. Haining EJ, Cherpokova D, Wolf K, Becker IC, Beck S, Eble JA, Stegner D, Watson SP, Nieswandt B. CLEC 2 contributes to hemostasis independently of classical hemITAM signaling in mice. *Blood*. 2017.
- 28. Arman M, Krauel K. Human platelet IgG Fc receptor FcgammaRIIA in immunity and thrombosis. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2015; 13(6): 893-908.
- 29. Zhi H, Dai J, Liu J, Zhu J, Newman DK, Gao C, Newman PJ. Platelet Activation and Thrombus Formation over IgG Immune Complexes Requires Integrin alphaIIbbeta3 and Lyn Kinase. *PLoS One*. 2015; 10(8): e0135738.
- 30. Canobbio I, Bertoni A, Lova P, Paganini S, Hirsch E, Sinigaglia F, Balduini C, Torti M. Platelet activation by von Willebrand factor requires coordinated signaling through thromboxane A2 and Fc gamma IIA receptor. *J Biol Chem.* 2001; 276(28): 26022-9.
- Wagner CL, Mascelli MA, Neblock DS, Weisman HF, Coller BS, Jordan RE. Analysis of GPIIb/IIIa receptor number by quantification of 7E3 binding to human platelets. *Blood*. 1996; 88(3): 907-14.
- 32. George JN, Caen JP, Nurden AT. Glanzmann's thrombasthenia: the spectrum of clinical disease. *Blood.* 1990; 75(7): 1383-95.
- 33. Bennett JS. Structure and function of the platelet integrin alphaIIbbeta3. *J Clin Invest*. 2005; 115(12): 3363-9.
- 34. Durrant TN, van den Bosch MT, Hers I. Integrin alphaIIbbeta3 outside-in signaling. *Blood*. 2017.
- 35. Woulfe DS. Platelet G protein-coupled receptors in hemostasis and thrombosis. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2005; 3(10): 2193-200.
- 36. Hepler JR, Gilman AG. G proteins. Trends Biochem Sci. 1992; 17(10): 383-7.
- 37. Woulfe D, Jiang H, Mortensen R, Yang J, Brass LF. Activation of Rap1B by G(i) family members in platelets. *J Biol Chem.* 2002; 277(26): 23382-90.
- 38. Schwarz UR, Walter U, Eigenthaler M. Taming platelets with cyclic nucleotides. *Biochem Pharmacol*. 2001; 62(9): 1153-61.
- 39. Abrams CS, Zhang J, Downes CP, Tang X, Zhao W, Rittenhouse SE. Phosphopleckstrin inhibits gbetagamma-activable platelet phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase. *J Biol Chem.* 1996; 271(41): 25192-7.
- 40. Banno Y, Asano T, Nozawa Y. Stimulation by G protein betagamma subunits of phospholipase C beta isoforms in human platelets. *Thromb Haemost*. 1998; 79(5): 1008-13.

- 41. Gong H, Shen B, Flevaris P, Chow C, Lam SC, Voyno-Yasenetskaya TA, Kozasa T, Du X. G protein subunit Galpha13 binds to integrin alphaIIbbeta3 and mediates integrin "outside-in" signaling. *Science*. 2010; 327(5963): 340-3.
- 42. Aslan JE, McCarty OJ. Rho GTPases in platelet function. J Thromb Haemost. 2013; 11(1): 35-46.
- 43. Wihlborg AK, Wang L, Braun OO, Eyjolfsson A, Gustafsson R, Gudbjartsson T, Erlinge D. ADP receptor P2Y12 is expressed in vascular smooth muscle cells and stimulates contraction in human blood vessels. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2004; 24(10): 1810-5.
- 44. Cattaneo M. New P2Y(12) inhibitors. Circulation. 2010; 121(1): 171-9.
- 45. Covic L, Gresser AL, Kuliopulos A. Biphasic kinetics of activation and signaling for PAR1 and PAR4 thrombin receptors in platelets. *Biochemistry*. 2000; 39(18): 5458-67.
- 46. Edelstein LC, Simon LM, Lindsay CR, Kong X, Teruel-Montoya R, Tourdot BE, Chen ES, Ma L, Coughlin S, Nieman M, Holinstat M, Shaw CA, Bray PF. Common variants in the human platelet PAR4 thrombin receptor alter platelet function and differ by race. *Blood*, 2014, 3450-8.
- 47. Wong PC, Seiffert D, Bird JE, Watson CA, Bostwick JS, Giancarli M, Allegretto N, Hua J, Harden D, Guay J, Callejo M, Miller MM, Lawrence RM, Banville J, Guy J, Maxwell BD, Priestley ES, Marinier A, Wexler RR, Bouvier M, Gordon DA, Schumacher WA, Yang J. Blockade of protease-activated receptor-4 (PAR4) provides robust antithrombotic activity with low bleeding. *Science Translational Medicine*. 2017; 9(371).
- 48. Watson SP. Platelet activation by extracellular matrix proteins in haemostasis and thrombosis. *Curr Pharm Des.* 2009; 15(12): 1358-72.
- 49. Wang L, Wu Y, Zhou J, Ahmad SS, Mutus B, Garbi N, Hammerling G, Liu J, Essex DW. Plateletderived ERp57 mediates platelet incorporation into a growing thrombus by regulation of the alphaIIbbeta3 integrin. *Blood*. 2013; 122(22): 3642-50.
- 50. Cho J, Kennedy DR, Lin L, Huang M, Merrill-Skoloff G, Furie BC, Furie B. Protein disulfide isomerase capture during thrombus formation in vivo depends on the presence of beta3 integrins. *Blood.* 2012; 120(3): 647-55.
- 51. Passam FH, Lin L, Gopal S, Stopa JD, Bellido-Martin L, Huang M, Furie BC, Furie B. Both platelet- and endothelial cell-derived ERp5 support thrombus formation in a laser-induced mouse model of thrombosis. *Blood*. 2015; 125(14): 2276-85.
- 52. Swiatkowska M, Padula G, Michalec L, Stasiak M, Skurzynski S, Cierniewski CS. Ero1alpha is expressed on blood platelets in association with protein-disulfide isomerase and contributes to redox-controlled remodeling of alphaIIbbeta3. *J Biol Chem*. 2010; 285(39): 29874-83.
- 53. Furie B, Flaumenhaft R. Thiol isomerases in thrombus formation. Circ Res. 2014; 114(7): 1162-73.

- Crescente M, Pluthero FG, Li L, Lo RW, Walsh TG, Schenk MP, Holbrook LM, Louriero S, Ali MS, Vaiyapuri S, Falet H, Jones IM, Poole AW, Kahr WH, Gibbins JM. Intracellular Trafficking, Localization, and Mobilization of Platelet-Borne Thiol Isomerases. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2016; 36(6): 1164-73.
- 55. Gibbins JM. Platelets using proteins creatively. Blood. 2013; 122(22): 3553-4.
- 56. Schulman S, Bendapudi P, Sharda A, Chen V, Bellido-Martin L, Jasuja R, Furie BC, Flaumenhaft R, Furie B. Extracellular Thiol Isomerases and Their Role in Thrombus Formation. *Antioxid Redox Signal.* 2016; 24(1): 1-15.
- 57. Ma C, Yao Y, Yue QX, Zhou XW, Yang PY, Wu WY, Guan SH, Jiang BH, Yang M, Liu X, Guo DA. Differential proteomic analysis of platelets suggested possible signal cascades network in platelets treated with salvianolic acid B. *PLoS One*. 2011; 6(2): e14692.
- 58. Molins B, Pena E, Padro T, Casani L, Mendieta C, Badimon L. Glucose-regulated protein 78 and platelet deposition: effect of rosuvastatin. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2010; 30(6): 1246-52.
- 59. Staron M, Wu S, Hong F, Stojanovic A, Du X, Bona R, Liu B, Li Z. Heat-shock protein gp96/grp94 is an essential chaperone for the platelet glycoprotein Ib-IX-V complex. *Blood*. 2011; 117(26): 7136-44.
- 60. Polanowska-Grabowska R, Simon CG, Jr., Falchetto R, Shabanowitz J, Hunt DF, Gear AR. Platelet adhesion to collagen under flow causes dissociation of a phosphoprotein complex of heat-shock proteins and protein phosphatase 1. *Blood*. 1997; 90(4): 1516-26.
- 61. Tokuda H, Kuroyanagi G, Tsujimoto M, Enomoto Y, Matsushima-Nishiwaki R, Onuma T, Kojima A, Doi T, Tanabe K, Akamatsu S, Iida H, Ogura S, Otsuka T, Iwama T, Tanikawa T, Ishikawa K, Kojima K, Kozawa O. Release of Phosphorylated HSP27 (HSPB1) from Platelets Is Accompanied with the Acceleration of Aggregation in Diabetic Patients. *PLoS One*. 2015; 10(6): e0128977.
- 62. Kageyama Y, Doi T, Akamatsu S, Kuroyanagi G, Kondo A, Mizutani J, Otsuka T, Tokuda H, Kozawa O, Ogura S. Rac regulates collagen-induced HSP27 phosphorylation via p44/p42 MAP kinase in human platelets. *Int J Mol Med.* 2013; 32(4): 813-8.
- 63. Mateos-Caceres PJ, Macaya C, Azcona L, Modrego J, Mahillo E, Bernardo E, Fernandez-Ortiz A, Lopez-Farre AJ. Different expression of proteins in platelets from aspirin-resistant and aspirin-sensitive patients. *Thromb Haemost*. 2010; 103(1): 160-70.
- 64. Burkhart JM, Vaudel M, Gambaryan S, Radau S, Walter U, Martens L, Geiger J, Sickmann A, Zahedi RP. The first comprehensive and quantitative analysis of human platelet protein composition allows the comparative analysis of structural and functional pathways. *Blood.* 2012; 120(15): e73-82.
- 65. Zeiler M, Moser M, Mann M. Copy number analysis of the murine platelet proteome spanning the complete abundance range. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. 2014; 13(12): 3435-45.

- 66. Suzuki H, Kosuge Y, Kobayashi K, Kurosaki Y, Ishii N, Aoyama N, Ishihara K, Ichikawa T. Heatshock protein 72 promotes platelet aggregation induced by various platelet activators in rats. *Biomed Res.* 2017; 38(3): 175-82.
- 67. Suttitanamongkol S, Polanowska-Grabowska R, Gear AR. Heat-shock protein 90 complexes in resting and thrombin-activated platelets. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2002; 297(1): 129-33.
- 68. Zhu Y, O'Neill S, Saklatvala J, Tassi L, Mendelsohn ME. Phosphorylated HSP27 associates with the activation-dependent cytoskeleton in human platelets. *Blood.* 1994; 84(11): 3715-23.
- 69. Kato H, Takai S, Matsushima-Nishiwaki R, Adachi S, Minamitani C, Otsuka T, Tokuda H, Akamatsu S, Doi T, Ogura S, Kozawa O. HSP27 phosphorylation is correlated with ADP-induced platelet granule secretion. *Arch Biochem Biophys*. 2008; 475(1): 80-6.
- 70. Delom F, Mallet B, Carayon P, Lejeune PJ. Role of extracellular molecular chaperones in the folding of oxidized proteins. Refolding of colloidal thyroglobulin by protein disulfide isomerase and immunoglobulin heavy chain-binding protein. *J Biol Chem.* 2001; 276(24): 21337-42.
- 71. Chan YC, Greenwood DR, Yang Y, Leung E, Krissansen GW. Leukocyte integrin alpha4beta7 associates with heat shock protein 70. *Mol Cell Biochem*. 2015.
- 72. Colvin TA, Gabai VL, Gong J, Calderwood SK, Li H, Gummuluru S, Matchuk ON, Smirnova SG, Orlova NV, Zamulaeva IA, Garcia-Marcos M, Li X, Young ZT, Rauch JN, Gestwicki JE, Takayama S, Sherman MY. Hsp70-Bag3 interactions regulate cancer-related signaling networks. *Cancer Res.* 2014; 74(17): 4731-40.
- 73. Pratt WB, Toft DO. Regulation of signaling protein function and trafficking by the hsp90/hsp70based chaperone machinery. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*. 2003; 228(2): 111-33.
- 74. Durrant TN, Hutchinson JL, Heesom KJ, Anderson KE, Stephens LR, Hawkins PT, Marshall AJ, Moore SF, Hers I. In-depth PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 signalosome analysis identifies DAPP1 as a negative regulator of GPVI-driven platelet function. *Blood Advances*. 2017; 1(14): 918-32.
- 75. Jang J, Kim MR, Kim TK, Lee WR, Kim JH, Heo K, Lee S. CLEC14a-HSP70-1A interaction regulates HSP70-1A-induced angiogenesis. *Sci Rep.* 2017; 7(1): 10666.
- 76. Roy S, Sun A, Redman C. In vitro assembly of the component chains of fibrinogen requires endoplasmic reticulum factors. *J Biol Chem.* 1996; 271(40): 24544-50.
- Hansen GA, Ludvigsen M, Jacobsen C, Cangemi C, Rasmussen LM, Vorum H, Honore B. Fibulin-1C, C1 Esterase Inhibitor and Glucose Regulated Protein 75 Interact with the CREC Proteins, Calumenin and Reticulocalbin. *PLoS One*. 2015; 10(7): e0132283.
- Tran H, Tanaka A, Litvinovich SV, Medved LV, Haudenschild CC, Argraves WS. The interaction of fibulin-1 with fibrinogen. A potential role in hemostasis and thrombosis. *J Biol Chem.* 1995; 270(33): 19458-64.

- 79. Kaiser WJ, Holbrook LM, Tucker KL, Stanley RG, Gibbins JM. A functional proteomic method for the enrichment of peripheral membrane proteins reveals the collagen binding protein Hsp47 is exposed on the surface of activated human platelets. *J Proteome Res.* 2009; 8(6): 2903-14.
- 80. Wyatt AR, Yerbury JJ, Ecroyd H, Wilson MR. Extracellular chaperones and proteostasis. *Annu Rev Biochem.* 2013; 82: 295-322.
- 81. Atalay M, Oksala N, Lappalainen J, Laaksonen DE, Sen CK, Roy S. Heat shock proteins in diabetes and wound healing. *Curr Protein Pept Sci.* 2009; 10(1): 85-95.
- 82. Bellaye PS, Burgy O, Causse S, Garrido C, Bonniaud P. Heat shock proteins in fibrosis and wound healing: good or evil? *Pharmacol Ther*. 2014; 143(2): 119-32.
- Yeaman MR. Platelets: at the nexus of antimicrobial defence. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* 2014; 12(6): 426-37.
- 84. Golebiewska EM, Poole AW. Platelet secretion: From haemostasis to wound healing and beyond. *Blood Rev.* 2015; 29(3): 153-62.
- 85. Aslan JE. Platelet Shape Change. In: Gresele P, Kleiman NS, Lopez JA, Page CP, eds. *Platelets in Thrombotic and Non-Thrombotic Disorders: Pathophysiology, Pharmacology and Therapeutics: an Update*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2017, 321-36.
- Podoplelova NA, Sveshnikova AN, Kotova YN, Eckly A, Receveur N, Nechipurenko DY, Obydennyi SI, Kireev, II, Gachet C, Ataullakhanov FI, Mangin PH, Panteleev MA. Coagulation factors bound to procoagulant platelets concentrate in cap structures to promote clotting. *Blood*. 2016; 128(13): 1745-55.
- 87. Bevers EM, Williamson PL. Getting to the Outer Leaflet: Physiology of Phosphatidylserine Exposure at the Plasma Membrane. *Physiol Rev.* 2016; 96(2): 605-45.
- 88. Mackman N. The role of tissue factor and factor VIIa in hemostasis. *Anesth Analg.* 2009; 108(5): 1447-52.
- 89. Lentz BR. Exposure of platelet membrane phosphatidylserine regulates blood coagulation. *Prog Lipid Res.* 2003; 42(5): 423-38.
- 90. Arman M, Payne H, Ponomaryov T, Brill A. Role of Platelets in Inflammation. In: Kerrigan S, Moran N, eds. *The Non-Thrombotic Role of Platelets in Health and Disease*. Rijeka: InTech, 2015, Ch. 03.
- 91. Romo GM, Dong JF, Schade AJ, Gardiner EE, Kansas GS, Li CQ, McIntire LV, Berndt MC, Lopez JA. The glycoprotein Ib-IX-V complex is a platelet counterreceptor for P-selectin. *J Exp Med.* 1999; 190(6): 803-14.

- 92. Wang Y, Gao H, Shi C, Erhardt PW, Pavlovsky A, D AS, Bledzka K, Ustinov V, Zhu L, Qin J, Munday AD, Lopez J, Plow E, Simon DI. Leukocyte integrin Mac-1 regulates thrombosis via interaction with platelet GPIba. *Nat Commun*, 2017.
- 93. Raskob GE, Angchaisuksiri P, Blanco AN, Buller H, Gallus A, Hunt BJ, Hylek EM, Kakkar A, Konstantinides SV, McCumber M, Ozaki Y, Wendelboe A, Weitz JI. Thrombosis: a major contributor to global disease burden. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2014; 34(11): 2363-71.
- 94. Blann AD, Lip GY. Virchow's triad revisited: the importance of soluble coagulation factors, the endothelium, and platelets. *Thromb Res.* 2001; 101(4): 321-7.
- 95. Ruggeri ZM. Platelets in atherothrombosis. Nat Med. 2002; 8(11): 1227-34.
- 96. Franchi F, Angiolillo DJ. Novel antiplatelet agents in acute coronary syndrome. *Nat Rev Cardiol*. 2015; 12(1): 30-47.
- 97. Byrd JC, Furman RR, Coutre SE, Flinn IW, Burger JA, Blum KA, Grant B, Sharman JP, Coleman M, Wierda WG, Jones JA, Zhao W, Heerema NA, Johnson AJ, Sukbuntherng J, Chang BY, Clow F, Hedrick E, Buggy JJ, James DF, O'Brien S. Targeting BTK with ibrutinib in relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *N Engl J Med*. 2013; 369(1): 32-42.
- 98. Wang ML, Rule S, Martin P, Goy A, Auer R, Kahl BS, Jurczak W, Advani RH, Romaguera JE, Williams ME, Barrientos JC, Chmielowska E, Radford J, Stilgenbauer S, Dreyling M, Jedrzejczak WW, Johnson P, Spurgeon SE, Li L, Zhang L, Newberry K, Ou Z, Cheng N, Fang B, McGreivy J, Clow F, Buggy JJ, Chang BY, Beaupre DM, Kunkel LA, Blum KA. Targeting BTK with ibrutinib in relapsed or refractory mantle-cell lymphoma. *N Engl J Med*. 2013; 369(6): 507-16.
- 99. Treon SP, Tripsas CK, Meid K, Warren D, Varma G, Green R, Argyropoulos KV, Yang G, Cao Y, Xu L, Patterson CJ, Rodig S, Zehnder JL, Aster JC, Harris NL, Kanan S, Ghobrial I, Castillo JJ, Laubach JP, Hunter ZR, Salman Z, Li J, Cheng M, Clow F, Graef T, Palomba ML, Advani RH. Ibrutinib in previously treated Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. *N Engl J Med.* 2015; 372(15): 1430-40.
- 100. Atkinson BT, Ellmeier W, Watson SP. Tec regulates platelet activation by GPVI in the absence of Btk. *Blood*. 2003; 102(10): 3592-9.
- Shatzel JJ, Olson SR, Tao DL, McCarty OJT, Danilov AV, DeLoughery TG. Ibrutinib-associated bleeding: pathogenesis, management and risk reduction strategies. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2017; 15(5): 835-47.
- 102. Wu J, Zhang M, Liu D. Acalabrutinib (ACP-196): a selective second-generation BTK inhibitor. *J Hematol Oncol.* 2016; 9: 21.
- 103. Galovic R, Flegar-Mestric Z, Vidjak V, Matokanovic M, Barisic K. Heat shock protein 70 and antibodies to heat shock protein 60 are associated with cerebrovascular atherosclerosis. *Clin Biochem.* 2016; 49(1-2): 66-9.
- 104. Duerschmied D, Bode C. Hsp70 preventing thrombosis: benefit without burden? *Cardiovasc Res.* 2016; 110(3): 291-2.
- 105. Allende M, Molina E, Guruceaga E, Tamayo I, Gonzalez-Porras JR, Gonzalez-Lopez TJ, Toledo E, Rabal O, Ugarte A, Roldan V, Rivera J, Oyarzabal J, Montes R, Hermida J. Hsp70 protects from stroke in atrial fibrillation patients by preventing thrombosis without increased bleeding risk. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2016; 110(3): 309-18.
- 106. Allende M, Molina E, Lecumberri R, Sanchez-Arias JA, Ugarte A, Guruceaga E, Oyarzabal J, Hermida J. Inducing heat shock protein 70 expression provides a robust antithrombotic effect with minimal bleeding risk. *Thromb Haemost*. 2017; 117(9).
- 107. Traister A, Walsh M, Aafaqi S, Lu M, Dai X, Henkleman MR, Momen A, Zhou YQ, Husain M, Arab S, Piran S, Hannigan G, Coles JG. Mutation in integrin-linked kinase (ILK(R211A)) and heat-shock protein 70 comprise a broadly cardioprotective complex. *PLoS One*. 2013; 8(11): e77331.
- 108. Tucker KL, Sage T, Stevens JM, Jordan PA, Jones S, Barrett NE, St-Arnaud R, Frampton J, Dedhar S, Gibbins JM. A dual role for integrin-linked kinase in platelets: regulating integrin function and alpha-granule secretion. *Blood*. 2008; 112(12): 4523-31.
- 109. Rondina MT, Weyrich AS, Zimmerman GA. Platelets as cellular effectors of inflammation in vascular diseases. *Circ Res.* 2013; 112(11): 1506-19.
- 110. Molvarec A, Tamasi L, Losonczy G, Madach K, Prohaszka Z, Rigo J, Jr. Circulating heat shock protein 70 (HSPA1A) in normal and pathological pregnancies. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2010; 15(3): 237-47.
- 111. Inoue N, Sawamura T. Lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor-1 as extracellular chaperone receptor: its versatile functions and human diseases. *Methods*. 2007; 43(3): 218-22.
- 112. Mambula SS, Stevenson MA, Ogawa K, Calderwood SK. Mechanisms for Hsp70 secretion: crossing membranes without a leader. *Methods*. 2007; 43(3): 168-75.
- 113. Krepuska M, Szeberin Z, Sotonyi P, Sarkadi H, Fehervari M, Apor A, Rimely E, Prohaszka Z, Acsady G. Serum level of soluble Hsp70 is associated with vascular calcification. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2011; 16(3): 257-65.
- 114. Inwald DP, McDowall A, Peters MJ, Callard RE, Klein NJ. CD40 is constitutively expressed on platelets and provides a novel mechanism for platelet activation. *Circ Res.* 2003; 92(9): 1041-8.
- 115. Rodrigues-Krause J, Krause M, O'Hagan C, De Vito G, Boreham C, Murphy C, Newsholme P, Colleran G. Divergence of intracellular and extracellular HSP72 in type 2 diabetes: does fat matter? *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2012; 17(3): 293-302.
- 116. Krause M, Heck TG, Bittencourt A, Scomazzon SP, Newsholme P, Curi R, Homem de Bittencourt PI, Jr. The chaperone balance hypothesis: the importance of the extracellular to intracellular HSP70

ratio to inflammation-driven type 2 diabetes, the effect of exercise, and the implications for clinical management. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2015; 2015: 249205.

- 117. Santos TM, Sinzato YK, Gallego FQ, Iessi IL, Volpato GT, Dallaqua B, Damasceno DC. Extracellular HSP70 levels in diabetic environment in rats. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2015; 20(4): 595-603.
- 118. Somensi N, Brum PO, de Miranda Ramos V, Gasparotto J, Zanotto-Filho A, Rostirolla DC, da Silva Morrone M, Moreira JCF, Pens Gelain D. Extracellular HSP70 Activates ERK1/2, NF-kB and Pro-Inflammatory Gene Transcription Through Binding with RAGE in A549 Human Lung Cancer Cells. *Cell Physiol Biochem*. 2017; 42(6): 2507-22.
- 119. Hilf N, Singh-Jasuja H, Schwarzmaier P, Gouttefangeas C, Rammensee HG, Schild H. Human platelets express heat shock protein receptors and regulate dendritic cell maturation. *Blood*. 2002; 99(10): 3676-82.
- 120. Aslam R, Speck ER, Kim M, Crow AR, Bang KW, Nestel FP, Ni H, Lazarus AH, Freedman J, Semple JW. Platelet Toll-like receptor expression modulates lipopolysaccharide-induced thrombocytopenia and tumor necrosis factor-alpha production in vivo. *Blood*. 2006; 107(2): 637-41.
- 121. Shiraki R, Inoue N, Kawasaki S, Takei A, Kadotani M, Ohnishi Y, Ejiri J, Kobayashi S, Hirata K, Kawashima S, Yokoyama M. Expression of Toll-like receptors on human platelets. *Thromb Res.* 2004; 113(6): 379-85.
- 122. Vinokurov M, Ostrov V, Yurinskaya M, Garbuz D, Murashev A, Antonova O, Evgen'ev M. Recombinant human Hsp70 protects against lipoteichoic acid-induced inflammation manifestations at the cellular and organismal levels. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2012; 17(1): 89-101.
- 123. Wang YL, Shen HH, Cheng PY, Chu YJ, Hwang HR, Lam KK, Lee YM. 17-DMAG, an HSP90 Inhibitor, Ameliorates Multiple Organ Dysfunction Syndrome via Induction of HSP70 in Endotoxemic Rats. *PLoS One*. 2016; 11(5): e0155583.
- 124. Assimon VA, Gillies AT, Rauch JN, Gestwicki JE. Hsp70 protein complexes as drug targets. *Curr Pharm Des.* 2013; 19(3): 404-17.
- 125. Tricoci P, Huang Z, Held C, Moliterno DJ, Armstrong PW, Van de Werf F, White HD, Aylward PE, Wallentin L, Chen E, Lokhnygina Y, Pei J, Leonardi S, Rorick TL, Kilian AM, Jennings LH, Ambrosio G, Bode C, Cequier A, Cornel JH, Diaz R, Erkan A, Huber K, Hudson MP, Jiang L, Jukema JW, Lewis BS, Lincoff AM, Montalescot G, Nicolau JC, Ogawa H, Pfisterer M, Prieto JC, Ruzyllo W, Sinnaeve PR, Storey RF, Valgimigli M, Whellan DJ, Widimsky P, Strony J, Harrington RA, Mahaffey KW. Thrombin-receptor antagonist vorapaxar in acute coronary syndromes. *N Engl J Med*. 2012; 366(1): 20-33.
- 126. Duvernay M, Young S, Gailani D, Schoenecker J, Hamm HE. Protease-activated receptor (PAR) 1 and PAR4 differentially regulate factor V expression from human platelets. *Mol Pharmacol.* 2013; 83(4): 781-92.

- 127. French SL, Hamilton JR. Protease activated receptor 4: from structure to function and back again. *Br J Pharmacol*, 2016, 2952-65.
- 128. Safety and Efficacy Study of a Protease Activated Receptor-4 Antagonist Being Tested to Reduce the Chances of Having Additional Strokes or "Mini Strokes". 2017. Retrieved from http://clinicaltrials.gov/ (Identification No. NCT02671461).
- 129. Healy LD, Puy C, Fernandez JA, Mitrugno A, Keshari RS, Taku NA, Chu TT, Xu X, Gruber A, Lupu F, Griffin JH, McCarty OJT. Activated protein C inhibits neutrophil extracellular trap formation in vitro and activation in vivo. *J Biol Chem.* 2017; 292(21): 8616-29.
- 130. Aslan JE, Tormoen GW, Loren CP, Pang J, McCarty OJ. S6K1 and mTOR regulate Rac1-driven platelet activation and aggregation. *Blood*. 2011; 118(11): 3129-36.
- 131. Aslan JE, Itakura A, Haley KM, Tormoen GW, Loren CP, Baker SM, Pang J, Chernoff J, McCarty OJ. p21 activated kinase signaling coordinates glycoprotein receptor VI-mediated platelet aggregation, lamellipodia formation, and aggregate stability under shear. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2013; 33(7): 1544-51.
- 132. Lopez-Herrera G, Vargas-Hernandez A, Gonzalez-Serrano ME, Berron-Ruiz L, Rodriguez-Alba JC, Espinosa-Rosales F, Santos-Argumedo L. Bruton's tyrosine kinase--an integral protein of B cell development that also has an essential role in the innate immune system. *J Leukoc Biol*. 2014; 95(2): 243-50.
- 133. Rawlings DJ, Scharenberg AM, Park H, Wahl MI, Lin S, Kato RM, Fluckiger A-C, Witte ON, Kinet J-P. Activation of BTK by a Phosphorylation Mechanism Initiated by SRC Family Kinases. *Science*. 1996; 271(5250): 822-5.
- 134. Bradshaw JM. The Src, Syk, and Tec family kinases: Distinct types of molecular switches. *Cell Signal*. 2010; 22(8): 1175-84.
- 135. Quek LS, Bolen J, Watson SP. A role for Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk) in platelet activation by collagen. *Curr Biol.* 1998; 8(20): 1137-40.
- 136. Séverin S, Nash CA, Mori J, Zhao Y, Abram C, Lowell CA, Senis YA, Watson SP. Distinct and overlapping functional roles of Src family kinases in mouse platelets. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2012; 10(8): 1631-45.
- Liu J, Fitzgerald ME, Berndt MC, Jackson CW, Gartner TK. Bruton tyrosine kinase is essential for botrocetin/VWF-induced signaling and GPIb-dependent thrombus formation in vivo. *Blood*. 2006; 108(8): 2596-603.
- 138. Cheng S, Ma J, Guo A, Lu P, Leonard JP, Coleman M, Liu M, Buggy JJ, Furman RR, Wang YL. BTK inhibition targets in vivo CLL proliferation through its effects on B-cell receptor signaling activity. *Leukemia*. 2014; 28(3): 649-57.

- 139. Brown JR, Barrientos JC, Barr PM, Flinn IW, Burger JA, Tran A, Clow F, James DF, Graef T, Friedberg JW, Rai K, O'Brien S. The Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor ibrutinib with chemoimmunotherapy in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood.* 2015; 125(19): 2915-22.
- 140. Herman SE, Gordon AL, Hertlein E, Ramanunni A, Zhang X, Jaglowski S, Flynn J, Jones J, Blum KA, Buggy JJ, Hamdy A, Johnson AJ, Byrd JC. Bruton tyrosine kinase represents a promising therapeutic target for treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia and is effectively targeted by PCI-32765. *Blood*. 2011; 117(23): 6287-96.
- 141. Advani RH, Buggy JJ, Sharman JP, Smith SM, Boyd TE, Grant B, Kolibaba KS, Furman RR, Rodriguez S, Chang BY, Sukbuntherng J, Izumi R, Hamdy A, Hedrick E, Fowler NH. Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor ibrutinib (PCI-32765) has significant activity in patients with relapsed/refractory B-cell malignancies. *J Clin Oncol.* 2013; 31(1): 88-94.
- 142. Bhatt V, Alejandro L, Michael A, Ganetsky A. The promising impact of ibrutinib, a Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitor, for the management of lymphoid malignancies. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2014; 34(3): 303-14.
- 143. Kamel S, Horton L, Ysebaert L, Levade M, Burbury K, Tan S, Cole-Sinclair M, Reynolds J, Filshie R, Schischka S, Khot A, Sandhu S, Keating MJ, Nandurkar H, Tam CS. Ibrutinib inhibits collagenmediated but not ADP-mediated platelet aggregation. *Leukemia*. 2015; 29(4): 783-7.
- 144. Levade M, David E, Garcia C, Laurent PA, Cadot S, Michallet AS, Bordet JC, Tam C, Sie P, Ysebaert L, Payrastre B. Ibrutinib treatment affects collagen and von Willebrand factor-dependent platelet functions. *Blood.* 2014; 124(26): 3991-5.
- 145. Aslan JE, Itakura A, Gertz JM, McCarty OJ. Platelet shape change and spreading. *Methods Mol Biol.* 2012; 788: 91-100.
- 146. Marostica E, Sukbuntherng J, Loury D, de Jong J, de Trixhe XW, Vermeulen A, De Nicolao G, O'Brien S, Byrd JC, Advani R, McGreivy J, Poggesi I. Population pharmacokinetic model of ibrutinib, a Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor, in patients with B cell malignancies. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* 2015; 75(1): 111-21.
- 147. Furie B, Furie BC, Flaumenhaft R. A journey with platelet P-selectin: the molecular basis of granule secretion, signalling and cell adhesion. *Thromb Haemost*. 2001; 86(1): 214-21.
- 148. Thornber K, McCarty OJ, Watson SP, Pears CJ. Distinct but critical roles for integrin alphaIIbbeta3 in platelet lamellipodia formation on fibrinogen, collagen-related peptide and thrombin. *FEBS J*. 2006; 273(22): 5032-43.
- 149. Bye AP, Unsworth AJ, Vaiyapuri S, Stainer AR, Fry MJ, Gibbins JM. Ibrutinib Inhibits Platelet Integrin alphaIIbbeta3 Outside-In Signaling and Thrombus Stability But Not Adhesion to Collagen. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2015.

- 150. Mayer MP, Bukau B. Hsp70 chaperones: cellular functions and molecular mechanism. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2005; 62(6): 670-84.
- 151. Clerico EM, Tilitsky JM, Meng W, Gierasch LM. How Hsp70 Molecular Machines Interact with Their Substrates to Mediate Diverse Physiological Functions. *J Mol Biol*. 2015; 427(7): 1575-88.
- 152. Saibil H. Chaperone machines for protein folding, unfolding and disaggregation. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2013; 14(10): 630-42.
- Boorstein WR, Ziegelhoffer T, Craig EA. Molecular evolution of the HSP70 multigene family. J Mol Evol. 1994; 38(1): 1-17.
- 154. Patury S, Miyata Y, Gestwicki JE. Pharmacological targeting of the Hsp70 chaperone. *Curr Top Med Chem.* 2009; 9(15): 1337-51.
- 155. Kampinga HH, Craig EA. The HSP70 chaperone machinery: J proteins as drivers of functional specificity. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*. 2010; 11(8): 579-92.
- 156. Ma YQ, Qin J, Plow EF. Platelet integrin alpha(IIb)beta(3): activation mechanisms. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2007; 5(7): 1345-52.
- 157. Aslan JE, Baker SM, Loren CP, Haley KM, Itakura A, Pang J, Greenberg DL, David LL, Manser E, Chernoff J, McCarty OJ. The PAK system links Rho GTPase signaling to thrombin-mediated platelet activation. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 2013; 305(5): C519-28.
- 158. Young JC, Barral JM, Ulrich Hartl F. More than folding: localized functions of cytosolic chaperones. *Trends Biochem Sci*. 2003; 28(10): 541-7.
- 159. van Nispen Tot Pannerden HE, van Dijk SM, Du V, Heijnen HF. Platelet protein disulfide isomerase is localized in the dense tubular system and does not become surface expressed after activation. *Blood.* 2009; 114(21): 4738-40.
- 160. Williamson DS, Borgognoni J, Clay A, Daniels Z, Dokurno P, Drysdale MJ, Foloppe N, Francis GL, Graham CJ, Howes R, Macias AT, Murray JB, Parsons R, Shaw T, Surgenor AE, Terry L, Wang Y, Wood M, Massey AJ. Novel adenosine-derived inhibitors of 70 kDa heat shock protein, discovered through structure-based design. *J Med Chem.* 2009; 52(6): 1510-3.
- 161. Massey AJ, Williamson DS, Browne H, Murray JB, Dokurno P, Shaw T, Macias AT, Daniels Z, Geoffroy S, Dopson M, Lavan P, Matassova N, Francis GL, Graham CJ, Parsons R, Wang Y, Padfield A, Comer M, Drysdale MJ, Wood M. A novel, small molecule inhibitor of Hsc70/Hsp70 potentiates Hsp90 inhibitor induced apoptosis in HCT116 colon carcinoma cells. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* 2010; 66(3): 535-45.
- 162. Schlecht R, Scholz SR, Dahmen H, Wegener A, Sirrenberg C, Musil D, Bomke J, Eggenweiler HM, Mayer MP, Bukau B. Functional analysis of Hsp70 inhibitors. *PLoS One*. 2013; 8(11): e78443.

- 163. Rousaki A, Miyata Y, Jinwal UK, Dickey CA, Gestwicki JE, Zuiderweg ER. Allosteric drugs: the interaction of antitumor compound MKT-077 with human Hsp70 chaperones. *J Mol Biol*. 2011; 411(3): 614-32.
- 164. Wadhwa R, Sugihara T, Yoshida A, Nomura H, Reddel RR, Simpson R, Maruta H, Kaul SC. Selective toxicity of MKT-077 to cancer cells is mediated by its binding to the hsp70 family protein mot-2 and reactivation of p53 function. *Cancer Res.* 2000; 60(24): 6818-21.
- 165. Merten M, Thiagarajan P. P-selectin expression on platelets determines size and stability of platelet aggregates. *Circulation*. 2000; 102(16): 1931-6.
- 166. Goncalves I, Hughan SC, Schoenwaelder SM, Yap CL, Yuan Y, Jackson SP. Integrin alpha IIb beta 3-dependent calcium signals regulate platelet-fibrinogen interactions under flow. Involvement of phospholipase C gamma 2. *J Biol Chem*. 2003; 278(37): 34812-22.
- 167. Pasquet JM, Gross B, Quek L, Asazuma N, Zhang W, Sommers CL, Schweighoffer E, Tybulewicz V, Judd B, Lee JR, Koretzky G, Love PE, Samelson LE, Watson SP. LAT is required for tyrosine phosphorylation of phospholipase cgamma2 and platelet activation by the collagen receptor GPVI. *Mol Cell Biol.* 1999; 19(12): 8326-34.
- 168. Wonerow P, Obergfell A, Wilde JI, Bobe R, Asazuma N, Brdicka T, Leo A, Schraven B, Horejsi V, Shattil SJ, Watson SP. Differential role of glycolipid-enriched membrane domains in glycoprotein VI- and integrin-mediated phospholipase Cgamma2 regulation in platelets. *Biochem J*. 2002; 364(Pt 3): 755-65.
- 169. Hughes CE, Auger JM, McGlade J, Eble JA, Pearce AC, Watson SP. Differential roles for the adapters Gads and LAT in platelet activation by GPVI and CLEC-2. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2008; 6(12): 2152-9.
- Pearce AC, Senis YA, Billadeau DD, Turner M, Watson SP, Vigorito E. Vav1 and vav3 have critical but redundant roles in mediating platelet activation by collagen. *J Biol Chem.* 2004; 279(52): 53955-62.
- 171. Lalo U, Jones S, Roberts JA, Mahaut-Smith MP, Evans RJ. Heat shock protein 90 inhibitors reduce trafficking of ATP-gated P2X1 receptors and human platelet responsiveness. *J Biol Chem*. 2012; 287(39): 32747-54.
- 172. Asazuma N, Wilde JI, Berlanga O, Leduc M, Leo A, Schweighoffer E, Tybulewicz V, Bon C, Liu SK, McGlade CJ, Schraven B, Watson SP. Interaction of linker for activation of T cells with multiple adapter proteins in platelets activated by the glycoprotein VI-selective ligand, convulxin. *J Biol Chem.* 2000; 275(43): 33427-34.
- 173. Judd BA, Myung PS, Obergfell A, Myers EE, Cheng AM, Watson SP, Pear WS, Allman D, Shattil SJ, Koretzky GA. Differential requirement for LAT and SLP-76 in GPVI versus T cell receptor signaling. *J Exp Med.* 2002; 195(6): 705-17.

- 174. Razidlo GL, Wang Y, Chen J, Krueger EW, Billadeau DD, McNiven MA. Dynamin 2 potentiates invasive migration of pancreatic tumor cells through stabilization of the Rac1 GEF Vav1. *Dev Cell*. 2013; 24(6): 573-85.
- 175. Doong H, Price J, Kim YS, Gasbarre C, Probst J, Liotta LA, Blanchette J, Rizzo K, Kohn E. CAIR-1/BAG-3 forms an EGF-regulated ternary complex with phospholipase C-gamma and Hsp70/Hsc70. *Oncogene*. 2000; 19(38): 4385-95.
- 176. Doong H, Vrailas A, Kohn EC. What's in the 'BAG'?--A functional domain analysis of the BAGfamily proteins. *Cancer Lett.* 2002; 188(1-2): 25-32.
- 177. Lancaster GI, Febbraio MA. Exosome-dependent trafficking of HSP70: a novel secretory pathway for cellular stress proteins. *J Biol Chem.* 2005; 280(24): 23349-55.
- 178. Vega VL, Rodriguez-Silva M, Frey T, Gehrmann M, Diaz JC, Steinem C, Multhoff G, Arispe N, De Maio A. Hsp70 translocates into the plasma membrane after stress and is released into the extracellular environment in a membrane-associated form that activates macrophages. *J Immunol.* 2008; 180(6): 4299-307.
- 179. Anand PK. Exosomal membrane molecules are potent immune response modulators. *Commun Integr Biol.* 2010; 3(5): 405-8.
- 180. Asea A, Rehli M, Kabingu E, Boch JA, Bare O, Auron PE, Stevenson MA, Calderwood SK. Novel signal transduction pathway utilized by extracellular HSP70: role of toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 and TLR4. *J Biol Chem.* 2002; 277(17): 15028-34.
- 181. Asea A, Kraeft SK, Kurt-Jones EA, Stevenson MA, Chen LB, Finberg RW, Koo GC, Calderwood SK. HSP70 stimulates cytokine production through a CD14-dependant pathway, demonstrating its dual role as a chaperone and cytokine. *Nat Med.* 2000; 6(4): 435-42.
- 182. Chen T, Cao X. Stress for maintaining memory: HSP70 as a mobile messenger for innate and adaptive immunity. *Eur J Immunol*. 2010; 40(6): 1541-4.
- 183. Theriault JR, Mambula SS, Sawamura T, Stevenson MA, Calderwood SK. Extracellular HSP70 binding to surface receptors present on antigen presenting cells and endothelial/epithelial cells. FEBS Lett. 2005; 579(9): 1951-60.
- 184. Gutierrez T, Simmen T. Endoplasmic reticulum chaperones and oxidoreductases: critical regulators of tumor cell survival and immunorecognition. *Front Oncol.* 2014; 4: 291.
- 185. Pockley AG, Calderwood SK, Multhoff G. The atheroprotective properties of Hsp70: a role for Hsp70-endothelial interactions? *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2009; 14(6): 545-53.
- 186. Keularts IM, van Gorp RM, Feijge MA, Vuist WM, Heemskerk JW. alpha(2A)-adrenergic receptor stimulation potentiates calcium release in platelets by modulating cAMP levels. *J Biol Chem.* 2000; 275(3): 1763-72.

- 187. Nieman MT. Protease-activated receptors in hemostasis. Blood. 2016; 128(2): 169-77.
- 188. Vu TK, Wheaton VI, Hung DT, Charo I, Coughlin SR. Domains specifying thrombin-receptor interaction. *Nature*. 1991; 353(6345): 674-7.
- 189. Nieman MT, Schmaier AH. Interaction of thrombin with PAR1 and PAR4 at the thrombin cleavage site. *Biochemistry*. 2007; 46(29): 8603-10.
- 190. Arora P, Ricks TK, Trejo J. Protease-activated receptor signalling, endocytic sorting and dysregulation in cancer. *J Cell Sci.* 2007; 120(Pt 6): 921-8.
- 191. Smith TH, Coronel LJ, Li JG, Dores MR, Nieman MT, Trejo J. Protease-activated Receptor-4 Signaling and Trafficking Is Regulated by the Clathrin Adaptor Protein Complex-2 Independent of beta-Arrestins. *J Biol Chem.* 2016; 291(35): 18453-64.
- 192. Covic L, Singh C, Smith H, Kuliopulos A. Role of the PAR4 thrombin receptor in stabilizing platelet-platelet aggregates as revealed by a patient with Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome. *Thromb Haemost*. 2002; 87(4): 722-7.
- 193. King SM, McNamee RA, Houng AK, Patel R, Brands M, Reed GL. Platelet dense-granule secretion plays a critical role in thrombosis and subsequent vascular remodeling in atherosclerotic mice. *Circulation*. 2009; 120(9): 785-91.
- 194. Manne BK, Xiang SC, Rondina MT. Platelet secretion in inflammatory and infectious diseases. *Platelets*. 2017; 28(2): 155-64.
- 195. Zhao P, Metcalf M, Bunnett NW. Biased signaling of protease-activated receptors. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne).* 2014; 5: 67.
- 196. Xu WF, Andersen H, Whitmore TE, Presnell SR, Yee DP, Ching A, Gilbert T, Davie EW, Foster DC. Cloning and characterization of human protease-activated receptor 4. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1998; 95(12): 6642-6.
- 197. Quinton TM, Kim S, Derian CK, Jin J, Kunapuli SP. Plasmin-mediated activation of platelets occurs by cleavage of protease-activated receptor 4. *J Biol Chem.* 2004; 279(18): 18434-9.
- 198. Sambrano GR, Huang W, Faruqi T, Mahrus S, Craik C, Coughlin SR. Cathepsin G activates protease-activated receptor-4 in human platelets. *J Biol Chem.* 2000; 275(10): 6819-23.
- 199. Oikonomopoulou K, Hansen KK, Saifeddine M, Tea I, Blaber M, Blaber SI, Scarisbrick I, Andrade-Gordon P, Cottrell GS, Bunnett NW, Diamandis EP, Hollenberg MD. Proteinase-activated receptors, targets for kallikrein signaling. *J Biol Chem.* 2006; 281(43): 32095-112.
- 200. Totani L, Evangelista V. Platelet-leukocyte interactions in cardiovascular disease and beyond. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2010; 30(12): 2357-61.

- 201. Vergnolle N. Protease-activated receptors as drug targets in inflammation and pain. *Pharmacol Ther.* 2009; 123(3): 292-309.
- 202. Duvernay MT, Temple KJ, Maeng JG, Blobaum AL, Stauffer SR, Lindsley CW, Hamm HE. Contributions of Protease-Activated Receptors PAR1 and PAR4 to Thrombin-Induced GPIIbIIIa Activation in Human Platelets. *Mol Pharmacol.* 2017; 91(1): 39-47.
- 203. Mitrugno A, Williams D, Kerrigan SW, Moran N. A novel and essential role for FcgammaRIIa in cancer cell-induced platelet activation. *Blood*. 2014; 123(2): 249-60.
- 204. Mauler M, Seyfert J, Haenel D, Seeba H, Guenther J, Stallmann D, Schoenichen C, Hilgendorf I, Bode C, Ahrens I, Duerschmied D. Platelet-neutrophil complex formation-a detailed in vitro analysis of murine and human blood samples. *J Leukoc Biol*. 2016; 99(5): 781-9.
- 205. Zilberman-Rudenko J, Itakura A, Wiesenekker CP, Vetter R, Maas C, Gailani D, Tucker EI, Gruber A, Gerdes C, McCarty OJ. Coagulation Factor XI Promotes Distal Platelet Activation and Single Platelet Consumption in the Bloodstream Under Shear Flow. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2016; 36(3): 510-7.
- 206. Konstantopoulos K, Neelamegham S, Burns AR, Hentzen E, Kansas GS, Snapp KR, Berg EL, Hellums JD, Smith CW, McIntire LV, Simon SI. Venous levels of shear support neutrophil-platelet adhesion and neutrophil aggregation in blood via P-selectin and beta2-integrin. *Circulation*. 1998; 98(9): 873-82.
- 207. Morrell CN, Aggrey AA, Chapman LM, Modjeski KL. Emerging roles for platelets as immune and inflammatory cells. *Blood*. 2014; 123(18): 2759-67.
- 208. Jin J, Mao Y, Thomas D, Kim S, Daniel JL, Kunapuli SP. RhoA downstream of G(q) and G(12/13) pathways regulates protease-activated receptor-mediated dense granule release in platelets. *Biochem Pharmacol*. 2009; 77(5): 835-44.
- 209. Kahn ML, Zheng YW, Huang W, Bigornia V, Zeng D, Moff S, Farese RV, Jr., Tam C, Coughlin SR. A dual thrombin receptor system for platelet activation. *Nature*. 1998; 394(6694): 690-4.
- Hamilton JR, Cornelissen I, Coughlin SR. Impaired hemostasis and protection against thrombosis in protease-activated receptor 4-deficient mice is due to lack of thrombin signaling in platelets. J Thromb Haemost. 2004; 2(8): 1429-35.
- 211. Foley JH. Plasmin(ogen) at the Nexus of Fibrinolysis, Inflammation, and Complement. *Semin Thromb Hemost.* 2017; 43(2): 135-42.
- 212. Kessenbrock K, Dau T, Jenne DE. Tailor-made inflammation: how neutrophil serine proteases modulate the inflammatory response. *J Mol Med (Berl)*. 2011; 89(1): 23-8.
- 213. Diamond SL. Systems Analysis of Thrombus Formation. Circ Res. 2016; 118(9): 1348-62.

- 214. Haselmayer P, Grosse-Hovest L, von Landenberg P, Schild H, Radsak MP. TREM-1 ligand expression on platelets enhances neutrophil activation. *Blood*. 2007; 110(3): 1029-35.
- 215. Barnard MR, Linden MD, Frelinger AL, 3rd, Li Y, Fox ML, Furman MI, Michelson AD. Effects of platelet binding on whole blood flow cytometry assays of monocyte and neutrophil procoagulant activity. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2005; 3(11): 2563-70.
- 216. Sarma J, Laan CA, Alam S, Jha A, Fox KA, Dransfield I. Increased platelet binding to circulating monocytes in acute coronary syndromes. *Circulation*. 2002; 105(18): 2166-71.
- 217. Zarbock A, Singbartl K, Ley K. Complete reversal of acid-induced acute lung injury by blocking of platelet-neutrophil aggregation. *J Clin Invest*. 2006; 116(12): 3211-9.
- 218. Kornerup KN, Salmon GP, Pitchford SC, Liu WL, Page CP. Circulating platelet-neutrophil complexes are important for subsequent neutrophil activation and migration. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*. 2010; 109(3): 758-67.
- 219. Nijm J, Wikby A, Tompa A, Olsson AG, Jonasson L. Circulating levels of proinflammatory cytokines and neutrophil-platelet aggregates in patients with coronary artery disease. *Am J Cardiol*. 2005; 95(4): 452-6.
- 220. Scholz T, Zhao L, Temmler U, Bath P, Heptinstall S, Losche W. The GPIIb/IIIa antagonist eptifibatide markedly potentiates platelet-leukocyte interaction and tissue factor expression following platelet activation in whole blood in vitro. *Platelets*. 2002; 13(7): 401-6.
- 221. Newby LK, Califf RM, White HD, Harrington RA, Van de Werf F, Granger CB, Simes RJ, Hasselblad V, Armstrong PW. The failure of orally administered glycoprotein IIb/IIIa inhibitors to prevent recurrent cardiac events. *Am J Med*. 2002; 112(8): 647-58.
- 222. Edelstein LC, Simon LM, Montoya RT, Holinstat M, Chen ES, Bergeron A, Kong X, Nagalla S, Mohandas N, Cohen DE, Dong JF, Shaw C, Bray PF. Racial differences in human platelet PAR4 reactivity reflect expression of PCTP and miR-376c. *Nat Med.* 2013; 19(12): 1609-16.
- 223. Dabek M, Ferrier L, Roka R, Gecse K, Annahazi A, Moreau J, Escourrou J, Cartier C, Chaumaz G, Leveque M, Ait-Belgnaoui A, Wittmann T, Theodorou V, Bueno L. Luminal cathepsin g and protease-activated receptor 4: a duet involved in alterations of the colonic epithelial barrier in ulcerative colitis. *Am J Pathol.* 2009; 175(1): 207-14.
- 224. Dabek M, Ferrier L, Annahazi A, Bezirard V, Polizzi A, Cartier C, Leveque M, Roka R, Wittmann T, Theodorou V, Bueno L. Intracolonic infusion of fecal supernatants from ulcerative colitis patients triggers altered permeability and inflammation in mice: role of cathepsin G and protease-activated receptor-4. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* 2011; 17(6): 1409-14.
- 225. Shimazu H, Munakata S, Tashiro Y, Salama Y, Dhahri D, Eiamboonsert S, Ota Y, Onoda H, Tsuda Y, Okada Y, Nakauchi H, Heissig B, Hattori K. Pharmacological targeting of plasmin prevents lethality in a murine model of macrophage activation syndrome. *Blood.* 2017; 130(1): 59-72.

- 226. Wu J, Liu C, Tsui ST, Liu D. Second-generation inhibitors of Bruton tyrosine kinase. *J Hematol Oncol*. 2016; 9(1): 80.
- 227. Ciocca DR, Calderwood SK. Heat shock proteins in cancer: diagnostic, prognostic, predictive, and treatment implications. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2005; 10(2): 86-103.
- 228. Druker BJ. Imatinib as a paradigm of targeted therapies. Adv Cancer Res. 2004; 91: 1-30.
- 229. O'Hare T, Walters DK, Stoffregen EP, Jia T, Manley PW, Mestan J, Cowan-Jacob SW, Lee FY, Heinrich MC, Deininger MW, Druker BJ. In vitro activity of Bcr-Abl inhibitors AMN107 and BMS-354825 against clinically relevant imatinib-resistant Abl kinase domain mutants. *Cancer Res.* 2005; 65(11): 4500-5.
- 230. Weisberg E, Manley PW, Breitenstein W, Bruggen J, Cowan-Jacob SW, Ray A, Huntly B, Fabbro D, Fendrich G, Hall-Meyers E, Kung AL, Mestan J, Daley GQ, Callahan L, Catley L, Cavazza C, Azam M, Neuberg D, Wright RD, Gilliland DG, Griffin JD. Characterization of AMN107, a selective inhibitor of native and mutant Bcr-Abl. *Cancer Cell*. 2005; 7(2): 129-41.
- 231. Weisberg E, Manley P, Mestan J, Cowan-Jacob S, Ray A, Griffin JD. AMN107 (nilotinib): a novel and selective inhibitor of BCR-ABL. *Br J Cancer*. 2006; 94(12): 1765-9.
- 232. Huang WS, Metcalf CA, Sundaramoorthi R, Wang Y, Zou D, Thomas RM, Zhu X, Cai L, Wen D, Liu S, Romero J, Qi J, Chen I, Banda G, Lentini SP, Das S, Xu Q, Keats J, Wang F, Wardwell S, Ning Y, Snodgrass JT, Broudy MI, Russian K, Zhou T, Commodore L, Narasimhan NI, Mohemmad QK, Iuliucci J, Rivera VM, Dalgarno DC, Sawyer TK, Clackson T, Shakespeare WC. Discovery of 3-[2-(imidazo[1,2-b]pyridazin-3-yl)ethynyl]-4-methyl-N-{4-[(4-methylpiperazin-1-y l)methyl]-3-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl}benzamide (AP24534), a potent, orally active pan-inhibitor of breakpoint cluster region-abelson (BCR-ABL) kinase including the T315I gatekeeper mutant. *J Med Chem*. 2010; 53(12): 4701-19.
- 233. Gozgit JM, Wong MJ, Wardwell S, Tyner JW, Loriaux MM, Mohemmad QK, Narasimhan NI, Shakespeare WC, Wang F, Druker BJ, Clackson T, Rivera VM. Potent activity of ponatinib (AP24534) in models of FLT3-driven acute myeloid leukemia and other hematologic malignancies. *Mol Cancer Ther.* 2011; 10(6): 1028-35.
- 234. Neelakantan P, Marin D, Laffan M, Goldman J, Apperley J, Milojkovic D. Platelet dysfunction associated with ponatinib, a new pan BCR-ABL inhibitor with efficacy for chronic myeloid leukemia resistant to multiple tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy. *Haematologica*. 2012; 97(9): 1444.
- 235. Quintas-Cardama A, Han X, Kantarjian H, Cortes J. Tyrosine kinase inhibitor-induced platelet dysfunction in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia. *Blood*. 2009; 114(2): 261-3.
- 236. Cohen MH, Williams G, Johnson JR, Duan J, Gobburu J, Rahman A, Benson K, Leighton J, Kim SK, Wood R, Rothmann M, Chen G, U KM, Staten AM, Pazdur R. Approval summary for imatinib mesylate capsules in the treatment of chronic myelogenous leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2002; 8(5): 935-42.

- 237. Bocchia M, Galimberti S, Aprile L, Sicuranza A, Gozzini A, Santilli F, Abruzzese E, Barate C, Scappini B, Fontanelli G, Trawinska MM, Defina M, Gozzetti A, Bosi A, Petrini M, Puccetti L. Genetic predisposition and induced pro-inflammatory/pro-oxidative status may play a role in increased atherothrombotic events in nilotinib treated chronic myeloid leukemia patients. *Oncotarget*. 2016; 7(44): 72311-21.
- 238. Kim TD ea. Peripheral artery occlusive disease in chronic phase chronic myeloid leukemia patients treated with nilotinib or imatinib. PubMed NCBI. 2017.
- 239. Dalzell MD. Ponatinib pulled off market over safety issues. Manag Care. 2013; 22(12): 42-3.
- 240. Cortes JE ea. A phase 2 trial of ponatinib in Philadelphia chromosome-positive leukemias. -PubMed - NCBI. 2017.
- 241. Gover-Proaktor A, Granot G, Shapira S, Raz O, Pasvolsky O, Nagler A, Lev DL, Inbal A, Lubin I, Raanani P, Leader A. Ponatinib reduces viability, migration, and functionality of human endothelial cells. *Leuk Lymphoma*. 2017; 58(6): 1455-67.
- 242. O'Hare T, Shakespeare WC, Zhu X, Eide CA, Rivera VM, Wang F, Adrian LT, Zhou T, Huang WS, Xu Q, Metcalf CA, 3rd, Tyner JW, Loriaux MM, Corbin AS, Wardwell S, Ning Y, Keats JA, Wang Y, Sundaramoorthi R, Thomas M, Zhou D, Snodgrass J, Commodore L, Sawyer TK, Dalgarno DC, Deininger MW, Druker BJ, Clackson T. AP24534, a pan-BCR-ABL inhibitor for chronic myeloid leukemia, potently inhibits the T315I mutant and overcomes mutation-based resistance. *Cancer Cell*. 2009; 16(5): 401-12.
- 243. Xu W, Doshi A, Lei M, Eck MJ, Harrison SC. Crystal structures of c-Src reveal features of its autoinhibitory mechanism. *Mol Cell*. 1999; 3(5): 629-38.
- 244. Park H, Wahl MI, Afar DE, Turck CW, Rawlings DJ, Tam C, Scharenberg AM, Kinet JP, Witte ON. Regulation of Btk function by a major autophosphorylation site within the SH3 domain. *Immunity*. 1996; 4(5): 515-25.
- 245. Sadovnik I, Lierman E, Peter B, Herrmann H, Suppan V, Stefanzl G, Haas O, Lion T, Pickl W, Cools J, Vandenberghe P, Valent P. Identification of Ponatinib as a potent inhibitor of growth, migration, and activation of neoplastic eosinophils carrying FIP1L1-PDGFRA. *Exp Hematol*. 2014; 42(4): 282-93.e4.
- 246. Zilberman-Rudenko J, Sylman JL, Garland KS, Puy C, Wong AD, Searson PC, McCarty OJT. Utility of microfluidic devices to study the platelet-endothelium interface. *Platelets*. 2017; 28(5): 449-56.

Biographical Sketch

Rachel Anne Rigg was born on January 2, 1981 in Austin, Texas to David and Sally Rigg. The family moved to Sugar Land (near Houston) in 1990. Rachel attended Dulles High School and was active in the debate team, orchestra, and academic decathlon.

Rachel attended Rice University and obtained a B.A. in Religious Studies in 2004, while also developing interests in human evolution and the brain. She attended the University of Chicago in 2006 to study human evolution and psychology, receiving an M.A. in the Social Sciences.

In 2008, Rachel moved to Portland, Oregon to pursue an Americorps position in environmental restoration and volunteer coordination. Afterwards, she pursued postbaccaulareate studies at Portland State University in biology and chemistry. During this time, she volunteered in the lab of Owen McCarty as a microscopist and also worked as an aide in the lab of Rosalie Sears.

After graduating with postbaccaulareate B.S. in Chemistry, Rachel joined the lab of Owen McCarty as a graduate student in the Department of Biomedical Engineering. Her work is focused on platelet signaling and functional studies of platelet biology. In 2015-2016, she was awarded a Whitaker International Fellowship to study in the lab of Dr. Thomas Renné at the Karolinska Institutet in Stockholm, Sweden. She has published her research in peer-reviewed journals and presented at conferences throughout the U.S. and Europe. Rachel's current publications, presentations, and mentoring experiences are listed below.

Publications/Creative Work:

Peer-reviewed

- Phillips, K.G., Kolatkar, A., Rees, K.J., **Rigg, R.**, Marrinucci, D., Luttgen, M., Bethel, K., Kuhn, P., McCarty, O.J. Quantification of cellular volume and sub-cellular density fluctuations: comparison of normal peripheral blood cells and circulating tumor cells identified in a breast cancer patient. *Frontiers in Oncology*. 2012; 2(96).
- 2. Loren, C.P., Aslan, J.E., **Rigg, R.A.**, Nowak, M.S., Healy, L.D., Gruber, A., Druker, B.J., McCarty, O.J. The BCR-ABL inhibitor ponatinib inhibits platelet immunoreceptor tyrosinebased activation motif (ITAM) signaling, platelet activation and aggregate formation under shear. *Thrombosis Research*. 2015; 135(1):155-160.
- Phillips, K.G., Lee, A.M., Tormoen, G.W., Rigg, R.A., Kolatkar, A., Luttgen, M., Bethel, K., Bazhenova, L., Kuhn, P., Newton, P., McCarty, O.J. The thrombotic potential of circulating tumor microemboli: computational modeling of circulating tumor cell-induced coagulation. *American Journal of Physiology: Cell Physiology*. 2015; 308(3):C229-36.
- Phillips, K.G., Lee, T., de Guillebon, A.M., Chandrasekaran, S., McGuire, M.J., Carr, R.T., Baker-Groberg, S.M., **Rigg, R.A.**, Kolatkar, A., Luttgen, M., Bethel, K., Kuhn, P., Decuzzi, P., McCarty, O.J., King, M.R. A physical sciences network characterization of circulating tumor cell aggregate transport. *American Journal of Physiology: Cell Physiology*. 2015; 308(10):C792-802.
- Aslan, J.E., Rigg, R.A., Nowak, M.S., Loren, C.P., Baker-Groberg, S.M., Pang, J., David, L.L., McCarty, O.J. Lysine acetyltransfer supports platelet function. *Journal of Thrombosis and Hemostasis*. 2015; 13(10):1908-17.
- Rigg, R.A., Aslan, J.E., Healy, L.D., Wallisch, M., Loren, C.P., Pang, J., Hinds, M.T., Gruber, A., McCarty, O.J. Oral administration of Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase inhibitors impairs GPVImediated platelet function. *American Journal of Physiology: Cell Physiology*. 2016; 310(5):C373-80.
- 7. **Rigg, R.A.**, Healy, L.D., Nowak, M.S., Mallet, J., Thierheimer, M.L., Pang, J., McCarty, O.J., Aslan, J.E. Heat shock protein 70 regulates platelet integrin activation, granule secretion and aggregation. *American Journal of Physiology: Cell Physiology*. 2016; 310(7):C568-75.
- Labberton, L., Kenne, E., Long, A.T., Nickel, K.F., Di Gennaro, A., Rigg, R.A., Hernandez, J.S., Butler, L., Maas, C., Stavrou, E.X., Renné, T. Neutralizing blood-borne polyphosphate in vivo provides safe thromboprotection. *Nature Communications*. 7:12616.
- Ngo, A.T., Thierheimer, M.L., Babur, Ö., Rocheleau, A.D., Huang, T., Pang, J., Rigg, R.A., Mitrugno, A., Theodorescu, D., Burchard, J., Nan, X., Demir, E., McCarty, O.J., Aslan, J.E. Assessment of roles for the Rho-specific guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitor (RhoGDI) Ly-GDI in platelet function: a spatial systems approach. *American Journal of Physiology: Cell Physiology*. 2017; 312(4):C527-C536.
- Mitrugno, A., Rigg, R.A., Laschober, N.B., Ngo, A.T.P., Pang, J., Williams, C.E., Aslan, J.E., McCarty, O.J.T. Potentiation of TRAP-6-induced platelet dense granule release by blockade of P2Y12 signaling with MRS2395. *Platelets*. 2017; In press.

Rigg, R.A., Healy, L.D., Chu, T.T., Ngo, A.T.P., Mitrugno, A., Zilberman-Rudenko, J., Aslan, J.E., Hinds, M.T., Dirling Vecchiarelli, L., Morgan, T.K., Gruber, A., Temple, K.J., Lindsley, C.W., Duvernay, M.T., Hamm, H.E., and McCarty, O.J.T. Protease-activated receptor 4 (PAR4) activity promotes platelet granule release and platelet-leukocyte interactions. *Platelets*. 2017; In press.

Reviews, Editorials, and Book Chapters

- 1. Puy, C., **Rigg, R.A.**, McCarty, O.J. The hemostatic role of factor XI. *Thrombosis Research*. 141 Suppl 2:S8-S11.
- 2. **Rigg, R.A.**, McCarty, O.J., Aslan, J.E. Heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) in the regulation of platelet function. *Heat Shock Protein 70 in Biology and Medicine*. 2017; In press.
- 3. Mitrugno, A., Sylman, J.L., **Rigg, R.A.**, Yunga, S.T., Shatzel, J.J., Williams, C.D., McCarty, O.J.T. *Carpe* low-dose aspirin: the new anti-cancer face of an old anti-platelet drug. *Platelets*. 2017; In press.

Abstracts and Posters

- Rigg, R.A., Baker-Groberg, S.M., Phillips, K.G., Kolatkar, A., Luttgen, M., Bethel, K., Decuzzi, P., King, M.R., Kuhn, P., McCarty, O.J.T., "Linking CTC cluster measurements to *in vitro* flow experiments and *in silico* models of CTC transport", National Cancer Institute Physical Sciences-Oncology Center (PS-OC) Site Visit, Scripps Institute, La Jolla, CA (Oct 2013).
- Phillips, K.G., Rigg, R., Kolatkar, A., Luttgen, M., Newton, P., Bazhenova, L., Kuhn, P., McCarty, O.J., "Spatial-temporal characterization of circulating tumor cell biophysical metrics before, during, and after pulmonary lobectomy", 5th Annual National Cancer Institute Physical Sciences-Oncology (PS-OC) Center Conference, Bethesda, MD (Apr 2014).
- 3. Aslan, J.E., **Rigg, R.A.**, Loren, C.P., Itakura, A., Baker, S.M., Pang, J., McCarty, O.J., "p300based acetylation signaling regulates cytoskeletal reorganization and procoagulant phenotype of platelets", Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology Scientific Sessions, Toronto, Canada (May 2014).
- 4. Loren, C.P., **Rigg, R.A.**, Aslan, J.E., Healy, L.D., Gruber, A., McCarty, O.J., "The prothrombotic profile of BCR-ABL inhibitors ponatinib, nolotinib and imatinib", Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology Scientific Sessions, Toronto, Canada (May 2014).
- Loren, C.P., Rigg, R.A., Aslan, J.E., Healy, L.D., Gruber, A., McCarty, O.J., "The BCR-ABL inhibitor ponatinib inhibits platelet signaling, platelet function, and thrombus formation," 23rd Biennial International Congress on Thrombosis, Valencia, Spain (May 2014).
- Rigg, R.A., Phillips, K.G., McCarty, O.J.T., "Elucidating the role of circulating tumor cells in metastasis and thrombosis via biophysical characterization and transport modeling," Cell, Developmental & Cancer Biology and OHSU Center for Spatial Systems Biomedicine First Annual Joint Retreat, Stevenson, WA (Jul 2014).
- 7. Aslan, J.E., **Rigg, R.**, Baker, S., Pang, J., David, L., McCarty, O., "Lysine acetyltransfer supports platelet function," XXV Congress of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis (ISTH), Toronto, Canada (Jun 2015).

- 8. **Rigg, R.A.**, Aslan, J., Pang, J., Nowak, M., McCarty, O., "Platelet Hsp70 regulates integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ activation and platelet aggregation," XXV Congress of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis (ISTH), Toronto, Canada (Jun 2015).
- Rigg, R.A., Healy, L.D., Nowak, M.S., Mallet, J., Thierheimer, M.L.D., Pang, J., McCarty, O.J.T., Aslan, J.E. "Heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) regulates platelet integrin activation, granule secretion and aggregation," 62nd Annual SSC Meeting of the ISTH, Montpellier, France (May 2016).
- Aslan J.E., Rigg R.A., Ngo A., Nelson J.W., Zilberman-Rudenko J., Pang J., Burchard J., David L.L., McCarty O.J. "Deciphering roles for reversible protein lysine acetylation in the regulation of platelet function," Gordon Research Conference: Hemostasis, Stowe, VT (Jul 2016).
- Aslan, J.E., **Rigg R.A.**, Ngo A.T., Nelson J.W., Pang J., Burchard J., Shinde U., David L.L., McCarty O.J.T. "Determining structural and systems-level roles for reversible protein lysine acetylation in the regulation of platelet function," Earl W. Davie Symposium, Vancouver BC, Canada (Dec 2016).
- Aslan J.E., **Rigg R.A.**, Ngo A.T., Nelson J.W., Burchard J., David L.L., McCarty O.J.T. "Determining roles for reversible lysine acetylation in the regulation actin cytoskeletal dynamics," Annual Meeting of The American Society for Cell Biology (ASCB), San Francisco, CA (Dec 2016).
- Ngo A.T., Thierheimer M.L., Pang J., Babur Ö., Rocheleau A.D., **Rigg R.A.**, Mitrugno A., Huang T., Nan X., Burchard J., Demir E., McCarty O.J., Aslan J.E. "Identification of roles for the Rho-specific guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitor (RhoGDI) Ly-GDI in platelet function," Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, Minnesota, MN (May 2017).
- Rigg, R.A., Labberton, L., Nickel, K.F., Long, A.T., Butler, L.M., McCarty, O.J.T., Renné, T. "Characterization of Polyphosphate in Endothelial Cells Under Cellular Stress," 2017 Congress of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis (ISTH), Berlin, Germany (Jul 2017).
- Rigg, R.A., Mitrugno, A., Healy, L.D., Ngo, A.T.P., Duvernay, M.T., Lindsley, C.W., Hamm, H.E., Gruber, A., McCarty, O.J.T. "Role of Protease-Activated Receptor 4 in Regulating Platelet-Leukocyte Interactions in Whole Blood," 2017 Congress of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis (ISTH), Berlin, Germany (Jul 2017).
- 16. Chu, T.T., Rigg, R.A., Healy, L.D., Ngo, A.T.P., Mitrugno, A., Aslan, J.E., Gruber, A., Lindsley, C.W., Duvernay, M.T., Hamm, H.E., and McCarty, O.J.T. "Role of Protease-Activated Receptor 4 in Regulating Platelet Dense Granule Release," Annual Meeting of the Biomedical Engineering Society (BMES), Phoenix, AZ (Oct 2017).
- McCarty O.J.T., Aslan J.E., Babur O., Buchanan A., Ngo A.T., Pang J., Rigg R.A., Mitrugno A., David L., Demir E. "Pathway analysis reveals a p38 MAP kinase-MAPKAPK2/Nogo axis regulating intracellular calcium dynamics in procoagulant platelets," Annual Meeting of the Biomedical Engineering Society (BMES), Phoenix, AZ (Oct 2017).

Invited Lectures and Conference Presentations

 Rigg, R.A., Healy, L.D., Nowak, M.S., Mallet, J., Thierheimer, M.L.D., Pang, J., McCarty, O.J.T., Aslan, J.E., "Heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) regulates platelet integrin activation, granule secretion, and aggregation," 24th Biennial International Congress on Thrombosis, European and Mediterranean League Against Thrombosis (EMLTD), Istanbul, Turkey (May 2016).

Research Mentor:

- 1. Liam Wong (2013), undergraduate, Oregon State University Chemical Engineering
- 2. Marie Nowak (2014), Master's student, Lille University of Science and Technology, France; current position: Radiation Therapy, Lausanne University Hospital, Switzerland
- 3. Ishan Patel (2014), medical student, OHSU; currently Resident, Internal Medicine, OHSU
- 4. Cassandra Loren (2014), undergraduate, Oregon State University Chemical Engineering; currently medical student, Vanderbilt University
- 5. Marisa Lian Dahl Thierheimer (2015), undergraduate, Oregon State University Chemical Engineering
- 6. Tiffany Chu (2017), undergraduate, Johns Hopkins University